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The Carlsberg Group is one of the leading brewery 
groups in the world, with a large portfolio of beer 
and other beverage brands.

The flagship brand – Carlsberg – is one of the 
best-known beer brands in the world. More than 
43,000 people work for the Carlsberg Group, and 
our products are sold in more than 150 markets. 
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CEO
statement

strong proFit 
growth

2009 was a challeng-
ing year for Carlsberg and 

the global brewing industry. 
The global economy affected 

consumer behaviour negatively 
and overall beer market volumes 

declined. While the Asian markets were 
less affected by the crisis, the Northern 

& Western European and, in particular, the 
Eastern European markets were materially 

impacted. Although consumers reduced their 
consumption, they remained loyal to their favour-

ite brands leading to a positive price/mix across 
many markets. This occurred despite the negative 
channel mix from on-trade to off-trade.

Carlsberg was well prepared entering 2009. In late 
2008 and early 2009 the Group implemented and 
accelerated numerous efficiency improvement ini-
tiatives to protect earnings and improve cash flow 
and as a result was able to mitigate the impact 
from the declining markets. Carlsberg delivered 
a strong operating profit improvement, improved 
overall market shares and delivered a very substan-
tial free cash flow improvement.

a busy agenda

In early 2009, Carlsberg integrated its global R&D, 
innovation, sales and marketing activities into one 
organisation. The goal is to expand and focus the 
innovation process driving key concepts across  
more markets more quickly so as to accelerate 
revenue growth and gain volume and value shares 
in all regions. As part of these efforts Carlsberg will 
evolve and develop brand positions and portfolio 
structure. Several product launches took place in 
2009, key events being the relaunch of the 1664 
and Kronenbourg brands in France and the kvass 
Khlebny Krai launch in Russia. In China, Carlsberg 
Light was launched targeting the restaurant sector, 
and Somersby Cider was rolled out across new 
markets in Northern & Western Europe. 

2 Management review



Driven by Carlsberg’s ambition to improve efficiency, 
several structural initiatives were carried out in 2009. 
The Norwegian Arendal brewery was sold, the Fin-
nish Pori brewery was closed, the German Braun-
schweig brewery with its fighter brand activities 
was divested, Carlsberg entered into a distribution 
cooperation with the Nordmann Group in Germany 
and it was decided to close the Leeds brewery in 2011. 
Carlsberg also signed two Memoranda of Under-
standing with the aim of increasing its shareholdings 
in the Habeco and Hué breweries in Vietnam.

In addition to these efforts a number of projects were 
continued and initiated with the aim of improving 
governance, driving best practice, growing revenue 
and ultimately improving efficiency. Major projects 
included: establishment of a global procurement or-
ganisation, strengthened shared services, centralised 
IT organisation, expansion of value management 
toolbox, establishment of on-trade programmes 
based on consumer insights across regions, and a 
new integrated people performance assessment and 
organisational succession-planning process.

In 2009, the Executive Committee was strength-
ened by the appointments of Khalil Younes, Senior 
Vice President, Group Sales, Marketing & Innova-
tion; Jesper Friis, Senior Vice President, Western 
Europe; Jørn Tolstrup Rohde, Senior Vice President, 
Northern Europe; and Roy Bagattini, Senior Vice 
President, Asia. These appointments have further 
strengthened the leadership competences and 
added further experience in global fast moving 
consumer goods to the Group.

Business development

Organic Group beer volumes declined by 4%. Includ-
ing acquisitions beer volumes increased by 6% to 
116.0m hl (109.3m hl in 2008). In Q4 organic beer 
volumes were flat. Although there were signs of im-
provements in some Northern & Western European  
markets at the end of the year, underlying beer 
volumes continued to decline in the region. In Eastern 

We were well prepared 
entering 2009 and as 
a result we were able 
to mitigate the impact 
from challenging mar-
kets and thereby deliver 
earnings growth and 
significant cash flow.
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Europe, volumes grew slightly in Q4. This growth was 
solely due to the Russian stockbuilding ahead of the 
excise duty increase on 1 January 2010. The Asian 
business continued to grow. Pro rata Group volumes 
of other beverages were 19.8m hl as in 2008. 

Net revenue declined by 1% to DKK 59,382m (DKK 
59,944m in 2008) driven by flat organic growth 
(consisting of total volume -4% and price/mix +4%), 
currency impact -7% and acquisition impact 6%. 
Organic net revenue growth was 3% in Q4.

The continued focus on portfolio and value man-
agement coupled with pricing and strong sales  
execution were the key drivers behind the price/
mix effect of 4%. The positive mix in Northern & 
Western Europe and Asia was offset by the nega-
tive mix in Eastern Europe resulting from a shift in 
channel and packaging mix, and from Q3, also from 
a marginal shift between brands. The negative cur-
rency effect was mainly driven by weaker Eastern 
European currencies.

Higher input costs affected the Group negatively 
and cost of sales per hl increased organically by 
approximately 2% for the year. While Carlsberg 
benefited from lower raw material prices in Eastern 
Europe in 2009, the Group was negatively affected 
by higher raw material prices in Northern & Western 
Europe and Asia. Driven by increase in net revenue 
per hl, lower input costs in Eastern Europe and pro-
duction efficiencies across the Group, organic gross 
profit growth per hl was 8% (8% in Q4). Organic 
gross profit margin improvement per hl was around 
130bp (approximately 180bp improvement in Q4).

The Group has maintained a focused marketing 
spend supporting our key brands and activities. The 
share of voice in 2009 was on a level with 2008 de-
spite lower brand marketing costs. The lower brand 
marketing costs were primarily driven by media de-
flation, lower media activity overall and the EURO 
2008 sponsorship impacting 2008.

Group operating profit increased by 18% to DKK 
9,390m (DKK 7,978m in 2008). Organic operating 
profit growth was 21%, currency impact was -13% 
and acquisitions contributed 10%. Operating profit 
for the beverage activities was DKK 9,460m (DKK 
7,604m in 2008) with organic growth of 28% (14% 
in DKK). Organic operating profit growth acceler-
ated in Q4 due to the Russian stockbuilding and 
was 35% for the Group and 32% for the beverage 
activities in the quarter.

Strong organic profit growth was achieved despite 
the volume decline. This is largely attributable 
to the Group’s thorough planning for and execu-
tion during the year. The efficiency improvements 
consisting of both long-term projects and acceler-
ated efficiency programmes were a key driver of the 
organic operating profit growth. Also, value man-
agement initiatives driving net revenue per hl, the 
synergies from the S&N acquisition and favourable 

raw material costs in Eastern Europe all contrib-
uted positively. The efficiency improvements were 
necessary due to the challenging market conditions 
and although some cost reductions were linked to 
volume, it is Carlsberg’s expectation that a signifi-
cant part of the cost base reduction is sustainable 
as it has predominantly been driven by structural 
and process changes.

Eastern Europe generated organic operating profit 
growth of 38%, and the region was a key contributor 
to the Group’s strong performance. This growth was 
achieved despite very challenging markets. Northern 
& Western Europe delivered 6% organic operating 
profit growth while the Asian business continued its 
strong organic performance throughout the year 
with 19% organic operating profit growth. 

Net profit was DKK 3.6bn (DKK 2.6bn in 2008) and  
earnings per share were DKK 23.6 (DKK 22.1 in 2008).

Operating cash flow grew by 74% to DKK 13.6bn 
(DKK 7.8bn in 2008) and free cash flow increased 
substantially to DKK 10.5bn. The intense focus 
throughout the Group on improving cash flow was 
very successful, especially within working capital 
management. Also, capital expenditures, cash 
charges for taxes and interest costs were markedly 
reduced and profits improved.

Although capital expenditures have been reduced, 
the Group has continued to invest in markets with 
capacity constraints and long-term growth oppor-
tunities. In 2009 Carlsberg initiated construction of 
breweries in India and Vietnam.

A key focus area in 2009 has been debt reduction 
and as a result of the very strong free cash flow, net 
interest-bearing debt was reduced to DKK 35.7bn 
as at 31 December 2009 compared to DKK 44.2bn 
at the end of 2008. Net debt/EBITDA declined to 
2.7x at 31 December 2009 compared to the Group’s 
expectations of “below 3x”.

thank you

On behalf of the whole Carlsberg Group, I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank our many 
employees around the world for their extraordinary 
work and loyalty in times of uncertainty, workforce 
reduction and other efficiency measures, which had 
an impact on the daily lives of all Carlsberg em-
ployees. I would also like to thank our customers, 
suppliers and other partners for productive cooper-
ation. And finally, I want to thank our shareholders 
for supporting our strategy. 

We will continue to ensure that our consumers  
everywhere get the best beer in the world.

Jørgen Buhl Rasmussen
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DKK million 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Sales volumes, gross (million hl)

Beer 101.6 100.7 115.2 126.8 137.0
Non-beer 19.1 20.2 20.8 22.3 22.2

Income statement
Net revenue 38,047 41,083 44,750 59,944 59,382
Operating profit before special items 3,518 4,046 5,262 7,978 9,390
Special items, net -386 -160 -427 -1,641 -695
Financial items, net -1,240 -857 -1,201 -3,456 -2,990
Profit before tax 1,892 3,029 3,634 2,881 5,705
Corporation tax -521 -858 -1,038 312 -1,538
Consolidated profit 1,371 2,171 2,596 3,193 4,167

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 261 287 299 572 565
Shareholders in Carlsberg A/S 1,110 1,884 2,297 2,621 3,602

Statement of financial position
Total assets 62,359 58,451 61,220 142,639 134,515
Invested capital 42,734 43,160 45,394 118,643 109,538
Interest-bearing debt, net 20,753 19,229 19,726 44,156 35,679
Equity, shareholders in Carlsberg A/S 17,968 17,597 18,621 54,750 54,829

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities 4,734 4,470 4,837 7,812 13,631
Cash flow from investing activities -2,354 65 -4,927 -57,153 -3,082
Free cash flow 2,380 4,535 -90 -49,341 10,549

Investments

Acquisition and disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 1,323 2,864 4,596 4,669 2,342
Acquisition and disposal of entities, net 738 -18 179 -51,438 95

Financial ratios
Operating margin  % 9.2 9.8 11.8 13.3 15.8
Return on average invested capital (ROIC)  % 7.8 9.2 11.7 8.2 8.2
Equity ratio  % 31.3 32.5 32.6 42.0 44.2
Debt/equity (financial gearing)  x 1.06 1.01 0.99 0.74 0.60
Debt/operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment  x 3.29 2.73 2.43 3.80 2.71
Interest cover  x 2.84 4.72 4.38 2.31 3.14

Stock market ratios*

Earnings per share (EPS)  DKK 11.7 19.9 24.3 22.1 23.6
Cash flow from operating activities per share (CFPS)  DKK 50.1 47.1 51.2 65.8 89.3
Free cash flow per share (FCFPS)  DKK 25.2 48.0 -1.0 -415.4 69.1
Dividend per share (proposed)  DKK 4.0 4.8 4.8 3.5 3.5
Pay-out ratio  % 34 24 20 20 15
Share price (B shares)  DKK 272.8 452.9 498.1 171.3 384.0
Number of shares (year-end)  1,000 76,278 76,271 76,246 152,554 152,553
Number of shares (average, excl. treasury shares)  1,000 94,433 94,479 94,466 118,778 152,550

Financial ratios are calculated in accordance with the Danish Society of Financial Analysts’ guidelines on the calculation of financial ratios, “Recommendations and Financial Ratios 2005”.  
* Stock market ratios in 2008 were adjusted for the bonus factor from the rights issue in June 2008 in accordance with IAS 33. The number of shares (period-end) has not been adjusted.
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Driven by the Group’s 
initiatives implemented in 

late 2008 and early 2009, 
Carlsberg managed to exceed 

the profit, cash flow and financial 
leverage expectations set out at the 

beginning of 2009. 

Although there are positive signs in some 
markets, consumer dynamics will remain 

challenging. Despite this, the Group sees 
opportunities to further strengthen its market 

position in several key markets.

2010 earnings expectations

The Russian market will undoubtedly be negatively 
impacted by actual and phased consumer price 
increases following the 200% excise duty increase 
on 1 January 2010. However, based on our strong 
business set-up in Russia and a carefully planned 
pricing strategy, the Group believes this will bring 
opportunities to further strengthen the market 
position. 

For 2010 Carlsberg is assuming the following:

•		A	slight	decline	in	Northern	&	Western	European	
markets.

•		A	low	double-digit	percentage	decline	in	the	 
Russian market.

•	Continued	market	growth	in	Asia.
•		Continued	implementation	of	operational	and	
capital efficiency improvements.

•		Increased	investments	in	brands	and	channel	mar-
keting to grow volume and value market shares.

earnings and  
Margins

For 2010 Carlsberg expects:

•		Operating	profit	to	be	in	line	with	that	reported	for	
2009 (notwithstanding the extra earnings gener-
ated by stockbuilding in Q4 in Russia ahead of the 
excise duty increase as set out below).

•	Net	profit	growth	of	more	than	20%.	

Due to the Russian stockbuilding in Q4 2009 and 
subsequent destocking in Q1 2010, the Group’s Q1 
2010 and 2010 full-year operating profit will be 
negatively affected by approximately DKK 300m. 
This is included in the 2010 expectations. 

Furthermore, due to the chosen detailed strategy 
for phasing of price increases in Russia to compen-
sate for the significant increase in excise duties on 1 
January 2010, earnings in Eastern Europe in general 
will be skewed towards the second half of the year 
more than has been experienced in prior years.

Working capital improvement will continue to be 
a key focus area. However, the focus is changing 
from “year over year” improvement to “day over 
day” improvements. This is being done with the aim 
of achieving a higher reduction in average working 
capital during the year.

Earnings expectations

Consumer dynamics will remain challenging  
in 2010 but the Group sees opportunities to  
further strengthen market positions in several 
key markets and grow net profit.
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Medium-term financial targets

With an operating margin of 28.5%, the Eastern 
European region exceeded the region’s medium-
term operating margin target of 23-25% in 2009. 
Margin targets have been revised and the follow-
ing medium-term (3-5 years) operating margin 
targets have been set:

DISCLAIMER

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, includ-
ing statements about the Group’s sales, revenues, earnings, 
spending, margins, cash flow, inventory, products, actions, plans, 
strategies, objectives and guidance with respect to the Group’s 
future operating results. Forward-looking statements include, 
without limitation, any statement that may predict, forecast, 
indicate or imply future results, performance or achievements, 
and may contain the words “believe”, “anticipate”, “expect”, 
“estimate”, “intend”, “plan”, “project”, “will be”, “will continue”, “will 
result”, “could”, “may”, “might”, or any variations of such words 
or other words with similar meanings. Any such statements are 
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause the Group’s 
actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in 
such forward-looking statements. Prospective information is 
based on management’s then current expectations or forecasts. 
Such information is subject to the risk that such expectations 
or forecasts, or the assumptions underlying such expectations 
or forecasts, may change. The Group assumes no obligation to 
update any such forward-looking statements to reflect actual 
results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors  
affecting such forward-looking statements.

Some important risk factors that could cause the Group’s actual re-
sults to differ materially from those expressed in its forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to: economic and political 
uncertainty (including interest rates and exchange rates), financial 
and regulatory developments, demand for the Group’s products, 
increasing industry consolidation, competition from other breweries, 
the availability and pricing of raw materials and packaging materi-
als, cost of energy, production- and distribution-related issues, 
information technology failures, breach or unexpected termination 
of contracts, price reductions resulting from market-driven price 
reductions, market acceptance of new products, changes in con-
sumer preferences, launches of rival products, stipulation of market 
value in the opening balance sheet of acquired entities, litigation, 
environmental issues and other unforeseen factors. New risk factors 
can arise, and it may not be possible for management to predict 
all such risk factors, nor to assess the impact of all such risk fac-
tors on the Group’s business or the extent to which any individual 
risk factor, or combination of factors, may cause results to differ 
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. 
Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied on as 
a prediction of actual results.

ExPECTATIONS AND RESULTS 2009 (DKKbn)

Net revenue Operating profit

Carlsberg’s 
share of net 

profit Free cash flow
Operating capital 

expenditures

Net interest-
bearing debt to 

EBITDA

18.02.2009 Actual (Financial Statements for 2008) 59.9 8.0 2.6 -49.3 -5.3 3.8
18.02.2009 Financial Statement for 2008 ~ 63 > 9 > 3.5 > 6 < -3.75 ~ 3
06.05.2009 Q1 Interim results 2009 ~ 61 > 9 > 3.5 > 6 < -3.75 ~ 3
04.11.2009 Q3 Interim results 2009 59-60 > 9 > 3.5 > 6.5 < -3.5 < 3
17.12.2009 Earnings upgrade 59-60 > 9.3 > 3.5 > 6.5 < -3.5 < 3
23.02.2010 Actual (Financial Statements for 2009) 59.4 9.4 3.6 10.5 -2.8 2.7

•		Northern	&	Western	Europe	at	15-17%	(previously	
14-16%)

•		Eastern	Europe	at	26-29%	(previously	23-25%)
•		Asia	at	15-20%	(new)
•		Carlsberg	Group	at	around	20%	(new)

These ambitious margin targets will be met 
through a combination of intensified focus on 
driving volume and value market shares, and a 
continuous drive for efficiency improvements.
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Jørgen Buhl Rasmussen

Anton Artemiev

Jørn P. Jensen

Jørn Tolstrup Rohde

President, CEO since 2007.

Appointed to the Executive Board of Carlsberg A/S in 2006. 
Chairman, Deputy Chairman or member of the Supervisory 
Boards of Carlsberg Group companies. Member of the 
Supervisory Board of Toms Gruppen A/S. Prior to joining 
Carlsberg, Mr Rasmussen held senior managerial positions in 
Western and Central Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa 
in, amongst others, Gillette Group, Duracell, Mars and Unilever.

Senior Vice President, Eastern Europe since 2008.

President of Baltika Breweries since 2005. Executive Vice 
President of Baltic Beverages Holding AB (BBH) from 2000. 
Prior to joining BBH, Mr Artemiev headed the Russian 
operations department of Bossard Consultants/Gemini 
Consulting. In 1992 Mr Artemiev was directly involved in the 
recommendations that led to foreign investments in Baltika 
Breweries.

Deputy CEO since 2007; CFO since 2004.

Appointed to the Executive Board of Carlsberg A/S in 2000. 
Chairman, Deputy Chairman or member of the Supervisory 
Boards of Carlsberg Group companies. Prior to joining 
Carlsberg, Mr Jensen held senior managerial positions in, 
amongst others, Nilfisk Advance A/S and Foss Electric A/S.

Senior Vice President, Northern Europe since 2009.

Mr Tolstrup Rohde joined Carlsberg in 2004 to initiate the 
ComEx project and was appointed CEO of Carlsberg Danmark 
the same year. From 2007 to 2009, Mr Tolstrup Rohde was 
President & CEO of 3C GROUPS A/S. Mr Tolstrup Rohde has 
also held senior managerial positions in, amongst others, 
ORKLA Group and Sara Lee.

Executive Committee

The role of the top management group, the  
Executive Committee, is to drive the strate gic  
development of the Carlsberg Group and to ensure 
clear objectives and priorities across the Group.

8 Management review



Khalil Younes

Thomas Ekvall

Kasper Madsen

Anne-Marie Skov

Senior Vice President, Group Sales, Marketing & Innovation 
since 2009.

Prior to joining Carlsberg, Mr Younes worked 15 years for  
The Coca-Cola Company, most recently as President of Global 
Juice Marketing. Mr Younes was responsible for a number of 
successful brand developments and change processes around 
the world.

Vice President, Group Human Resources since 2007.

Responsible for Carlsberg’s top executive recruitment, 
executive assessment and development of key executives, 
talent development programmes, remuneration programmes 
etc. Prior to joining Carlsberg, Mr Ekvall was Director Human 
Resources at Tele 2, Sweden. Before coming to Tele 2,  
Mr Ekvall spent 23 years in the military.

Senior Vice President, Group Supply Chain (production and 
logistics) since 2005.

Mr Madsen joined Carlsberg in 1986 and has held several 
managerial positions in the supply chain in Copenhagen as 
well as abroad: Thailand, Malaysia and the United Kingdom. 
Member of the Supervisory Boards of Carlsberg Group 
companies, including Baltika Breweries.

Vice President, Group Communications since 2004.

Responsible for Carlsberg’s corporate communication 
activities, including investor and media relations, and the CSR 
unit. Member of the Supervisory Board of WWF Denmark. 
The Tuborg Foundation, Erik Møller Architects and Nørrebro 
Teater. Prior to joining Carlsberg, Ms Skov worked with the 
Novo Group, most recently as Vice President and member of 
the Executive Management of Novozymes A/S.

Jesper Friis Roy Bagattini

Senior Vice President, Western Europe since 2009.

Mr Friis has been with Carlsberg since 2005. Before joining 
Carlsberg’s Executive Committee, Mr Friis was CEO of Ringnes, 
Carlsberg’s Norwegian subsidiary, from 2007. Mr Friis has 
a broad career within fast moving consumer goods, having 
worked for Toms Nordic in Sweden, Bacardi-Martini and Leaf.

Senior Vice President, Asia since 2009.

Mr Bagattini joined Carlsberg from SABMiller where he was 
Regional Managing Director for Eastern Europe. Prior to that, 
Mr Bagattini held senior general managerial positions in 
South Africa and the USA as well as being Country Managing 
Director of SABMiller in India, China and Italy. Mr Bagattini is 
based in Hong Kong.
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Creating a good
atmosphere



innovation
Carlsberg’s primary 
innovation efforts  
are within the  
beer category but 
will increasingly 
also include malt- 
and cereal-based 
beverages focusing 
on women and 
health. Traditionally, 
up to 75% of beer is 
consumed by men, 
leaving the female 
consumer segment 
an interesting target 
group.



Our beer
markets

northern & western europe

Mid-term operating margin target: 15-17%

The region comprises both mature beer markets and 
less mature markets in the eastern part of the region. 
Volumes are generally supported by a well-estab-
lished retail structure and a strong tradition of beer 
consumption. The competitive landscape varies from 
country to country. For example, in the Nordic region 
Carlsberg competes mainly with local players and 
local beer brands, while in the United Kingdom and 
France, Carlsberg is up against large international 
brewers and international brands. 

Carlsberg is the region’s second largest brewer 
with market leader positions in a large number of 
countries and significant market positions in other 
countries.

other MarKets

In countries where Carlsberg has no breweries, the Group 
sells its products through exports and licensing agreements. 
Carlsberg aims to establish and develop strong market positions 
for the international premium brands Carlsberg, Tuborg, Baltika 
and 1664 through dynamic partnerships with licensing, export 
and duty-free partners around the world.

o
F 

to
ta

l 
vo

lu
M

e

Beer volume 50.2m hl
Net revenue DKK 36.5bn
Operating profit DKK 4.2bn
Operating margin 11.6%

43%
www.carlsberggroup.com/company/markets
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eastern europe

Mid-term operating margin target: 26-29%

The region is a growth region despite short-term 
negative impact from the economic crisis, and 
covers markets like Russia, the Ukraine and a 
number of emerging beer markets. The region 
is characterised by strong consumer dynamics, 
by consumers generally aspiring to brands and 
a distribution environment still in its developing 
stages. The emergence of an aspirational middle 
class has historically had a positive effect on beer 
consumption, not least in the premium and super-
premium segments. 

Carlsberg is the largest brewer in the region 
holding strong market leader positions in Russia 
and all other markets in the region except for the 
Ukraine, where Carlsberg holds a no. 2 position, 
having increased its market share significantly in 
2009, and Belarus.

asia

Mid-term operating margin target: 15-20%

Asia comprises old, mature Carlsberg markets and 
new emerging beer markets in China, Indochina  
and India. The Asian beer markets are characterised 
by large populations, growing economies, rising  
per capita incomes and improving infrastructure.  
In the region’s emerging markets beer consumption 
per capita is generally low but with high projected 
growth rates in the coming years.

The presence of international brewers in the region 
is high. In many cases, exposure of the international 
brewers is through joint venture arrangements or 
investments in local brewers.

o
F 

to
ta

l 
vo

lu
M

e13%
Beer volume 14.5m hl
Net revenue DKK 4.2bn
Operating profit DKK 0.7bn
Operating margin 15.8%

o
F 

to
ta

l 
vo

lu
M

e44%
Beer volume 51.3m hl
Net revenue DKK 18.5bn
Operating profit DKK 5.3bn
Operating margin 28.5%
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Our markets1 Our operations Our position Consumption characteristics2

Population 
(million)

GDP/
capita PPP 

(USD)

Real GDP 
growth 

(%)
Market  

maturity

Market 
growth 
2010-14 Breweries Employees12

Market
position (no.)

Market 
share

Primary
competitive climate 
(international/local)

Approx. 
on-trade 

share of market (%)

Per capita
beer consumption 

(litre)

Per capita 
pure alcohol  

consumption (litre)

Beer: share 
of total alcohol 

consumption (%)

denmark 5.5 34,870 -5.1   l 1 2,011 1 56.3 Local 23 90 9 41
norway 4.7 55,580 -1.1   k 2 1,459 1 51.9 Local 23 57 6 52
sweden 9.2 35,390 -4.5   l 1 1,009 1 35.1 Local 21 53 6 42
Finland 5.3 34,110 -7.3   l 1 957 1 49.7 International 18 85 8 51
the Baltic states3 7.0 16,004 -14 to -16.9   j 4 1,147 1 40-46 Local 7-10 59-88 7.6-12.8 34-39
great Britain 61.4 34,280 -4.6   l 2 1,757 4 14.4 International 53 81 9 44
germany 82.1 33,440 -4.8   l 4.4 20 107 11 51
Northern Germany4 3 1,236 1 International/local
switzerland 7.6 41,540 -1.6   k 2 1,385 1 43.8 International 45 60 9 34
France 62.1 33,780 -2.3   l 1 2,002 1 31.7 International 26 28 11 13
italy 59.9 29,820 -4.8   j 1 494 3 7.8 International 38 29 9 16
greece 11.2 29,990 -2.7   j 1 263 2 10.8 Local 64 40 7 30
portugal 10.6 21,840 -2.9   j 2 706 1 48.5 International 60 57 8 35
poland 38.1 18,020 1.4   W 3 1,203 3 12.2 International 21 90 8 54
south east europe5 19.4 12,914 -3.5 to -5.7   j 4 1,504 2-3 16-26 International 29-42 55-79 4-9 39-67

russia 141.8 14,960 -7.8  j 11 11,087 1 40.6 International 8 70 18 25
ukraine 46.3 6,350 -15.3  W 3 1,833 2 29.0 International 21 63 7 42
Kazakhstan 15.7 11,060 -1.8  W 1 515 1 44.3 International 23 35 7 27
uzbekistan 27.3 2,790 7.8  W 1 423 1 59.0 Local 27 7 n/a n/a
Belarus 9.7 12,310 -1.5  W 1 472 2 28.7 International/local 4 50 11 22
azerbaijan 8.7 12,520 9.1  W 1 - 1 - Local n/a n/a n/a n/a

Malaysia 27.0 13,532 -1.7   k 1 662 2 44.1 International 71 5 >1 67
singapore 4.8 38,889 -2.1   j - 68 2 20.4 International 73 19 1 67
china 1,325.6 6,719 8.3 4,857   International 44

38
33 3 49

Western China8 W 19 1 59.1 Local
vietnam9 86.2 2,940 4.7 W 5 686 4 34.7 International 71 27 2 75
laos 6.8 2,200 6.0 W 2 733 1 98.7 Local n/a n/a n/a n/a
cambodia 14.7 1,888 -1.5 W 1 1,699 2 41.0 International n/a n/a n/a n/a
india 1,140.0 3,117 6.5 W 4 171 - - International 37 1 2 3

Market overview

6

7

11

11

6

10

Asia

1) 2008E; 2) 2009F (except on-trade share of market: 2008); 3) Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania; 4) Schleswig-Holstein, Hamburg, Lower Saxony; 5) Bulgaria, 
Croatia, Serbia; 6) Weighted average; 7) The brewery in Leeds will close in 2011; 8) Data on operations and market position excl. Chongqing;  

Northern & 
Western Europe 

Eastern Europe
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Our markets1 Our operations Our position Consumption characteristics2

Population 
(million)

GDP/
capita PPP 

(USD)

Real GDP 
growth 

(%)
Market  

maturity

Market 
growth 
2010-14 Breweries Employees12

Market
position (no.)

Market 
share

Primary
competitive climate 
(international/local)

Approx. 
on-trade 

share of market (%)

Per capita
beer consumption 

(litre)

Per capita 
pure alcohol  

consumption (litre)

Beer: share 
of total alcohol 

consumption (%)

denmark 5.5 34,870 -5.1   l 1 2,011 1 56.3 Local 23 90 9 41
norway 4.7 55,580 -1.1   k 2 1,459 1 51.9 Local 23 57 6 52
sweden 9.2 35,390 -4.5   l 1 1,009 1 35.1 Local 21 53 6 42
Finland 5.3 34,110 -7.3   l 1 957 1 49.7 International 18 85 8 51
the Baltic states3 7.0 16,004 -14 to -16.9   j 4 1,147 1 40-46 Local 7-10 59-88 7.6-12.8 34-39
great Britain 61.4 34,280 -4.6   l 2 1,757 4 14.4 International 53 81 9 44
germany 82.1 33,440 -4.8   l 4.4 20 107 11 51
Northern Germany4 3 1,236 1 International/local
switzerland 7.6 41,540 -1.6   k 2 1,385 1 43.8 International 45 60 9 34
France 62.1 33,780 -2.3   l 1 2,002 1 31.7 International 26 28 11 13
italy 59.9 29,820 -4.8   j 1 494 3 7.8 International 38 29 9 16
greece 11.2 29,990 -2.7   j 1 263 2 10.8 Local 64 40 7 30
portugal 10.6 21,840 -2.9   j 2 706 1 48.5 International 60 57 8 35
poland 38.1 18,020 1.4   W 3 1,203 3 12.2 International 21 90 8 54
south east europe5 19.4 12,914 -3.5 to -5.7   j 4 1,504 2-3 16-26 International 29-42 55-79 4-9 39-67

russia 141.8 14,960 -7.8  j 11 11,087 1 40.6 International 8 70 18 25
ukraine 46.3 6,350 -15.3  W 3 1,833 2 29.0 International 21 63 7 42
Kazakhstan 15.7 11,060 -1.8  W 1 515 1 44.3 International 23 35 7 27
uzbekistan 27.3 2,790 7.8  W 1 423 1 59.0 Local 27 7 n/a n/a
Belarus 9.7 12,310 -1.5  W 1 472 2 28.7 International/local 4 50 11 22
azerbaijan 8.7 12,520 9.1  W 1 - 1 - Local n/a n/a n/a n/a

Malaysia 27.0 13,532 -1.7   k 1 662 2 44.1 International 71 5 >1 67
singapore 4.8 38,889 -2.1   j - 68 2 20.4 International 73 19 1 67
china 1,325.6 6,719 8.3 4,857   International 44

38
33 3 49

Western China8 W 19 1 59.1 Local
vietnam9 86.2 2,940 4.7 W 5 686 4 34.7 International 71 27 2 75
laos 6.8 2,200 6.0 W 2 733 1 98.7 Local n/a n/a n/a n/a
cambodia 14.7 1,888 -1.5 W 1 1,699 2 41.0 International n/a n/a n/a n/a
india 1,140.0 3,117 6.5 W 4 171 - - International 37 1 2 3

9) Data on operations excl. Habeco; 10) Carlsberg estimate; 11) An additional brewery under construction; 12) Pro rata. 
Sources: World Bank, Economist Intelligence Unit, Canadean, Carlsberg estimates.

Carlsberg’s business portfolio consists of brewery  
activities in three regions; the beer markets in the  
regions vary widely, from very mature markets to 
new, emerging markets.
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international premium and super-premium brands, 
including Carlsberg, Tuborg, 1664 and Grimbergen. In 
local markets, it is achieved through strong regional 
and local brands using the platform of these brands 
to offer trade-up opportunities to the consumer by 
introducing new packaging or line extensions (such 
as flavour variants or reduced-calorie and low-
alcohol versions).

Management of Carlsberg’s international brand 
portfolio is carried out centrally at Group level to 
ensure correct prioritisation and streamlining, and 
to build strong and efficient brand platforms and 
growth models in order to optimise profits. Final 
execution and implementation of the strategies are 
secured through the local sales organisations. As a 
rule, management of local brands is decentralised 
but in order to achieve synergies across markets, a 
central brand network has been established at Group 
level to facilitate the development and sharing of 
ideas, concepts and experiences, enabling these to be 
applied to local brands in different markets. 

Carlsberg continuously assesses and adjusts the 
pro duct portfolio in line with consumer demand to 
capture and secure market shares not only in the 
premium and mainstream beer segments but also, in 
times of economic downturn, in the discount segment. 

expanding outside beer

Carlsberg constantly looks for profitable opportun-
ities to strengthen the portfolio both within beer and 
adjacent beverages. The successful launch of Som-
ersby Cider in Norway and Denmark is an example 
of a premium product development outside the beer 
category. Another example is Eve, a malt-based pre-
mium drink targeted at the very interesting female 
consumer group. Eve bridges brewing technology 
and consumer insights, delivering a refreshing drink 
with a taste and look very different from beer. 

Beer portfolio

The strength of the Group’s brand portfolio is
highlighted by the fact that Baltika, Carlsberg 
and Tuborg are among the six biggest brands 
in Europe, with Baltika ranked as number one.

Carlsberg is a branded 
company and the Carlsberg 

beer portfolio is a strong 
combination of significant in-

ternational brands and a number 
of strong regional and local brands. 

The brands vary considerably in 
volume, price, target audience and geo-

graphic penetration and include the lead-
ing international brands Carlsberg, Tuborg, 

Baltika and 1664, and strong local brands 
such as Kronenbourg (France), Koff (Finland), 

Slavutich (Ukraine) and Dali (Western China). 

Quality is always high on Carlsberg’s agenda and 
many resources in R&D are committed to ensuring 
the highest-quality beer portfolio possible. Carlsberg’s 
brands are household names. They play a part in 
the lives of millions of consumers all over the world. 
Carlsberg’s ambition is to build memor able, motiva-
ting and powerful brands appealing to consumers.

Beer segmentation 

Beer brands can be segmented along a number of 
variables such as consumer needs, consumer groups 
and occasions. Beer is generally priced according to 
four broad segments: discount, mainstream, pre-
mium and super-premium. The size of the different 
price segments varies from market to market. For 
example, France and Norway are characterised by 
relatively strong premium and super-premium seg-
ments, whereas in Germany discount brands have  
a much greater market penetration. 

portfolio strategy and management

The objective of the portfolio strategy is to maxi-
mise the value of the brands by having a portfolio 
that fulfils consumer needs and occasions, a clear 
strategy for how the brands should work together, 
premiumising and driving the portfolio efficiently. 
Globally, this is achieved through Carlsberg’s

strong local  
and international 
Brands

www.carlsberggroup.com/brands
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BaltiKa
Baltika No. 3 is 
Russia’s most popular 
beer, sold across the 
entire country. The 
Baltika brand family 
consists of a number 
of line extensions 
differentiated by 
numbers.

1664
Kronenbourg 1664 is 
associated with French 
art and pleasure and 
is a super-premium 
brand in Carlsberg’s 
international portfolio. 

carlsBerg
The Carlsberg brand 
is the flagship in the 
portfolio. Green Label 
is the centrepiece 
but a number of line 
extensions exist across 
markets to broaden the 
brand franchise.

tuBorg
Tuborg is the youth 
brand in Carlsberg’s 
international portfolio 
and is a catalyst for 
fun and partying, 
sponsoring several 
European music events.

Carlsberg Annual Report 2009 17



Group strategy

The regional split provides a strong balance be-
tween mature and growth markets, positioning the 
Company well for profitable future growth.

Products & Innovation
Carlsberg’s core business is beer. Innovation and 
newly developed products will first of all be within 
the beer category but Carlsberg’s core competences 
are within malt- and cereal-based beverages. Innova-
tion and new products will therefore build on these 
core competences and focus on beer and adjacent 
new platforms like, for example, women and health.

Other beverages, for example soft drinks, cider or 
water, can be added to the portfolio in markets 
where this is supported by infrastructure and the 
individual business case.

Brands
Carlsberg is a branded business. Carlsberg will 
remain focused on developing and strengthening 
its brand portfolio based on a combination of local 
power brands and international brands. An essential 
part of the brand strategy is premiumisation of the 
portfolio. Wherever possible, Carlsberg will be the 
brand owner of premium products, but where this is 
not possible Carlsberg will engage with partners to 
increase premiumisation.

Assets
Carlsberg will continue to own assets where they 
make up an essential part of our core competences. 
However, where this is not the case Carlsberg will be 
open-minded about alternative ownership models. 

Leadership organisation
Continuous development and capability building 
are an important part of everyday life at Carlsberg. 
This ongoing work is supplemented by a number 
of programmes spanning not only management 
development but also talent development, internal 
academies for production, procurement and market-
ing, and personal development programmes for both 
managers and other employees at various levels of 
the organisation.

Carlsberg’s activities are 
focused on the markets 

where the Group has the 
expertise and the right products 

to secure a leading position. Due 
to the variation of the markets, the 

contribution to growth, earnings and 
development within the Group differs, 

both at present and in the longer-term 
projections.

Ambition

Carlsberg’s ambition is based on one important 
principle: creating value for our shareholders and 
all other stakeholders.

•		To	build	the	fastest	growing	global	beer	company.
•		To	be	a	significant	player	in	the	markets	where	we	
choose to compete.

Strategy

The overall Group strategy is the same in all three 
regions but as the various markets differ, some-
times very significantly, the strategy is of course 
adjusted locally. 

Value creation and profitable growth play a key 
role in Carlsberg’s strategy. The strategy includes 
five priorities and provides a clear direction for the 
business as a whole as to how the Group ambition 
is to be achieved.

Five priorities

Geography
The Carlsberg Group business portfolio is split into 
three geographical regions:

•		Northern	&	Western	Europe
•		Eastern	Europe
•		Asia

creating value  
and growth
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Four focus areas

Within the strategic context, four areas have been 
defined as focus areas where Carlsberg sees the 
opportunity to make step changes and win in the 
market place.

Step change innovation
Carlsberg will excel in step change innovation 
and value engineering. The aspiration is for fewer 
but more efficient and visible “product news” 
across more countries. This will be within the beer 
category as well as within malt- and cereal-based 
beverages but also includes packaging, marketing 
and execution. Carlsberg will sharpen its focus not 
only on developing and launching new products 
but also on enhancements and innovations for ex-
isting products such as new flavours or new types 
of packaging in response to growing sales from 
convenience stores.

Efficiency
Carlsberg will continuously adjust and optimise the 
cost and capital base, including the brewery struc-
ture, in all markets. 

In recent years, a number of Excellence pro-
grammes have covered systematic streamlining of 
processes and procedures across the whole value 
chain in areas such as production, procurement, 
administration and logistics. Carlsberg will continue 
to improve and excel in efficiency in the commercial 
area, in production, procurement, logistics and in 
administration. This also includes centralising tasks 
and functions where a centralised set-up makes 
business sense.

As a natural extension of the Excellence pro-
grammes and accelerated structural changes, 
standardisation across functions and geographies  
is the next phase and the new enabler in the  
ongoing work to increase the efficiency of all parts 
of the business.

Commercial execution
Outstanding commercial execution is both back-end 
and front-end focused and entails areas such as:

•		Optimising	sales	forecasting	process.
•		Consistent	brand	execution.
•		Converting	unique	shopper	insights	into	actionable	

strategies.
•		Excellence	in	value	management.	
•		Converting	deep	customer	understanding	into	

value creation.
•		Ensuring	optimised	route-to-market	control	in	all	

markets.

People and Winning Behaviours
Carlsberg is committed to enhancing the skills of 
managers and employees, and to developing strong 
Winning Behaviours, pulling the Company together 
across national borders and functions, and promot-
ing commitment and engagement. The Winning 
Behaviours have been introduced under the following 
headlines:

•		Our	consumers	and	customers	are	at	the	heart	of	
every decision we make.

•		We	want	to	win!
•		Together	we	are	stronger.
•		We	are	each	empowered	to	make	a	difference.
•		We	are	engaged	with	society.

WINNING BEHAVIOURS

Carlsberg’s Winning Behaviours were launched in September 2008 to unite 45,000 employees around the world in a mutual 
Carlsberg Group culture. Each Carlsberg Group company was given one year to introduce the Winning Behaviours and to get  
the ball rolling, they were first introduced to local top management to link them to local business targets.

More than 700 Winning Behaviour “stories” were collected and countries successfully shared best practices. In a tough 2009,  
Winning Behaviours made a difference in many countries, being a catalyst for performance despite challenging times. 

Winning Behaviours are still in the process of being integrated into people’s everyday work life. At Group level, all HR processes, 
including recruitment tools, talent programmes, leadership competences and performance evaluations, have been adjusted to  
link to the Winning Behaviours.

www.carlsberggroup.com/company/strategy
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eas
Despite a challenging 
business environment 
and the S&N inte-
gration, the 2009 
employee attitude 
survey (EAS) showed 
the best results ever, 
improving scores in 
most areas compared 
to 2007 as well as 
being more positive 
than the global FMCG 
average. The survey 
included 33,000 
people in 30 countries. 



People agenda

Carlsberg’s ambition of 
building the fastest growing 

global beer company requires 
qualified employees at all levels 

in the organisation as well as 
dedicated and highly professional 

ma nagers with a strategic and inter-
national mindset who know the busi-

ness and who can seize opportunities and 
tackle challenges. Employing and developing 

the right people is therefore key to Carlsberg’s 
success, and the ambition is to create attractive 

leadership and career opportunities at different lev-
els in the organisation, making it possible to attract, 
develop and retain the best leaders and talents.

Three different initiatives provide an insight  
into how Carlsberg actually works with leadership 
development and capability building throughout 
the organisation and across regions.

strategic people Management processes 

In 2009, Carlsberg optimised its main human 
resource processes in order to establish a more 
strategically aligned and integrated approach to 
the development of key employees throughout the 
Group, for example for future top positions. 

The optimised processes include Performance 
Management, Succession Management, Learning 
and Development, Competence Management and 
Compensation.

The target of the optimised human resource pro-
cesses is to ensure that all processes are:
•		Linked	to	business	needs,	ensuring	that	focus	and	
time/money spent actually add value. 

•		Data	rich,	storing	historical	employee	data	in	order	
to have detailed and relevant information on edu-
cation and prior work experience to ensure relevant 
personal development and career planning. 

•		Based	on	integrated	and	transparent	data	that	
make it possible to work with, compare and 
benchmark data obtained across processes, func-
tions, markets and regions in order to align Group 
needs and opportun ities with individual qualifica-
tions and aspirations.

•		Aligned	in	terms	of	use	of	scales	and	terminologies,
 making it easier to communicate about high per- 
 formers, high-potential employees, key positions etc.

the international talent programme 

Carlsberg’s International Talent Programme is an 
important part of establishing an international pool 

leadership  
and talent  
developMent

of strong and skilled employees wanting to, being 
able to and feeling responsible for delivering results 
and building an international, multidisciplinary 
network within Carlsberg. 

The employees enrolled in the International Talent 
Programme come from all markets across Carlsberg’s 
three regions and they have a unique role in leading 
change, acting as role models and growing the busi-
ness through professional leadership and exploring 
new ways of creating value.

the leadership academy

The Leadership Academy is aimed at middle man-
agement. The aim of the Academy is to increase 
participants’ business insight and their understand-
ing of the opportunities and challenges faced by the 
Carlsberg Group. 

Participants gain a detailed insight into Carlsberg’s 
way of doing business and into local and global 
aspects of the business. They also receive in-depth 
training in Carlsberg’s core leadership competences, 
including Carlsberg Winning Behaviours. In addition, 
the Leadership Academy stimulates and enhances 
the interest in sharing and learning from experience 
and results across the organisation by giving man-
agers an opportunity to network across national 
borders and functions.

INTERNATIONAL TALENT PROGRAMME

The main objectives of the International Talent Programme are:

Leadership
•	 	Provide	leadership	development	in	the	context	of	Carlsberg’s	

business.
•	 	Ensure	a	pipeline	of	highly	talented	people	who	can	take	 

on senior leadership positions.
•	 	Make	participants	aware	of	their	responsibility	to	develop	

the strength and capability of their teams to drive perform-
ance and deliver results.

Business acumen 
•	 	Make	the	programme	relevant	and	directly	valuable	to	 

current business issues.
•	 	Develop	leadership	capabilities	hand	in	hand	with	commer-

cial understanding.

Winning Behaviours 
•	 	Enable	participants	to	become	role	models	for	Carlsberg’s	

Winning Behaviours.
•	 	Build	an	international,	cross-functional,	networking	and	

diverse pool of people with a winning spirit.
•	 	Nurture	and	secure	commitment	to	Carlsberg.

www.carlsberggroup.com/careers
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Corporate social responsibility

environmental strategy and targets

In 2008, an analysis of Carlsberg’s water and carbon 
footprint was carried out. It demonstrates that 
Carlsberg is a top performer in the international 
brewing sector in terms of efficiency of water and  
energy consumption. The findings were used in 2009 
to develop a new environmental strategy for the 
Group with three main objectives:

•		Sustaining	our	industry	leadership	in	water	and	
energy use and greenhouse gas emissions. 

•		Reducing	packaging	and	promoting	reuse	and	
recycling of packaging material.

•		Supporting	communities	in	managing	their	water-
sheds to reduce water supply problems. 

To sustain its industry leadership, Carlsberg has set 
targets for water consumption and CO2 emissions for 
2012 and is implementing efficiency programmes in 
every part of the operations to achieve these. 

2012 TARGETS FOR WATER CONSUMPTION AND CO2 EMISSIONS

performance  
2009

targets  
2012

Water 3.7 hl/hl 3.3 hl/hl
CO2 emissions 8.9 kg CO2/hl 8.5 kg CO2/hl

Carlsberg has continued to implement various  
activities throughout the business and in local com-
panies to reduce the environmental impact, such as 
biogas recovery from waste water treatment plants 
in Sweden, Malaysia, Switzerland, France, Russia, 
and now in the Ukraine and China, corresponding 
to 5-15% of a brewery’s energy intake. Furthermore, 
Carlsberg is also active in reducing packaging by 
using lightweight materials. One example is the UK, 
where a 330 ml bottle was redesigned to include 
less packaging material, resulting in a reduction  
of glass used by 240 tonnes per year.

china – efficient and more environmentally friendly production.
To further improve efficiencies in the production processes, 
Carlsberg has developed and implemented a focused Produc-
tion Excellence (ProdEx) programme in China, aimed at more 
effective maintenance processes, lower energy consumption 
and reduced water usage. A key component of ProdEx is the 
sharing of best practice across several breweries and the joint 
approach to problem solving. Encouraging results have been 
achieved at several sites. 

russia – using vapour in the brewing processes. Carlsberg’s 
Russian brewery has introduced an energy-saving scheme 
designed to reduce heating energy costs and the negative en-
vironmental impact of water vapour released into the atmos-
phere. Instead of releasing the vapour into the atmosphere, it 
is now stored in a specially designed reservoir and is reused 
for heating water in the production process.

In 2008, a new strategic 
CSR approach was initi-

ated in the Carlsberg Group. 
In 2009, Carlsberg conti nued 

the work of implementing the CSR 
strategy to make it an integrated 

part of business throughout the Group. 
Highlights of 2009 are presented below.

policies, reporting and management system

In 2009, Carlsberg developed six CSR Policies.  
The policies will set common standards for all Group 
com panies and provide guidelines for employees in 
their day-to-day work in areas most relevant to the 
busi ness: Labour & Human Rights, Health & Safety, 
Environment, Responsible Marketing Communica-
tion, Business Ethics and Community Engagement. 
The policies are now being introduced throughout the 
Carlsberg Group.

Concurrent with the development of the policies,  
a new CSR reporting and management system 
has been implemented to gather local CSR data 
and identify areas for improvement within each 
area. The new system allows for Group and local 
management of CSR issues to set targets going 
forward in each of the areas, to be followed  
by concrete action plans as the policies are  
implemented. 

As part of the CSR reporting strategy, Carlsberg has 
requested KPMG’s sustainability team to provide assur-
ance on selected key environmental indicators. Their 
conclusions are available at www.carlsberggroup. 
com/csr/ourfocusareas/2009assurance. Carlsberg in-
tends to further develop its CSR reporting and extend 
the scope of the assurance engagement to other key 
indicators in the coming years.

uK – safety first. Carlsberg UK has implemented a project 
to reduce manual accidents in the delivery of products to  
on-trade outlets and to reduce ill health for warehouse 
employees. The introduction of palletised handling for load-
ing and delivery of goods to the on-trade has substantially 
reduced the number of manual handling accidents.

central europe – award for best environmental report.  
In 2009, Carlsberg Srbija received special honours for its 
environmental report. Deloitte Serbia administers and grants 
the award to companies in Central Europe which publish an 
environmental or sustainable development report as part of 
the company’s annual or CSR report. Carlsberg Srbija was 
recognised for being a strong promoter of environmental 
sustainability and producing a report that provides detailed 
and relevant information on the company’s environmental 
performance in 2008 and detailed plans for 2009.

growing  
responsiBly
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UN GLOBAL COMPACT

The UN Global Compact principles are part of Carlsberg’s day-to-day work. 
This year, we are publishing our first Communication On Progress (COP) 
to demonstrate our advancement towards implementing the principles 
of Global Compact. Carlsberg also signed the “CEO Water Mandate” and 
endorsed the Global Compact initiative “Caring for Climate”.

These initiatives provide Carlsberg with a framework to advance practical 
solutions to reduce water consumption and to avoid contributing to climate 
change.

Read Carlsberg’s COP at
www.carlsberggroup.com/csr/ourfocusareas/2009COP

CEO Jørgen Buhl Rasmussen conveys the Carlsberg Group’s support for  
the UN Global Compact to United Nations Secretary-General Ban Ki-moon.

responsible supplier Management programme

In 2009 Carlsberg continued the implementation of 
the Supplier and Licensee Code of Conduct through 
the development of a Responsible Supplier Manage-
ment Programme. All new global supplier contracts 
now contain a set of social and environmental stand-
ards to which suppliers are required to adhere. In 
2009 Carlsberg also joined the Supplier Ethical Data  
Exchange (Sedex) to increase the level of knowledge 
of CSR issues for both Carlsberg and its suppliers.

Going forward CSR criteria will form part of the 
evaluation of investments and procurement initia-
tives above a certain yearly spend and part of the 
standardised sourcing processes at Carlsberg. 

group – climate-friendly coolers. Since 2006 Carlsberg has 
been a member of Refrigerants Naturally, a coalition of com-
panies and NGOs dedicated to increasing the use of HFC-free 
coolers. In 2009 Carlsberg redefined its strategy, ensuring that 
newly purchased coolers have the more climate-friendly HC as 
coolant and are equipped with an energy-saving management 
system in markets where supply and the required technical 
support are available.

promoting responsible consumption

Carlsberg is committed to playing a proactive role in 
combating misuse of its products. Carlsberg Group 
companies therefore develop local activities to inform 
consumers how to avoid misuse and how to enjoy 
beer in a responsible way. Focus is on addressing cru-
cial issues such as underage drinking and drink driving.

In 2009, Carlsberg developed a dedicated web section 
which focuses on informing consumers about various 
aspects related to alcohol consumption to help them 
make informed decisions.  

russia – Beer patrols. In Russia, Baltika Breweries operates 
“Beer patrols” to prevent sale of beer to minors and alcohol 
misuse. The patrols consist of Baltika Breweries employees, 
celebrities and representatives of social organisations. At 
music festivals and other events they aim to prevent alcohol 
being sold to people under the legal drinking age and engage 
in dialogue with young people about the dangers of alcohol 
misuse. The beer patrol campaigns have received very positive 
feedback and are now being introduced in other countries in 
the region, such as Kazakhstan. 

Carlsberg is committed to growing its  
business responsibly, and making a positive 
contribution to society and the environment  
by developing and implementing responsible 
business practices.

To see Carlsberg’s CSR performance data, please visit www.carlsberggroup.com/csr/ourfocusareas
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Brewing and Bottling

Carlsberg continuously strives to 
optimise production processes by 
reducing energy and water consumption 
and lowering greenhouse gas emissions. 
The Labour & Human Rights and Health 
& Safety Policies aim to ensure a fair, 
healthy and safe workplace. Through 
the Environmental Policy and Strategy 
Carlsberg addresses environmental 
challenges in production and sets 
global standards for environmental 
performance.

Raising awareness, training and 
continued implementation of the CSR 
Policies will raise Carlsberg’s standards 
and performance. Moreover, Carlsberg 
will develop a carbon footprint calcu-
lator tool to evaluate its packaging 
choices and work with partners to 
identify opportunities to reduce water 
consumption in the supply chain.

procureMent

Through Carlsberg Procurement’s 
Responsible Supplier Management 
Programme, Carlsberg works with 
suppliers to continuously reduce the 
environmental impact from the products 
and services purchased by Carlsberg. 
In order to ensure that suppliers are 
complying with Carlsberg’s CSR Policies, 
the internationally acknowledged 
services of Sedex (Supplier Ethical Data 
Exchange) are being used and Carlsberg 
is currently developing an audit system 
that goes beyond packaging and raw 
materials.

In the coming years, Carlsberg’s target 
is to include all critical and high-risk 
suppliers in Sedex in order to improve 
suppliers’ CSR standards through 
collaboration with other international 
companies committed to CSR. In 
addition, CSR criteria will be included 
when assessing future purchasing 
initiatives.

r&d

Carlsberg’s strong tradition in and focus 
on research are vital in our ambition to 
market high-quality beer but also to 
grow responsibly. We are constantly 
working on new brewing techniques 
to lower the carbon footprint of our 
products and reduce the amount of 
raw materials used in the production 
process, for example increasing the 
proportion of non-malted barley in the 
brewing process to reduce the energy 
and water needed for malting. 

New initiatives will include alternative, 
environmentally friendlier one-way 
packaging for beer and plastic bottles. 
Moreover, work is ongoing to explore 
the possibilities of reusing the main 
by-product, spent grain, for either 
production of biogas, oil or direct 
combustion. Combustion of the spent 
grains can cover approx. 50% of the 
total thermal energy used in a brewery. 
Carlsberg is also looking into barley 
breeding research, focusing on novel 
barley which involves less raw material 
and energy usage while generating 
higher yields.

Carlsberg’s strategic approach to CSR is identifying 
how to improve the social and environmental impact 
in each part of the value chain – from the relationship 
with suppliers to how we run our operations and  
interact with customers and consumers.
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consuMers and custoMers

Carlsberg’s consumers are central 
to the decisions we make. Carlsberg 
is particularly determined to ensure 
that our products are consumed in a 
responsible and enjoyable way, and 
we strive to be open about the way we 
communicate about alcohol. By our 
being open and honest, consumers get 
the information they need to make
informed decisions about the con-
sumption of our products. Carlsberg 
develops local campaigns aimed 
at educating young people about 
responsible drinking and actively 
promotes initiatives to prevent people 
drinking and driving.

By including responsible drinking 
messages in marketing, sponsorship 
and community activities, Carlsberg 
emphasises its commitment to 
moderate beer consumption.

sales and MarKeting

Carlsberg wants to ensure that its 
communication to consumers and other 
stakeholders always reflects its philo-
sophy of moderate beer consumption. 
Carlsberg’s Marketing Communication 
Policy ensures that marketing activities 
are targeted at adults, are clear about 
the effects of alcohol and discourage 
irresponsible behaviour. Carlsberg does 
not advertise or market its brands dir-
ectly towards children and youngsters 
below the local legal drinking age. 

To ensure proper implementation of 
the Marketing Communication Policy,
Carlsberg trains marketing managers 
and regularly assesses their under-
standing and execution of the policy.

logistics

Carlsberg is proud to reach millions of 
people with our products every day. To 
minimise the environmental impact of 
transportation, Carlsberg is constantly 
seeking more environmentally friendly 
ways of bringing our products to our 
customers, such as using trains instead 
of trucks.  

To improve the sustainability of the
logistics set-up, Carlsberg is invest-
igating various initiatives, such as using 
hybrid and gas engines to reduce CO2 
emissions and lower the use of energy. 
In Switzerland, following successful 
pilot tests in 2009, Carlsberg will now 
increase the number of electric vehicles 
and work together with manufacturers 
to increase the range of the vehicles. 
At Carlsberg UK, several initiatives 
are being implemented to make the 
company fleet more eco-friendly. Other 
companies, such as Carlsberg Danmark 
and Baltika Breweries, will continue to 
use trains for transportation.
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cash race

An ambitious cross-functional initiative was kicked off in Carlsberg at the beginning of 2009 with a 
target of significantly reducing net working capital. In the first half of 2009, there was special focus 
on improving payment terms with suppliers and increasing days payable outstanding. Reducing days 
sales outstanding and days sales of inventory became additional focus areas in the second half of 
2009. By year-end 2009, working capital had been reduced by DKK 3.7bn compared to end-2008. 
The improvement was to a great extent driven by all three working capital items.

Carlsberg benchmarks itself against the best in class within the brewing sector as well as other 
FMCG companies and, as with all other efficiency improvement actions implemented across the 
Group, working capital management is targeted to be further improved in the years to come.

continuous eFFiciency iMproveMent

In the Carlsberg Group, improving efficiency is a continuous 
journey encompassing the entire value and demand 
chain and taking into account, amongst others, portfolio 
optimisation and simplification, trends within packaging, 
and production set-up changes. Optimisation of the brewery 
network, including brewery closures and divestitures, is 
evaluated in accordance with these dimensions, and has 
been and will continue to be part of continuous efficiency 
improvement, not least in Northern & Western Europe. 

In 2009, three breweries in Northern Europe were either 
closed or sold. In Norway, the Arendal brewery was sold 
to a group of local investors; in Germany, the brewery in 
Braunschweig was sold to Oettinger Brauerei GmbH; and in 
Finland, production at the brewery in Pori was discontinued.

2008 was first and foremost the year in which the 
brewery site in Copenhagen was finally closed down and 
as of 2009, all production in Denmark takes place at the 
brewing site in Fredericia. In the UK, the brewery in Leeds 
will be closed in 2011.

centralising BacK oFFice 
Functions – procureMent, it

An important lever to further increase 
efficiency across the Carlsberg Group 
is the continuous work on globalising 
and centralising a number of back 
office functions. In 2009, important 
steps in this direction were taken within 
procurement and IT.

Group Procurement has developed 
a vision to create a world-class 
procurement organisation to achieve 
significant savings through increased 
spend transparency, clear directions on 
category strategies and standardised 
procurement processes and systems, 
using all levers and a new cross-
functional way of working. As a natural 
step towards realising the vision, a 
central procurement company for the 
Group is being set up in order to further 
optimise this important function.

From 1 January 2010, all local Carlsberg 
IT departments in Northern & Western 
Europe were merged into just one IT 
organisation with one CIO, one budget, a 
mutual decision-making structure etc. to 
ensure a focused IT strategy and avoid 
duplication while still meeting the needs 
of the local market and the Group. The 
centralised IT organisation will work 
virtually and share people in order to 
have tasks and projects handled by the 
most qualified employees and at the best 
price, reducing the total IT spend.

value ManageMent 

Carlsberg’s Northern & Western Europe region is facing major challenges to increase net 
revenue per hl in a market environment characterised by a number of challenges pointing 
towards flat or declining beer markets. Professional value management is an important way 
to turn this tough situation into a win-win situation for both Carlsberg and its customers.

Value management aims at increasing the value pool for both Carlsberg and the retailer 
rather than focusing on splitting a shrinking value pool between the two. This may sound 
easy but it requires a fundamental shift in how Carlsberg approaches its customers. A 
new approach has therefore been developed by a team at Carlsberg using best practices 
from several countries and from other fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) companies, 
and combining some of the best tools on the market. The approach covers various levers, 
including but not limited to product mix optimisation, pack sizes, pay-for-performance 
incentive schemes, targeted price increases etc. in compliance with local practices and 
regulations. The approach is supported by tools and internal training programmes that  
will create a strong platform for revenue growth.

Efficiency

Events in 2009

26 Management review



innovation

Most Northern & Western European beer markets are mature. In order to revitalise growth in 
these markets, Carlsberg will continue to step up its relentless execution of the core business 
while at the same time putting in place new ways to strengthen its position. Innovation and 
the introduction of new and exciting drinks will play a key role. Innovation in beer, the core of 
the Company, will continue at an accelerated pace but the innovation strategy will also target 
new opportunities for malt- and cereal-based beverages, including new platforms like health, 
women, etc.

In early 2009, Carlsberg merged departments from across the Group to create an integrated 
Innovation, Research and Development organisation. This trio gives Carlsberg control of the 
entire innovation process, from raw materials through consumer insights and trends, idea 
generation, production processes and packaging to distribution and marketing, and will help 
speed up and scale innovation in profitable areas and reduce costs.

Kvass in eastern europe

In the spring of 2009, Carlsberg launched a 
new and improved version of the traditional 
Eastern European drink kvass in Russia and 
the Ukraine. This launch gave Carlsberg a 
solid footing in the growing kvass market in 
Russia and the Ukraine, and the performance 
of the brand has been highly successful in 
both countries.

Carlsberg’s kvass is a mildly fermented 
beverage made from black rye or rye bread, 
which also gives it the characteristic dark 
colour. The “bread drink” is often flavoured 
with fruits or herbs such as strawberries 
or mint.

This special beverage is a very popular 
drink in Russia and throughout Eastern 
Europe. Consumer interest in natural 
and healthy beverages such as kvass 
has increased over the past ten years. In 
contrast to the beer segment, consumption 
of kvass actually showed positive growth 
rates in Russia in 2009.

strengthened position in vietnaM

In line with Carlsberg’s strategy to further strengthen its position in Asia by growing organically 
and through M&A activities, two Memoranda of Understanding (MoU) were signed in the latter 
part of 2009 with the intention to increase current shareholdings in Vietnam.

In 2008, Carlsberg was appointed strategic partner of the Vietnamese brewery Habeco and 
acquired a 16.1% shareholding in connection with the IPO of Habeco. In September 2009, 
Carlsberg and Habeco signed an MoU planning to increase Carlsberg’s ownership in the 
company to 30%. Habeco is market leader in northern Vietnam. The increased partnership 
will provide opportunities for Habeco and Carlsberg to strengthen their market positions in 
northern Vietnam.

In November 2009, Carlsberg and Hué People’s Committee signed an MoU in which the 
Committee confirmed its support for Carlsberg to acquire the Committee’s 50% shareholding in 
Hué Brewery. Carlsberg acquired its current 50% stake in Hué Brewery in 1994.

KronenBourg relaunch

One of the most important commercial activities in Northern & Western Europe in 2009 was 
the relaunch of the Kronenbourg Red & White and Kronenbourg 1664 brands in France. The 
two brands were included in Carlsberg’s beer portfolio as part of the S&N acquisition in 2008. 
Kronenbourg Red & White is the local mainstream brand in France, whereas Kronenbourg 
1664 is one of Carlsberg’s leading international beer brands.

To improve the premium image and sales of Kronenbourg 1664 and, in an equivalent way, 
cement the image of Kronenbourg Red & White as the only French national beer, thereby 
improving sales, Carlsberg Group brand teams subjected both brands to a thorough evaluation
covering everything from bottles and labels to price points and brand image in the public 
mindset. This resulted in a comprehensive relaunch of the French and international 
Kronenbourg 1664 and Kronenbourg Red & White in the spring of 2009.

Based on the tracking of the global independent consumer research firm Millward Brown, 
Carlsberg has seen a positive consumer impact from its marketing campaigns and, for the 
first time in several years, the latter part of 2009 showed a stabilisation in market shares for 
the two brands. Although still at an early stage, the new marketing campaign, packaging and 
price points seem to have been well received by French and international consumers.

Driving growth

Povl Krogsgaard-
Larsen, Chairman of 
Carlsberg’s Supervisory 
Board, and Ho Xuan 
Man, Hué Party 
Secretary, sign the 
MoU.
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Three regions,
one Carlsberg



regions
The commercial and 
cultural characteristics 
of Carlsberg’s markets 
vary. In our pursuit 
of growth and 
value creation it is 
important to find the 
right balance between 
working closely 
together at a global 
level whilst allowing 
local brands and 
initiatives to flourish.
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Northern &
Western Europe

The overall beer markets in 
Northern & Western Europe 

declined by some 5-6% in 
2009. However, during the latter 

part of the year there were some 
signs of improvement and the Q4 

market decline was around 4%.

The impact from the economic crisis af-
fected the individual markets very differently 

with the Finnish, Swedish, Swiss and French 
markets showing growth or flat development 

while the Baltic and Balkan markets declined by 
high single digits. 

Carlsberg maintained an overall flat market share 
in the region with organic beer volumes declining 
by 5.6% (-3.7% for Q4). Reported beer volumes 
declined by 2% to 50.2m hl (51.0m hl in 2008).

Net revenue per hl increased 5% organically due 
to the Group’s strong focus on value manage-
ment across all markets which mitigated some of 
the negative volume impact. Organic net revenue 
development was -2% for the region (-2% for Q4). 
Net revenue for beer declined by 2% (-6% volumes, 
4% price, flat mix, -4% currency and 4% from 
acquisitions).

Higher raw material prices for the region in 2009 
compared to 2008 and the channel shift from 
on-trade to off-trade in several markets had a 
negative impact on gross profit margin. Although 
the full-year gross profit margin declined, the 
second half of the year showed an improvement as 
the positive impact from the accelerated production 
efficiency improvements became visible in the fig-
ures. In absolute terms, the higher input costs were 
more than offset by the higher organic net revenue 
per hl for the year. Mix was positive or flat in most 
Northern & Western European markets except the 
Baltics, Poland and South East Europe.

For 2009 operating profit for Northern & Western 
Europe increased by 7% to DKK 4,237m (DKK 
3,953m in 2008) with 6% organic operating profit 
growth. For Q4 organic operating profit growth 
was -21%. Adjusting for the income from brand  
disposals in Q4 2008, organic operating profit 
growth would have been flat for the quarter and 
approximately 10% for the year. 

Operating margin was 11.6%, an increase of ap-
proximately 100bp. This was largely driven by 
the accelerated efficiency improvements initiated 
in the second half of 2008 and at the beginning 
of 2009. The impact from these efforts became 
increasingly visible in the second half of the year. 
Most markets delivered organic operating profit 
growth for the year.

earnings growth 
despite voluMe 
decline

The brands shown are only a selection of the  
Northern & Western European beer brand portfolio.
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France, the uK, switzerland, the Balkans, and greece

The French market was flat in 2009. As anticipated 
in the turnaround plan, the total market share of 
Brasseries Kronenbourg declined for the year as 
many of the consumer-facing activities started 
in the late spring. There was a stabilising trend in 
the second half of 2009 following the relaunch of 
the Kronenbourg and 1664 brands. According to 
Nielsen data for the off-trade there was no market 
share erosion of these two brands in the second 
half of the year despite the recent years of ongoing 
period-on-period market share decline. Synergies 
from the S&N transaction are on track and coupled 
with accelerated efficiency improvements, the new 
brand positioning and a changed pricing structure, 
the French business delivered double-digit organic 
operating profit growth. This is a very satisfactory 
result given that the turnaround plan is in its first 
year of implementation.

Carlsberg UK performed particularly well in 2009. 
There was a 4% market decline with a continued 
shift from on-trade to off-trade but Carlsberg 
gained both volume and value share in the on-
trade and off-trade channels and increased its 
share of the total market by some 110bp to 14.4%. 
The positive trend accelerated in the latter part of 
2009 fuelled by the impact of the JD Wetherspoon 
contract, strong off-trade execution and the inclu-
sion of the super-premium San Miguel brand in the 
Carlsberg portfolio. Profits improved as a result of 
volume growth, value management efforts and  
efficiency initiatives. 

In a flat Swiss market, Feldschlösschen continues  
to grow net revenue per hl and profits through  
premiumisation, mix and efficiency improvements.
In late 2009 Feldschlösschen Premium was 
launched to further increase the average value 
per hl of the Feldschlösschen portfolio. The more 
female-oriented Eve continues to be a strong value 
contributor and will be introduced in more markets. 

Carlsberg’s beer volumes in South East Europe 
declined by 12% as the economic crisis affected 
consumer behaviour negatively. The Group kept 
margins unchanged compared to 2008 due to 
strong cost and value management focus.

The integration of Greek Mythos progressed and 
profits improved strongly.

denmark, Finland, poland, germany, and the Baltics

The Danish beer market declined by 8% (before ad-
justing for impact from border trade), though with 
an improved trend in the second half of the year. 
Carlsberg grew its beer market share by 60bp to 
56.3%. Somersby Cider continued to grow through-
out the year and has effectively established the ci-
der category in Denmark. New entrants are coming 
into the category which will drive further category 
expansion. Operating profit growth was satisfactory 
as a result of cost reductions and positive value/mix 
development. 

The Finnish beer market grew by approximately 
1% in 2009. Sinebrychoff’s growth outstripped 
the market and the market share reached 50%. 
Despite negative packaging and channel mix, profits 
improved due to volume growth and efficiency 
improvements, including the closure of the Pori 
brewery.

Several structural initiatives took place in Germany 
during the year. The Braunschweig brewery was 
sold, the Göttsche wholesaler was merged into 
a new distribution cooperation with the Nord-
mann Group and a focused brand strategy was 
established. Organic operating profit growth was 
achieved as a result of efficiency improvements.

The Baltic States were very severely affected by 
the difficult macroeconomic environment with 
subsequent volume decline and downtrading hav-
ing a negative impact on profits. Several struc-
tural changes were made to reduce the cost base. 
Carlsberg’s beer volumes declined by around 10%  
in 2009 although the Q4 volume decline was mod-
est. Nevertheless, the Baltic business still delivered 
double-digit operating profit margins.

The Polish market, too, was challenging as a result 
of the economic recession. The market declined by 
8% and there was downtrading. Carlsberg main-
tained market share. Despite several actions being 
implemented during the year, operating profit 
declined. 

eve
Eve is a malt-based, 
low-alcohol drink 
for women, invented 
and first launched 
in Switzerland. The 
unique, sparkling fruity 
taste makes it the 
perfect drink for the 
cosmopolitan woman 
to enjoy in company 
with her friends and 
colleagues.
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Eastern Europe 2009 was a challenging 
year in Eastern Europe 

as the economic recession 
had a negative effect on beer 

consumption in the region. In this 
environment Carlsberg managed 

to gain market share in all markets 
except Kazakhstan.

The Group’s total beer volumes in Eastern 
Europe increased by 10% while organic beer 

volumes declined by 6%. Due to the strong 
growth of the malt-based non-alcoholic drink 
kvass, the volume of other beverages increased by 
26%. In Q4 organic beer volumes increased by 2%, 
but the recovery in the quarter was driven by stock-
building in the Russian distribution chain ahead of 
the 200% excise duty increase on 1 January 2010. 
The underlying consumption trends in Q4 were 
unchanged.

Organic net revenue growth for the region was 
1%. The positive price/mix improvement of 6% for 
beer offset lower beer volumes. In Q4 organic net 
revenue growth was 9% while reported net revenue 
declined by 11% due to devaluation in currencies.

Organic gross profit margin improved strongly by 
approximately 525bp with higher net revenue per hl 
accounting for approximately 70% of the increase. 
The lower cost of goods sold due to synergies, 
efficiency improvements and lower input costs 
accounted for the remaining 30%. Organic operat-
ing profit growth was 38%. Including acquisitions 
operating profit was DKK 5,289m (DKK 4,108m in 
2008). As mentioned in the Company Announce-
ment of 17 December 2009, the stockbuilding effect 
in Russia affected operating profit positively by ap-
proximately DKK 300m. Consequently, Q4 organic 
operating profit growth was unusually strong at 
64%. In 2009, operating margin increased to 28.5% 
(21.5% in 2008) with contribution from all markets. 

The overall strong gross profit margin and oper-
ating margin improvements were driven by price 
increases, favourable input costs, synergies, the 
accelerated efficiency improvements and improved 
point-of-sales execution. All these initiatives 
enabled Carlsberg to more than offset the nega-
tive profit impact from lower volumes and negative 
operational leverage. 

russia

The Russian beer market development in 2009 was 
weaker than anticipated at the beginning of the 
year, declining by an estimated 10% as the weak 
macroeconomic environment affected consumer 
behaviour. 

strong MarKet  
share gains 

The brands shown are only a selection of the  
Eastern European beer brand portfolio.
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uKraine
The strong results 
of the positive 
turnaround in 
Carlsberg’s Ukrainian 
brewery, Slavutich, 
really showed in 
2009 when the 
company captured 
a solid no. 2 market 
position. Despite 
a tough economic 
environment, volumes 
were up and operating 
profit growth was 
significant.

Carlsberg continued to strengthen its market share 
in Russia gaining 180bp and achieving a 40.6% share 
compared to 38.8% in 2008 (Q4 market share was 
39.3% vs. 39.2% in Q4 2008). As communicated 
in the past, it is important to look at trends when 
assessing market share development since market 
share short term can be influenced by many factors, 
such as timing of price increases vis-à-vis competi-
tion, timing of innovations, promotions, etc. In 2009, 
Carlsberg reinforced its market leadership in all seg-
ments and increased market shares in each and eve-
ry segment with the exception of lower mainstream 
where market share was flat. Key drivers behind the 
strong volume and value market share performance 
continue to be the superior brand portfolio and the 
strongest route-to-market with an integrated pro-
duction, logistics and distribution set-up.

Carlsberg’s Russian beer volumes (shipments) 
declined by 6%. Shipments in Q4 were up 1% which 
was substantially higher than consumer off-take as 
distributors were stockbuilding ahead of the excise 
duty increase on 1 January 2010. Carlsberg’s “in-
market sales” (off-take) declined by an estimated 
8%. Inventory levels are closely monitored and 
managed and the higher inventory levels at the end 
of the year are expected to be reversed in Q1 2010. 

There was a positive price effect of 9% and mix 
effect of -3%. The higher price per hl was driven by 
price increases, improved portfolio management 
and sales execution. The negative mix effect was 
primarily driven by a shift in packaging mix within 
brands and a changed channel mix in the off-trade 
with consumers moving from smaller outlets to dis-
counters and supermarkets. There was also a shift 
between brands in the second half of the year.

In this challenging market the Russian business de-
livered strong operating margins throughout 2009 
as a result of proactive management of costs and 
efficiency improvements.

In December 2009 the President of the Russian Fed-
eration signed the amendments to the Tax Code as 
a result of which Russian beer excise duty increased 
from RUB 3 to RUB 9 per litre in 2010. Due to price 
increases this will have a negative impact on the 
market development in Russia in 2010 and Carlsberg 
expects a low double-digit percentage decline. 
Carlsberg has been making detailed preparations 
for the new excise duty regime and is well prepared 
for 2010. The focus for 2010 will be to continue to 
strengthen the Russian market position whilst bal-
ancing volume and value development. This should 
be possible due to Carlsberg’s superior brand port-
folio and strong operational and commercial set-up. 

the ukraine

The Ukrainian market declined by approximately 
7% in 2009 whilst average beer retail prices in-
creased by almost 30% driven by the price increas-
es following the 94% increase in beer excise duties 

(implemented on 1 July 2009) and consumer price 
inflation. Carlsberg’s organic beer volume growth 
was 5% and our market share increased significant-
ly to 28.9% (25.5% in 2008). The Ukrainian busi-
ness now accounts for more than 15% of Carlsberg’s 
Eastern European volumes. Carlsberg is the clear 
number two in the market. 

The market share gain was driven by a well-executed 
turnaround including expanded distribution network, 
improved sales execution, product launches and a 
more performance-driven governance system. In par-
ticular, the national launch of the mainstream brand 
Lvivske, on top of the already established Slavutich 
brand, has proved successful. Within the non-beer 
category, the kvass brand Taras grew strongly during 
the year.

Organic revenue growth was almost 20% mainly 
driven by a 15% positive price/mix effect. Driven  
by the volume growth, price/mix improvements and 
efficiency gains the Ukrainian margins improved 
significantly in 2009. 

other markets

The volume development in the remaining Eastern 
European markets was mixed. Carlsberg gained 
substantial market share in Uzbekistan where  
volumes grew strongly in a market that declined  
by 12%. Beer volumes in Belarus were almost flat 
in a declining market with Carlsberg gaining market 
share. 

The beer market in Kazakhstan was under signifi-
cant pressure and Carlsberg lost market share on 
local brands. To strengthen and simplify the busi-
ness model in Kazakhstan, Carlsberg has integrated 
the significant Russian export business with our 
local operation aiming to further strengthen our 
leading market share position.

The Group delivered significant organic operating 
profit growth in all markets.
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Asia The Asian markets were 
less affected by the eco-

nomic crisis and the Group’s 
beer volumes continued to 

grow throughout the year. The 
Asian business delivered 8% organ-

ic beer volume growth for the year 
(5% in Q4). The Asian beer volumes 

increased by 26% including acquisitions 
and consolidation changes. The Asian 

business now accounts for approximately 
13% of Group beer volumes. As the Asian  

markets continue this growth trend the region 
will become even more important for Carlsberg  

in the future. 

Organic net revenue growth was 14% (17% in Q4). 
The positive price/mix effect prevailed in the major-
ity of the Asian markets with a particularly strong 
improvement in China. Operating profit increased 
by 30% to DKK 666m (DKK 511m in 2008) with 
organic growth of 19%. Q4 organic operating profit 
growth was 14%. Despite the negative impact from 
higher input costs in 2009, all markets contributed 
to the strong organic operating profit growth with 
the exception of India where establishment and 
investment in our business is in the early stages. 

In 2009 Carlsberg started construction of two green-
field breweries – one in India and one in Vietnam. 

Malaysia

The Malaysian market declined by approximately 
2%. The early Chinese New Year in 2009 (January) 
and late Chinese New Year in 2010 (February) had 
a negative impact on the market development as 
stockbuilding ahead of the Chinese New Year took 
place in Q4 2008 for 2009 and Q1 2010 for 2010.

Carlsberg Malaysia gained 100bp market share 
reaching 44.1%. The business delivered organic 
operating profit growth due to price/mix and  
efficiency improvements.

In 2009 Carlsberg Malaysia acquired Carlsberg 
Singapore, creating a stronger and more efficient 
entity on the Malaysian peninsula.

china
 
Carlsberg’s Chinese beer volumes grew mid-single 
digit. The growth was driven by local brands and 
the Carlsberg brand. The Carlsberg brand grew by 
more than 15%, driven by Carlsberg Chill and the 
extension of the Carlsberg brand portfolio with the 
addition of Carlsberg Light, launched in 2009 and 
targeting the Chinese restaurant sector. 

Carlsberg continued to gain market share both in 
Western China and in the international premium 
segment. 

continued strong 
growth
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The brands shown are only a selection of the Asian beer  
brand portfolio.

Organic operating profit growth was more than 
30% as a result of volume growth, positive price/
mix and efficiency improvements.

indochina

The markets in Indochina (Vietnam, Laos and 
Cambodia) continued the strong growth trend  
with high single-digit growth rates. In Vietnam  
and Cambodia Carlsberg increased market shares 
substantially while the business in Laos grew in 
line with the market. Hence, the Group’s organic 
beer volume growth was 22% for the year. 

Carlsberg signed two MoUs in Vietnam to increase 
the ownership in Habeco and Hué breweries. This 
will strengthen the Group’s market position and  
opportunities in northern and central Vietnam. 



Let the good
times roll



soMersBy
Carlsberg’s inter-
national cider 
brand, Somersby, is 
a refreshing fruity 
cider made from real 
apples and has an 
alcohol content of 
4.7%. Cider offers an 
opportunity to increase 
bottom-line growth 
through premium 
pricing. Somersby has 
performed very well 
on the markets, and 
new cider markets 
may provide attractive 
market opportunities.
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income statement

In 2009 the Group gener-
ated total net revenue of 

DKK 59,382m (DKK 59,944m 
in 2008), a slight decrease of 1% 

compared to 2008, reflecting flat 
organic development, net acquisitions 

accounting for DKK 4,712m (+6%) and 
a negative impact of DKK -4,652m (-7%) 

from exchange rate movements. Foreign 
exchange movements were most notably 

caused by adverse currency impact develop-
ments in the RUB, UAH and GBP.

The flat organic revenue was achieved despite an 
organic volume decline of 4%, as this was offset 
by positive effects from pricing, including value 
management efforts.

Beer sales represented DKK 46,148m of total rev-
enue (DKK 45,503m in 2008), equivalent to 78%  
of total revenue.

Gross profit was DKK 29,185m (DKK 28,695m in 
2008), with organic growth being DKK 903m (+3%), 
net acquired activities representing DKK 1,889m 
and a negative impact of DKK -2,302m from 
exchange rate movements. Gross profit margin 
increased by almost 130bp to 49.1%. Gross profit 
was negatively impacted by lower organic volumes 
but positively impacted by lower raw material 
costs in Eastern Europe and declining non-material 
costs. Among other things it was also impacted 
by the lean project in Northern & Western Europe, 
accelerated efficiency initiatives, network optimisa-
tion and ongoing Excellence programmes in the 
supply chain.

strong growth  
in proFit and  
cash Flow

Financial review

Numerous efficiency improvements imple-
mented in late 2008 and in 2009 meant that 
Carlsberg was able to mitigate the impact of 
declining markets and deliver strong earnings 
and cash flow improvement.
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Sales and distribution expenses were DKK -15,989m, 
a reduction of DKK 1,603m (+9%) compared to 
2008. The lower sales and distribution expenses 
reflect efficiency programmes within sales and 
logistics, the impact of lower volumes and media 
deflation in 2009. The organic reduction was DKK 
1,411m (+8%), net acquired activities represented 
DKK -886m (-5%) and there was a DKK 1,078m 
(+6%) impact from currencies. Administrative 
expenses amounted to DKK -3,873m (DKK -3,934m 
in 2008) with organic reduction of DKK 125m (+3%), 
net acquired activities representing DKK -233m 
(-6%), and DKK 169m (+5%) impact from currencies. 
All in all organic development in sales and distribu-
tion expenses and administration expenses was 
DKK +1.5bn or +7%.

Other operating income, net, was DKK -45m (DKK 
728m in 2008). The decrease was expected and the 
result of significant real estate gains in the first half 
of 2008. The Group’s share of the net profit of as-
sociates was DKK 112m against DKK 81m in 2008.

Operating profit before special items was DKK 
9,390m against DKK 7,978m in 2008. Beverage 
activities generated a profit of DKK 9,460m, an 
increase of DKK 1,856m with strong organic growth 
representing DKK 2,122m (+28%) and net acquired 
activities DKK 788m of the increase. All regions 
contributed positively to the increase in operating 
profit. The Group achieved an operating margin of 
15.8%, up 250bp compared to 2008. 

Net special items amounted to DKK -695m against 
DKK -1,641m in 2008 and mainly comprise restruc-
turing and redundancy costs in Northern & Western 
Europe and losses on excess contracting of raw 
materials. A more detailed specification is shown  
in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
 
Net financial items amounted to DKK -2,990m 
against DKK -3,456m in 2008. Net interest costs  
accounted for DKK -2,161m compared to DKK 
-2,386m in 2008. The lower interest costs are 
primarily due to a decrease in average funding 
cost. Other net financial items were DKK -829m 
(DKK -1,070m in 2008) and were mainly related 
to losses on debt denominated in foreign currency, 
primarily in the first half of the year, of DKK 581m 
(Eastern Europe approximately DKK 400m) and 
write-downs on financial assets of DKK 119m. The 
decline in other net financial items is among other 
things explained by the one-off costs in 2008 
related to the establishment of financing for the 
S&N transaction.

Tax totalled DKK -1,538m against DKK 312m last 
year. The effective tax rate in 2009 was thus 27%. 
 
Consolidated profit was DKK 4,167m against DKK 
3,193m in 2008 (+31%).

Carlsberg’s share of net profit was DKK 3,602m 
against DKK 2,621m last year (+37%). 

statement of financial position

At 31 December 2009, Carlsberg had total assets 
of DKK 134,515m (DKK 142,639m at 31 Decem-
ber 2008). The decrease relates to a reduction in 
property, plant and equipment, current assets and 
foreign exchange movements, the last-mentioned in 
particular from the Russian rouble (RUB) impacting 
intangible assets and contributing to a reduction in 
current assets.

Assets
Intangible assets totalled DKK 81,611m against DKK 
84,091m at 31 December 2008. The decrease is 
related to foreign exchange impact mainly from the 
RUB as no material additions or impairment write-
downs have been recognised in 2009. 

Property, plant and equipment totalled DKK 31,825m, 
down DKK 2,227m from 31 December 2008. The 
development has mainly been driven by additions 
of DKK 2.8bn, disposals of DKK -0.4bn, depreciation 
of DKK -3.5bn and foreign exchange impact of DKK 
-0.6bn.

Financial assets amounted to DKK 5,850m (DKK 
5,305m at 31 December 2008). Financial assets 
mainly comprise associates, deferred tax assets  
and trade loans. Apart from the establishment  
of the Nordic Getränke cooperation in Germany, 
there have been no material fluctuations within  
the Group.

Current assets amounted to DKK 14,841m (DKK 
19,029m at 31 December 2008). The decrease is the 
result of the very strong focus, particularly in the 
second half of the year, on inventories and receiv-
ables which has led to a significant reduction in both 
items compared to year-end 2008. 

Equity and liabilities
Total equity was DKK 59,489m (shareholders in 
Carlsberg A/S DKK 54,829m and non-controlling 
interests DKK 4,660m). The decrease in equity 
compared to 31 December 2008 of DKK 0.4bn is 
mainly due to foreign exchange rate differences of 
approximately DKK -3.1bn primarily as a result of 
the devaluation of net assets, first and foremost in 
RUB, profit for the period of DKK 4.2bn, payment 
of dividends to shareholders and non-controlling 
interests of DKK 0.8bn and acquisition of non-con-
trolling interests (in Latvia, Lithuania, Kazakhstan, 
the Ukraine and Uzbekistan) of DKK 0.4bn and 
actuarial losses on pension plans of DKK -0.4bn. 

Net interest-bearing debt has been reduced from 
DKK 44.2bn as at 31 December 2008 to DKK 35.7bn 
as at 31 December 2009. 

Total liabilities were DKK 75,026m (DKK 82,738m 
at 31 December 2008). Current liabilities were DKK 
24,960m (DKK 25,616m at 31 December 2008). 
Excluding the current portion of borrowings, current 
liabilities totalled DKK 21,638m (DKK 20,325m at 
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31 December 2008) reflecting the focus throughout 
2009 on working capital improvement.

cash flow 

Free cash flow in 2009 amounted to DKK 10,549m 
as a result of the very intense focus on cash flow, 
including net working capital and capital expen-
ditures, throughout the Group. The strong devel-
opment is a reflection of the so-called cash race 
programme.

Cash flow from operating activities in 2009 was 
DKK 13,631m against DKK 7,812m in 2008. The main 
contributors to the strong improvement of DKK 
5,819m were operating profit before depreciation 
and amortisation and change in working capital. 
Operating profit before depreciation and amortisa-
tion was DKK 13,169m against DKK 11,610m in 2008. 

Change in working capital amounted to DKK 
3,675m against DKK 1,556m in 2008. The positive 
impact was driven by a significant reduction in in-
ventories (DKK 1.6bn), lower receivables (DKK 1.0bn) 
and higher payables (DKK 1.1bn).

Paid net interests were DKK -1,597m (DKK -2,754m 
in 2008). The significant change in payments is due 
to lower interest payments, payments in 2008 re-
lated to the establishment of loan facilities linked to 
the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N and 
currency instruments (mainly hedging of the GBP 
200m bond programme). Finally, in 2009 Carlsberg 
had a positive cash flow of approximately DKK 
400m from settlement of various hedges.

Cash flow from investing activities was DKK 
-3,082m against DKK -57,153m in 2008. Adjusting 
for the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N 
in 2008, the decrease is essentially due to operat-
ing capital expenditures of DKK -2.8bn, down 48% 
from 2008, and a change in financial assets of DKK 
+950m. The lower operating capital expenditures 

are a result of the detailed planning for and con-
tinuous follow-up during 2009, and the change in 
financial investments is explained by prepayments 
and hedging instruments relating to the activities 
acquired in S&N in 2008. 

Financing 
 
At 31 December 2009, Carlsberg’s gross interest-
bearing debt amounted to DKK 39.4bn and net 
interest-bearing debt amounted to DKK 35.7bn.  
The difference of DKK 3.7bn is other interest- 
bearing assets, including DKK 2.7bn in cash and 
cash equivalents.

Of the gross interest-bearing debt, 92% (DKK 
36.1bn) is long term, i.e. with maturity of more than 
one year, and consists primarily of facilities in EUR. 

Net interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2009 was 
reduced by DKK 8.5bn compared to 2008. The re-
duction reflects the very strong free cash flow. Net 
debt/EBITDA at the end of 2009 was 2.7x.

In May 2009, Carlsberg established a EUR 3bn 
EMTN programme under which notes with principal 
amounts of EUR 1bn and GBP 300m were issued. 
The proceeds were used to refinance part of the 
debt related to the acquisition of parts of S&N. 
Consequently, Carlsberg has no refinancing needs 
for a number of years.

Approximately 62% of net financial debt is at fixed 
rates of interest (fixed-rate period exceeding one 
year). 

10.5bn FREE CASH FLOW

The significant development in free cash flow was primarily due 
to strong organic development in operating profit, very significant 
reduction in working capital and reduced capital expenditure.
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DKK million
Q1

2008
Q2

2008
Q3

2008
Q4

2008
Q1

2009
Q2

2009
Q3

2009
Q4

2009

net revenue

Northern & Western Europe 6,633 10,776 10,804 8,915 7,200 10,705 10,110 8,451
Eastern Europe 1,972 5,888 6,661 4,616 3,466 5,841 5,135 4,103
Asia 811 828 932 984 1,074 1,049 1,060 1,041
Not allocated 20 49 46 9 46 28 52 21

Beverages, total 9,436 17,541 18,443 14,524 11,786 17,623 16,357 13,616
Other activities - - - - - - - -

Total 9,436 17,541 18,443 14,524 11,786 17,623 16,357 13,616

operating profit before special items

Northern & Western Europe 135 1,570 1,401 847 140 1,740 1,700 657
Eastern Europe 285 1,388 1,637 798 695 1,952 1,550 1,092
Asia 124 117 145 125 155 167 197 147
Not allocated -163 -199 -243 -363 -169 -184 -108 -271

Beverages, total 381 2,876 2,940 1,407 821 3,675 3,339 1,625
Other activities 7 274 114 -21 -33 -20 -35 18

Total 388 3,150 3,054 1,386 788 3,655 3,304 1,643

Special items, net -37 -91 -169 -1,344 -107 -84 -180 -324
Financial items, net -470 -812 -893 -1,281 -904 -546 -767 -773

Profit before tax -119 2,247 1,992 -1,239 -223 3,025 2,357 546
Corporation tax 32 -659 -583 1,522 65 -878 -683 -42

Consolidated profit -87 1,588 1,409 283 -158 2,147 1,674 504

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 42 173 188 172 54 207 183 121
Shareholders in Carlsberg A/S -129 1,415 1,221 111 -212 1,940 1,491 383

Segment reporting 
by quarter
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is to ensure a capital structure which supports long-
term, profitable growth. The capital structure is part 
of the Group’s strategy. The Company’s Articles of 
Association contain no limits on ownership or voting 
rights.

Carlsberg’s share capital has been divided into two 
classes for many years. All shares have the same 
nominal value (DKK 20), but while an A share 
carries 20 votes, a B share carries two votes but is 
entitled to a preferential dividend. Both classes of 
shares are listed on NASDAQ OMx Copenhagen 
A/S, so investors can choose which class they wish 
to invest in. The Supervisory Board believes that 
the division into A shares and B shares, combined 
with the Carlsberg Foundation’s position as majority 
shareholder, has been and will remain advanta-
geous for all of the Company’s shareholders, as this 
structure supports the long-term development of 
the business.

the general Meeting

The General Meeting is the Company’s supreme 
governing body. The Supervisory Board believes 
that it is important that shareholders receive detailed 
information and are provided with an ade quate basis 
for the decisions made at the General Meeting.

Notice of a General Meeting is published in due 
time prior to the meeting, giving the shareholders 
the opportunity to prepare for the General Meet-
ing. All shareholders are entitled to participate in 
the General Meeting and to vote in person or by 
proxy and to put forward proposals for considera-
tion. Any shareholder may give his/her proxy to the 
Supervisory Board or to somebody else attending 
the General Meeting for each individual item on the 
agenda.

Carlsberg’s Supervisory 
Board and Executive Board 

constantly strive to ensure 
that the Group’s management 

structure and control systems 
are appropriate and work satisfac-

torily. A series of internal procedures 
have been developed and are regularly 

updated in order to ensure active, reliable 
and profitable business management. 

With only a few exceptions, the Group’s corp-
orate governance complies with NASDAQ OMx 

Copenhagen A/S’s recommendations for good 
corp orate governance. The exceptions are present-
ed on page 51.

The basis of the Group’s corporate governance 
includes the Danish Companies Act, the Danish 
Financial Statements Act, IFRS, the Danish Secur-
ities Trading Act, NASDAQ OMx Copenhagen 
A/S’s rules and recommendations for issuers, the 
Company’s Articles of Association, and values and 
good practice for companies similar to Carlsberg in 
terms of size and global reach. 

shareholders and the company

Carlsberg aims to provide information and op-
portunities for dialogue to its shareholders through 
regular publication of news, interim reports, annual 
reports and General Meetings. The Company’s 
website is continuously updated with published 
information. Regular teleconferences and meetings 
are also arranged with professional investors.

The Supervisory Board regularly assesses whether 
the Company’s capital structure fulfils the interests 
of the Group and its shareholders. The overall goal 

appropriate  
governance 

Corporate governance  
and risk management

Carlsberg’s Supervisory Board constantly  
strives to ensure that the governance structure  
is appropriate and works satisfactorily.
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provisions governing alterations of the articles  
of association 

In order to pass a resolution to alter the Articles of 
Association or to dissolve the Company which is not 
proposed or endorsed by the Supervisory Board, 
at least one third of the possible number of votes 
representing the total share capital shall be repre-
sented at the General Meeting and the resolution 
shall be passed by three quarters of both the total 
number of votes cast and of the voting share capital 
represented at the General Meeting. If the resolu-
tion is proposed or endorsed by the Supervisory 
Board, a qualified majority of two thirds of both 
the total number of votes cast and of the voting 
share capital represented at the General Meeting is 
required.

If the prescribed portion of the voting share capital 
is not sufficiently represented at the General Meet-
ing but a resolution is nonetheless passed, such 
resolution may be finally passed at an extraordin-
ary General Meeting convened by the Supervisory 
Board within 14 days of the first General Meeting, 
irrespective of the number of votes represented at 
the extraordinary General Meeting. In order for a 
resolution not endorsed by the Supervisory Board 
to be passed successfully at this second General 
Meeting, three quarters of both the total number of 
votes cast and of the voting share capital represent-
ed at the General Meeting must vote in favour of 
the resolution. If the resolution has been endorsed 
by the Supervisory Board, the resolution shall be 
passed by the majority specified.

stakeholders and the company

Carlsberg aims to develop and maintain a good 
relationship with its stakeholders as this is important 
to the Company’s development.

Therefore, the Company has formulated policies for 
a number of key areas, such as communications,  
human resources, environment, and responsibility  
to customers and society in general. One element 
of the Supervisory Board’s work is to ensure both 
compliance with and regular adjustment of these 
policies to reflect developments both inside and out-
side the Company. The Communications Policy and 
related procedures serve to ensure that information 
of importance to investors, employees, authorities 
etc. is made available to them and published in ac-
cordance with applicable rules and regulations.

Communication with investors and equity analysts 
is handled by the Company’s Executive Board, sup-
ported by the Investor Relations department. This 
dialogue includes a comprehensive programme of 
activities in Denmark and abroad, and complies 
with the rules of NASDAQ OMx Copenhagen A/S. 
All investor information is published simultaneous-
ly in English and Danish, and is also distributed 
directly to shareholders and others who have 
requested it immediately following publication. 

Investor presentations are usually made available 
on the Company’s website at the same time as the 
presentations are given.

the composition of the supervisory Board

The General Meeting elects the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board has eight members elected 
by the General Meeting and four members elected 
by Carlsberg employees in accordance with the 
Danish Companies Act.

The members elected by the employees hold the 
same rights and obligations as the members elected 
by the General Meeting and are elected for a term 
of four years. The most recent employee elec-
tions took place in 2006 and the 2010 elections are 
scheduled for March 2010.

Thus the Supervisory Board has a total of 12 mem-
bers. The Supervisory Board finds this number of 
members appropriate.

Five of the members elected by the General Meeting 
are affiliated to the Carlsberg Foundation, the Com-
pany’s principal shareholder, and have an academic 
background, while three members have a business 
background. This composition ensures appropriate 
diversity and breadth in the members’ approach 
to their duties, and the Supervisory Board believes 
that this helps to ensure due deliberation and well-
considered decisions.

The members of the Supervisory Board are elected 
individually. At each Annual General Meeting the 
four longest-serving members elected by the share-
holders step down but may be reelected. Members 
must step down at the first General Meeting after 
they reach the age of 70.

Prior to recommending candidates for election at 
the General Meeting, the Supervisory Board distri-
butes a presentation of each candidate’s back-
ground, relevant competences and any managerial 
positions or positions of responsibility, and the 
Supervisory Board just ifies its recommendations on 
the basis of the recruitment criteria it has laid down.

A description of the composition of the Supervisory 
Board and the individual members’ particular com-
petences with respect to the work of the Supervisory 
Board is found on page 156. None of the members of 
the Supervisory Board are involved in the executive 
management of the Group.

the work of the supervisory Board

The Supervisory Boards of the Parent Company, 
Carlsberg A/S, and of the other companies in the 
Group ensure that their Executive Boards observe 
the goals, strategies and business procedures 
established by the Supervisory Boards. Information 
from the Executive Boards of the various companies 
is provided systematically at meetings as well as in 
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written and oral reports covering areas such as  
external developments and the companies’ per-
formance, profitability and financial position.

The Supervisory Board of Carlsberg A/S held six 
meetings in 2009. The Supervisory Board meets at 
least six times each year including an annual strat-
egy meeting during which the Company’s vision, 
goals and strategy are discussed. In between its 
ordinary meetings, the Supervisory Board receives 
written information on the Company’s operations 
and position, and extraordinary meetings are con-
vened if necessary. The Supervisory Board decides 
on issues such as acquisitions, major investments 
and divestments, the size and composition of the 
Company’s capital base, long-term obligations, 
significant policies, control and audit issues, and 
significant operational matters.

The Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure set out 
the procedures for the Executive Board’s reporting 
to the Supervisory Board and for any other com-
munication between the two bodies. The Rules of 
Procedure are reviewed annually by the Supervisory 
Board and adjusted if required.

The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Super-
visory Board constitute the Chairmanship, which, 
among other things, organises meetings of the 
Supervisory Board in cooperation with the Executive 
Board. The specific duties of the Chairman and – in 
his absence – the Deputy Chairman are set out in 
the Rules of Procedure.

Each year the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
heads a structured evaluation of the Board’s work, ac-
complishments and composition. This evaluation also 
includes the cooperation between the Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Board, and the work, accom-
plishments and composition of the Executive Board.

The Supervisory Board considers regularly – and at 
least once a year – whether its members’ expertise 
should be updated or strengthened with respect to 
their duties.

the audit committee

The Supervisory Board may appoint committees for 
specific purposes. In March 2009, the Supervisory 
Board established an Audit Committee in accord-
ance with the Danish Act on Approved Auditors 
and Audit Firms. From March 2009 to December 
2009, the Audit Committee consisted of the entire 
Supervisory Board. However, from December 2009, 
the Audit Committee consists of three members of 
the Supervisory Board (Jess Søderberg, Chairman, 
Povl Krogsgaard-Larsen and Richard Burrows). Two 
of the three members qualify as being independ-
ent of the Company. The Audit Committee works 
according to terms of reference and a detailed 
meeting plan approved by the Supervisory Board. 
In 2009, the Audit Committee held three meetings 
and a working group established under the Audit 

Committee during 2009 to help organise the Com-
mittee’s work held five meetings. In accordance with 
its terms of reference and annual meeting plan, the 
Audit Committee primarily a) monitors the financial 
reporting process, b) monitors the effect iveness of 
the internal control and risk management systems, 
c) monitors the internal audit function, and d) moni-
tors the external audit of financial reporting and the 
independence of the external audit.

At each meeting, the Audit Committee goes through 
relevant issues with the external auditors and the 
head of Internal Audit, and the Committee may 
also invite other relevant function heads from the 
Carlsberg organisation depending on the topics  
being discussed at the meeting.

the executive Board

The Supervisory Board appoints the CEO and other 
members of the Executive Board. Led by the CEO, 
the Executive Board is responsible for the prepar-
ation and implementation of strategic plans.

The members of the Executive Board are not mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board but attend Super visory 
Board meetings.

remuneration

In order to attract and retain managerial expertise, 
the remuneration of the members of the Executive 
Board and other senior executives is determined on 
the basis of the work they do, the value they cre-
ate and conditions at comparable companies. The 
remuneration includes incentive programmes, which 
are to help align the interests of the Company’s 
management and shareholders, as the programmes 
support both short-term and long-term goals.

The remuneration of the Executive Board comprises 
salary, cash bonuses, share-based payments and 
other usual benefits. The members take out their 
own pension plans.

Neither the Executive Board nor the Supervisory 
Board receives a bonus on the completion of a 
takeover bid. The Executive Board’s terms of notice 
change on the completion of a takeover bid. The 
remuneration of the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board is presented in note 12 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The guidelines 
for the incentive programmes for the Executive 
Board were approved at the Annual General Meet-
ing on 10 March 2008. The guidelines are published 
on Carlsberg’s website. The Supervisory Board of 
Carlsberg A/S is not included in the Company’s 
incentive programmes.

Share option programmes exist for the Group’s Execu-
tive Board and key management employees. The 
programmes entitle them to purchase B shares in 
Carlsberg A/S between three and eight years after the 
options have been granted. The exercise price is the 
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Beer taxation 
As beer consumption is price-sensitive, major  
changes in taxes (excise duties) may have a sig-
nificant impact on demand. In Russia, an extreme 
200% increase in excise duties on beer was im-
plemented in January 2010, and in July 2009 the 
Ukraine implemented a significant increase of 94% 
in beer excise duty. The Group closely monitors the 
risks related to excise duty increases and acts in 
order to limit the potential impact. Carlsberg has 
carried out thorough scenario planning for 2010 
and subsequent years based on already known and 
anticipated increases in beer excise duty levels. The 
scenarios include evaluation of prices, packaging 
and product mix, regional and national market posi-
tions and microeconomic factors such as changes in 
supply/demand balance for various input costs. 

Economic downturn
The economic downturn has affected both consumer  
demand and expenditure patterns to some extent. 
Due to the ongoing challenging market environment, 
the Group accelerated and implemented a large 
number of cost reduction measures in late 2008 and 
early 2009. During 2009, contingency plans were 
implemented to further reduce costs and protect 
profitability. These actions were taken in addition 
to the ongoing efficiency programmes. In 2010, the 
Carlsberg Group will continue to closely monitor the 
economic environment and establish further contin-
gency plans in order to ensure Carlsberg’s ability to 
react to changes in market conditions.

Public regulations 
Several of the Group’s markets operate with restric-
tions on consumer behaviour like advertising regula-
tion and smoking bans. In such markets, changes in 
regulations may, in isolation, be accompanied by a 
decrease in demand. The Group works to limit the 
negative consequences of inappropriate use of al-
coholic products and actively promotes responsible 
sales and consumption. Whilst taking account of the 
regulations, Carlsberg also works to avoid unneces-
sary sales restrictions.

Price risk – materials
Carlsberg’s policy is to have more than one supplier 
of raw materials and packaging for its production 
units around the world in order to mitigate the risk 
of increasing prices. In some areas within cans, 
glass and plastic bottles, there is, however, a certain 
dependence on individual suppliers because of their 
market position. In order to mitigate these risks, 
procurement in Carlsberg has become increasingly 
centralised. Hedging of both volume and price is 
actively used when deemed appropriate, and this in-
cludes the management of long-term Group agree-
ments with key suppliers and fixed price policies. 

Financial risks
The Group’s financial risks include foreign exchange, 
interest rate, credit and liquidity risks. They are 
presented in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

market price during the first five days following the 
publication of the consol idated financial statements 
for the year. The number and value of share options 
granted and outstanding are presented in note 13 to 
the consol idated financial statements.

The option programme is supplemented by 
performance-related bonus schemes covering a 
proportion of the Group’s salaried employees.

risk management

In order to reduce uncertainty, achieve the Group’s 
strategic objectives and ensure value creation for 
all stakeholders, Carlsberg views effective risk 
manage ment as an integral part of running its  
business operations.

Risk is viewed as something that can and should be 
managed, and managed risk is viewed as something 
that can be turned into opportunities.

risk management framework

The Supervisory Board reviews the overall risk 
exposure and the individual risk factors associated 
with the Group’s activities. Such reviews are per-
formed as required and at least once a year. 

The Supervisory Board adopts guidelines for key 
areas of risk, monitors developments and ensures that 
plans are in place for the management of individual 
risk factors, including commercial and financial risks.

The Executive Committee (ExCom) of Carlsberg an-
nually reviews the overall risk exposure associated 
with the Group’s activities and updates the existing 
“heat map” to reflect changes in perceived risks to 
the business. Following this review, a new set of 
high-risk issues for the coming year is identified and, 
in accordance with the Risk Management Policy, 
ExCom identifies risk owners, who have operational 
responsibility for monitoring and controlling the 
risks through a programme of risk-reducing activ-
ities. ExCom will continue to monitor the activities 
throughout 2010 to ensure that sufficient remedial 
action is taken in line with deadlines. 

The current high-risk issues identified within the 
Group are:

Risk can and  
should be managed 
and turned into 
opportunities.
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auditing

To safeguard the interests of shareholders and the 
general public, an independent auditor is appointed 
at the Annual General Meeting following a recom-
mendation from the Supervisory Board. Before 
making its recommendation, the Supervisory Board 
undertakes a critical evaluation of the auditor’s 
independence, competence etc. 

The auditor submits a written report to the assem-
bled Supervisory Board at a minimum twice a year 
and also immediately after identifying any issues of 
which the Supervisory Board should be informed.

internal controls of financial reporting

During 2009, the Group formalised the existing 
processes for risk management and internal control 
of financial reporting based on the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion (COSO) framework. 

The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board 
have overall responsibility for the Group’s control 
environment. The Audit Committee appointed by 
the Supervisory Board is responsible for monitoring 
the internal control system related to the financial 
reporting process on an ongoing basis. 

The Supervisory Board approves a number of pol-
icies and procedures in key areas related to financial 
reporting, including the Code of Conduct, Finance 
and Legal Policy, Risk Management Policy, Treasury 
Policy and Business Ethics Policy. These policies 
and procedures apply to all subsidiaries and similar 
requirements are set out in collaboration with the 
partners of the joint ventures. 

The risk assessment process related to financial 
reporting is approved by the Audit Committee on  
an annual basis. The financial reporting risks related 
to significant accounts in the consolidated financial 
statements are identified based on a top-down, risk-
based approach. Based on the risk assessment, the 
Group has established minimum requirements for 
the conduct and documentation of IT and manual 
control activities to mitigate identified significant 
financial reporting risks. As part of this process, the 
accounting information reported by all of the com-
panies in the Group is reviewed both by controllers 
with regional links and in-depth knowledge of the 
individual companies, and by accounting experts. 
The most important companies in the Group also 
have their own controllers with extensive commer-
cial and/or accounting knowledge and insight.

The Group has established information and com-
munication systems to ensure that accounting and 
internal control compliance are established, includ-
ing finance manual, internal control requirements, 
and controller manual.

THE CARLSBERG FOUNDATION

The Carlsberg Foundation’s (“the 
Foundation”) holding in Carlsberg 
A/S is long term and strategic. 
The Foundation is therefore 
an active, demanding but also 
supportive shareholder. The 
Foundation supports the efforts 
of Carlsberg’s management to 
create value for shareholders and 
other stakeholders by furthering 
the Company’s growth and 
strengthening its profitability.

According to its Charter the 
Foundation must at all times hold 
at least 51% of the votes and more 
than 25% of the share capital of 
Carlsberg A/S. At the end of 2009 
the Foundation held 30% of the 
Company’s share capital. Due to 
the combination of A shares and B 
shares held by the Foundation, it 
had 73% of the votes at the same 
time. The Foundation’s Executive 
Board constitutes an important 
part of Carlsberg A/S’s Supervisory 
Board, of which the Chairman of 
the Foundation is also Chairman. 

The Foundation’s Charter and 
Statutes lay down a number 
of obligations and rights with 
respect to Carlsberg A/S. Thus, 
the Carlsberg Laboratory, which is 
a department of the Foundation 
and a unit within the Carlsberg 
Research Center, receives a grant 
from the Foundation, but the 
Company is required to meet the 
Laboratory’s running costs. The 
Company also has an obligation 
to preserve a number of historical 
buildings on the brewery’s site in 
Valby, Copenhagen.

www.carlsbergfondet.dk
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CARLSBERG’S DEPARTURES FROM NASDAQ OMx COPENHAGEN A/S’S RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that at least half of the 
members of the Supervisory Board elected  
by the General Meeting be independent.  
Any person who has close links with a com-
pany’s main shareholder is not regarded as 
independent (V, 4a).

Five of the eight members of Carlsberg’s Supervisory Board elected by the General Meeting have close 
links with the Company’s principal shareholder, the Carlsberg Foundation, as they make up the Founda-
tion’s Executive Board. Thus, these members are not independent as defined in the recommendations. 
This has been the situation for many years. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the combination 
of members with an academic background and members with a business background ensures appro-
priate breadth in the members’ approach to their duties and helps to ensure careful consideration and 
deliberate decisions.

It is recommended that information be pro-
vided on managerial positions and director-
ships at Danish and foreign companies and 
any other demanding organisational tasks 
performed by members of the Supervisory 
Board (V, 4d, 2).

In its Annual Report, Carlsberg provides information on all significant managerial positions and director-
ships at other companies held by members of the Supervisory Board in Denmark and abroad. Also, 
Carlsberg provides information on demanding organisational tasks performed by members of the 
Supervisory Board.

It is recommended that information be 
provided on shares and options held by the 
individual members of the Supervisory Board 
in the company in question, and on any 
changes in these holdings during the financial 
year (V, 4d, 3).

The members of the Supervisory Board do not hold any options in the Company. The section on share-
holder information in the Annual Report contains information on the Supervisory Board’s total holding of 
shares in the Company, but the Supervisory Board does not consider it useful to disclose information on 
individual members’ holdings. Trading in the Company’s shares by members of the Supervisory Board is 
reported to the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority and published via NASDAQ OMx in accordance 
with the provisions of the Danish Securities Trading Act, and information on this is also available on the 
Company’s website.

It is recommended that the annual report 
contain detailed information on re mun eration 
policy and the remuneration of the individual 
members of the Supervisory Board and the 
Executive Board (VI, 2 and 4-5).

Carlsberg’s Annual Report presents information on the Group’s remuneration schemes, the remuneration
components and the total remuneration of both the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, cf.  
section 69 of the Danish Financial Statements Act. It is not considered useful or reasonable to publish  
information on the remuneration of individuals. Remuneration schemes (including severance agreements) 
and remuneration are believed to be in line with similar companies.

It is recommended that the exercise price for 
options granted be higher than the market 
price at the time they are granted (VI, 3).

In the current share-based option scheme, the exercise price corresponds to the market price during the 
first five days following the publication of the financial statement for the previous year, while the exer-
cise price for share options granted under the long-term incentive programme corresponds to the market 
price during the first five days following the publication of the financial statement for the current year.

The Audit Committee charter outlines its roles and 
responsibilities related to supervision and monitor-
ing of the risk management and internal control 
system related to financial reporting. The monitor-
ing is performed on the basis of periodical report-
ing from the finance organisation, internal and 
external audit.

internal audit

Carlsberg has set up an Internal Audit department 
to ensure objective and independent assessment of 
the adequacy, efficacy and quality of the Group’s 
internal controls. 

Internal Audit’s most important task is to assess 
whether the Group has well-established accounting 
practices, written policies and procedures in all im-
portant business areas, and adequate internal control 
procedures. This includes the assessment of whether 
controls in relation to key IT systems are satisfactory, 
and whether they comply with the IT Policy.

Internal Audit conducts an annual review of busi-
ness risks. On the basis of this and input from 

the Supervisory Board and senior executives in 
the Group, an audit plan is drawn up for the year. 
Internal Audit is responsible for planning, executing 
and reporting on the audit performed. The report-
ing includes observations and conclusions, together 
with suggestions for improvements to the internal 
controls in each area audited. 

corporate governance recommendations

A number of recommendations for corporate  
governance form part of the rules for compa -
nies listed on NASDAQ OMx Copenhagen A/S. 
These recommendations can be found at  
www.nasdaq omx.com/listingcenter/nordicmarket/ 
rulesandregulations/copenhagen. As in other  
European countries, companies must either  
com ply with the recommendations or explain  
any deviation. 

As discussed above, Carlsberg’s corporate govern-
ance complies with these recommendations with 
only a few exceptions. The exceptions are outlined 
and explained below (references in brackets refer to 
the relevant sections of the recommendations).
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Shareholder information
By providing balanced 

and open information to 
the stock market, Carlsberg 

aims to create the best condi-
tions to ensure efficient and fair 

pricing of its shares. 

Carlsberg’s shares are listed on NASDAQ 
OMx Copenhagen A/S in two classes: 

Carlsberg A and Carlsberg B. Each A share 
carries 20 votes, while each B share carries two 

votes but is entitled to a preferential dividend. The 
B share is included in NASDAQ OMx Copenhagen 
A/S’s Nordic Large Cap and OMxC20 blue-chip in-
dices. NASDAQ OMx Copenhagen A/S also operates 
sector indices in accordance with the Global Industry 
Classification Standard, and here the Carlsberg B 
share is included in the Consumer Staples index.

The B share gained 124% in 2009 and ended the 
year at DKK 384, compared to DKK 171.25 at the end 
of 2008. The market value of the Company’s shares 
was DKK 58.8bn at the end of 2009 compared to 
DKK 26.8bn at the end of 2008.

annual general Meeting and dividend
 
The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held 
on Thursday 25 March 2010 at Forum Copenhagen, 
Julius Thomsens Plads 1F, Frederiksberg. The Par-
ent Company has posted a profit for 2009 of DKK 
-86m. The Supervisory Board recommends that 
the Annual General Meeting approve payment of a 
dividend of DKK 3.50 per share. This will as last year 
involve a total payment of DKK 534m.

shareholders

At 31 December 2009, the Company’s largest 
shareholder was the Carlsberg Foundation. In ac-
cordance with section 29 of the Danish Securities 
Trading Act, Franklin Resources Inc., USA (including 

transparent  
inForMation

Franklin Mutual Advisers, LLC and Franklin Tem-
pleton Investment Management Ltd.) has notified 
Carlsberg that it owns more than 5% of the share 
capital. 

At the end of 2009, Carlsberg had more than 
60,000 registered shareholders, together holding 
nominal capital of DKK 2,566m, corresponding to 
84% of the share capital.

Management holdings of carlsberg shares 

At the end of 2009, the members of the Supervisory  
Board held a total of 7,139 B shares in Carlsberg,  
corresponding to a market value of DKK 2.7m, and 
the members of the Executive Board held a total  
of 400 A shares and 8,328 B shares, corresponding 
to a market value of DKK 3.4m. In addition to this, 
the Executive Board have been granted 234,225 
share options, corresponding to a market value  
of DKK 36m.

Members of the Supervisory Board and the Ex-
ecutive Board are included in Carlsberg’s insider 
register and must therefore disclose any trading 
in the Company’s shares. The members and their 
spouses and children under the age of 18 may trade 
in Carlsberg’s shares only during a four-week period 
after the publication of financial statements or 
other similar statements. 

investor relations

Carlsberg aims to give investors and analysts the 
best possible insight into factors considered relevant 
for ensuring efficient and fair pricing of Carlsberg’s 
shares. This is achieved through the quality, consist-
ency and continuity of the information provided by 
Carlsberg to the market.

As part of its investor relations work, Carlsberg main-
tains an active dialogue with both existing and poten-

Carlsberg aims to give investors and analysts  
the best possible insight into factors considered 
relevant for ensuring efficient and fair pricing of 
Carlsberg’s shares.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2010

annual general Meeting

25 March
Annual General Meeting

dividend

25 March
Dividend record date
26 March
Ex-dividend date

Quarterly financial statements

11 May 
Interim results – Q1
17 august 
Interim results – Q2
9 november 
Interim results – Q3

SHAREHOLDERS (FREE FLOAT)

%
End-
2009

End- 
2008

End- 
2007

Denmark 23 23 22

USA 27 22 32
UK 17 15 19
Other 33 40 27

Total 100 100 100
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share price 2009
(DKK per share, Carlsberg B)

SHARE INFORMATION

Share class
Number  

of shares
Carlsberg 

Foundation
Votes per 

share
Par  

value ISIN Bloomberg Reuters
Share price 
end of year

Proposed 
dividend per 

share
A 33,699,252 31,776,807 20 DKK 20 DK001018167-6 CARLA DC CARCa.CO DKK 391.5 DKK 3.5
B 118,857,554 14,487,165 2 DKK 20 DK001018175-9 CARLB DC CARCb.CO DKK 384.0 DKK 3.5
Total 152,556,886 46,263,972

tial shareholders, including domestic and international 
institutional investors as well as private investors. 

The Company’s Investor Relations department hand-
les day-to-day contact with analysts and investors.

Vice President Peter Kondrup, +45 3327 1221
Manager Iben Steiness, +45 3327 1232
investor@carlsberg.com

Carlsberg’s investor website includes both current 
and historical information about the Company and 
its shares, including company announcements, share 
prices, investor presentations, financial calendar, 
quarterly financial statements and annual reports. 

A total of 39 analysts had initiated coverage of 
Carlsberg at the end of 2009, ten of them based in 
Denmark. A list of analysts covering Carlsberg, their 
recommendations and consensus estimates can 
also be found on the investor website.

Carlsberg’s communication with investors, analysts 
and the press is subject to special limitations during 
a four-week period prior to the publication of its  
annual reports and financial statements.

registration and share register 

Shares can be registered in the name of the share-
holder by contacting the depository bank. Registered 
shareholders may receive financial statements, 
annual reports and other shareholder publications 
automatically. All registered shareholders are invited 
to attend Carlsberg’s Annual General Meetings.

Carlsberg’s share register is managed by VP Secur-
ities A/S, Weidekampsgade 14, 2300 Copenhagen S, 
Denmark.
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www.carlsberggroup.com/investor
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Good stories  
between friends



UK
Despite a declining 
and in many respects 
challenging UK 
market in 2009, 
Carlsberg improved 
its performance 
strongly, delivering 
both volume growth 
and significant earn-
ings improvement 
driven by a number of 
successful initiatives.
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Income statement

dkk million Note 2009 2008

revenue 75,676 76,557
excise duties on beer and soft drinks etc. -16,294 -16,613

Net revenue 59,382 59,944

cost of sales 3 -30,197 -31,249

gross profit 29,185 28,695

Sales and distribution expenses 4 -15,989 -17,592
administrative expenses 5 -3,873 -3,934
other operating income 6 554 1,178
other operating expenses 6 -599 -450
Share of profit after tax, associates 17 112 81

operating profit before special items 9,390 7,978

Special items 7 -695 -1,641

financial income 8 609 1,310
financial expenses 8 -3,599 -4,766

profit before tax 5,705 2,881

corporation tax 9 -1,538 312

consolidated profit 4,167 3,193

attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 10 565 572
Shareholders in carlsberg a/S 3,602 2,621

dkk

earnings per share 11
earnings per share 23.6  22.1 
earnings per share, diluted 23.6  22.1 
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Statement of comprehensive income

dkk million Note 2009 2008

profit for the year 4,167 3,193

other comprehensive income:
foreign exchange adjustments of foreign entities 8 -3,135 -8,388
value adjustments of hedging instruments 8, 34, 35 23 -1,552
value adjustments of securities 8 1 115
retirement benefit obligations 25 -382 -46
value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries 30 - 14,745
Share of other comprehensive income in associates 17 31 -
other -6 -9
tax on changes in other comprehensive income 9 39 335

other comprehensive income -3,429 5,200

total comprehensive income 738 8,393

total comprehensive income attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 171 1,777
Shareholders in carlsberg a/S 567 6,616

foreign exchange adjustments arise on the translation of the financial state-
ments of foreign entities with a functional currency other than the group’s 
presentation currency, foreign exchange adjustments of assets and liabilities 
which constitute part of the group’s net investment in a foreign entity and 
foreign exchange adjustments of hedging transactions related to the group’s 
net investment in a foreign entity.

value adjustments of hedging instruments comprise changes in the fair value 
of hedging transactions that qualify for recognition as cash flow hedges and 
for which the hedged transaction has not yet been realised, and hedging 
transactions related to the group’s net investment in foreign entities.   
 

value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiary relates to fair value 
revaluation of assets held by the carlsberg group – and recognised by pro-
portionate consolidation – prior to obtaining complete control over the bbh 
group as a result of the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N in 2008. 
the acquisition of additional ownership interests resulted in control, and in 
accordance with IfrS the acquired net assets were recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. the fair value adjustment of the assets held prior to the 
acquisition was recognised in other comprehensive income.  

carlsberg annual report 2009 61



Statement of financial position

AsseTs

dkk million Note 31 dec. 2009 31 dec. 2008

Non-current assets:
Intangible assets 14, 15 81,611 84,091
property, plant and equipment 15, 16 31,825 34,052
Investments in associates 17 2,667 2,224
Securities 18 94 118
receivables 19 1,604 1,707
deferred tax assets 26 1,483 1,254
retirement benefit plan assets 25 2 2

total non-current assets 119,286 123,448

current assets:
Inventories 20 3,601 5,228
trade receivables 19 5,898 6,369
tax receivables 175 262
other receivables 19 1,750 3,095
prepayments 666 1,211
Securities 18 17 7
cash and cash equivalents 21 2,734 2,857

total current assets 14,841 19,029

assets held for sale 22 388 162

total assets 134,515 142,639
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equiTy ANd liAbiliTies

dkk million Note 31 dec. 2009 31 dec. 2008

equity:
Share capital 23 3,051 3,051
reserves -11,816 -9,063
retained earnings 63,594 60,762

equity, shareholders in carlsberg a/S 54,829 54,750
Non-controlling interests 4,660 5,151

total equity 59,489 59,901

Non-current liabilities:
borrowings 24 36,075 43,230
retirement benefit obligations and similar obligations 25 2,153 1,793
deferred tax liabilities 26 9,688 9,885
provisions 27 1,353 1,498
other liabilities 28 746 263

total non-current liabilities 50,015 56,669

current liabilities:
borrowings 24 3,322 5,291
trade payables 7,929 8,009
deposits on returnable packaging 1,361 1,455
provisions 27 1,092 677
corporation tax 411 279
other liabilities etc. 28 10,845 9,905

total current liabilities 24,960 25,616

liabilities associated with assets held for sale 22 51 453

total liabilities 75,026 82,738

total equity and liabilities 134,515 142,639
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Statement of changes in equity

2009
Shareholders in carlsberg a/S

dkk million
Share  

capital
currency 

translation
hedging 
reserves

available  
for Sale  

investments
total 

reserves
retained 
earnings

total share 
capital and 

reserves

Non- 
controlling 

interests
total 

equity

equity at 1 january 2009 3,051 -7,693 -1,515 145 -9,063 60,762 54,750 5,151   59,901

total comprehensive income 
for the year, cf. separate 
statement - -2,885 131 1 -2,753 3,320 567

  

171

  

738
capital increase - - - - - - - 7 7
acquisition/disposal of 

treasury shares
- - - - - -6 -6 - -6

Share-based payment - - - - - 52 52 - 52
dividends paid to shareholders - - - - - -534 -534 -312 -846
acquisition of non-controlling 

interests - - - - - - - -357 -357

total changes in equity - -2,885 131 1 -2,753 2,832 79 -491 -412

equity at 31 december 2009 3,051 -10,578 -1,384 146 -11,816 63,594 54,829 4,660 59,489

2008
Shareholders in carlsberg a/S

dkk million
Share 

capital
currency 

translation
hedging 
reserves

available  
for Sale  

investments
total 

reserves
retained 
earnings

total share 
capital and 

reserves

Non- 
controlling 

interests
total 

equity

equity at 1 january 2008 1,526 -170 41 26 -103 17,198 18,621 1,323 19,944

total comprehensive income 
for the year, cf. separate 
statement - -7,523 -1,556 119 -8,960 15,576 6,616 1,777 8,393

capital increase 1,525 - - - - 28,413 29,938 15 29,953
acquisition/disposal of 

treasury shares - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Share-based payment - - - - - 31 31 - 31
dividends paid to shareholders - - - - - -458 -458 -265 -723
acquisition of non-controlling 

interests - - - - - - - -87 -87
acquisition of entities - - - - - - - 2,382 2,382
disposal of entities - - - - - - - 6 6

total changes in equity 1,525 -7,523 -1,556 119 -8,960 43,564 36,129 3,828 39,957

equity at 31 december 2008 3,051 -7,693 -1,515 145 -9,063 60,762 54,750 5,151 59,901

the proposed dividend of dkk 3.50 per share, in total dkk 534m (2008: 
dkk 3.50 per share, in total dkk 534m), is included in retained earnings at 
31 december 2009. dividends paid out in 2009 for 2008 amount to dkk 
534m (paid out in 2008 for 2007: dkk 458m), which is dkk 3.50 per share 
(2008: dkk 4.84 per share). dividends paid out to shareholders of carlsberg 
a/S do not impact taxable income in carlsberg a/S.

currency translation comprises accumulated foreign exchange adjustments 
arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign entities 
with a functional currency other than the group’s presentation currency, 
foreign exchange adjustments of assets and liabilities which constitute 
part of the group’s net investment in a foreign entity and foreign exchange 
adjustments of hedging transactions related to the group’s net investment 
in foreign entities. 
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Statement of cash flows

dkk million Note 2009 2008

operating profit before special items 9,390 7,978
adjustment for depreciation and amortisation 3,769 3,628
adjustment for impairment losses1 10 4

operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 13,169 11,610

adjustment for other non-cash items 29 265 -604
change in working capital2 29 3,675 1,556
restructuring costs paid -507 -482
Interest etc. received 255 256
Interest etc. paid -1,852 -3,010
corporation tax paid -1,374 -1,514

cash flow from operating activities 13,631 7,812

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -2,767 -5,292
disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 255 374
change in trade loans 29 -411 -290

total operational investments -2,923 -5,208

acquisition and disposal of entities, net 30 95 -51,438
acquisitions of associates -48 -587
disposals of associates -7 300
acquisition of financial assets3 -11 -961
disposal of financial assets 44 39
change in financial receivables 29 -98 427
dividends received 56 69

total financial investments 31 -52,151

other investments in property, plant and equipment -388 -1,117
disposal of other property, plant and equipment 198 1,323

total other activities 4 -190 206

cash flow from investing activities -3,082 -57,153

free cash flow 10,549 -49,341

Shareholders in carlsberg a/S 29 -540 29,482
Non-controlling interests 29 -591 -549
external financing 5 29 -8,862 21,151

cash flow from financing activities -9,993 50,084

Net cash flow 556 743

cash and cash equivalents at 1 january6 2,065 1,351
foreign exchange adjustment of cash and cash equivalents at 1 january -38 -29

cash and cash equivalents at 31 december6 21 2,583 2,065

1 Impairment losses excluding those reported in Special items.

2 2008 includes dkk 1,065m received regarding an agreement with 
the coca-cola company in june 2008. 

3 2008 includes cost of hedging instruments acquired in 2008 prior to the 
acquisition of part of the activities in S&N.
 
4 other activities cover real estate and assets under construction, separate 
from beverage activities, including costs of construction contracts. 

5 2008 includes loans raised for the financing of the acquisition of part 
of the activities in S&N and repayment of parts of the loan following the 
capital increase. 

6 cash and cash equivalents less bank overdrafts.
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In preparing the carlsberg group’s consolidated financial statements, 
management makes various accounting estimates and assumptions which 
form the basis of presentation, recognition and measurement of the group’s 
assets and liabilities. the most significant accounting estimates and judge-
ments are presented below. the group’s accounting policies are described in 
detail in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

estimation uncertainty

determining the carrying amount of some assets and liabilities requires 
judgements, estimates and assumptions concerning future events.

the judgements, estimates and assumptions made are based on historical 
experience and other factors which management assesses to be reliable, but 
which by their very nature are associated with uncertainty and unpredictabil-
ity. these assumptions may prove incomplete or incorrect, and unexpected 
events or circumstances may arise.

the international economic downturn continued in 2009, causing fluctua-
tions in interest and currency exchange rates, which had a derived effect 
on the general economic situation and led to uncertainties about future 
economic development. the year also saw a general reduction in the con-
sumption of many products, including beverages, and consumers having less 
financial capacity and optimism. the impact on the business development 
and 2009 financials is described in the management review, especially the 
sections describing the segment developments. 

estimates in the consolidated financial statements for 2009 have been given 
special attention to ensure the economic risks and uncertainties are taken 
into consideration. It has been ensured that one-off effects which are not 
expected to exist in the long term do not affect estimation and determina-
tion of factors, including discount rates and expectations of the future.

the assessment of the value of assets acquired in S&N in 2008, including 
breweries, brands and goodwill, should be seen with the long-term perspec-
tive of the investment in mind.

the carlsberg group is also subject to risks and uncertainties which may 
lead to actual results differing from these estimates, both positively and 
negatively. Specific risks for the group are discussed in the relevant sections 
of the management review and in the notes.

assumptions about the future and estimation of uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period are described in the notes when there is a significant 
risk of changes that could result in material adjustments to the carrying 
amount of assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

business combinations.   for acquisitions of new entities, the assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of the acquiree are recognised using the acquisition 
method. the most significant assets acquired generally comprise goodwill, 
trademarks, non-current assets, receivables and inventories. No active market 
exists for the majority of acquired assets and liabilities, in particular in respect 
of acquired intangible assets. accordingly, management makes estimates of 
the fair value of acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. depending 
on the nature of the item, the determined fair value of an item may be associ-
ated with uncertainty and possibly adjusted subsequently.

the unallocated purchase price (positive amounts) is recognised in the 
statement of financial position as goodwill, which is allocated to the group’s 
cash-generating units. management makes estimates of the acquired cash-
generating units, the cash-generating units that already existed in the group 
and the allocation of goodwill. for the acquisition of part of the activities in 
S&N in 2008, the allocation of goodwill was based on the expected future 
cash flows for each activity. as the statement of net interest-bearing debt of 
S&N at 28 april 2008 has not yet been finally completed and agreed with 
the consortium partner, the total cost of acquisition might change. manage-
ment believes that the purchase price accounted for in the consolidated 
financial statements reflects the best estimate of the allocation of debt. any 
change to net interest-bearing debt will most likely be allocated to one or a 
few major activities in the acquisition. 

trademarks.   In business combinations, the value of the trademarks 
acquired and their expected useful lives are assessed based on the trade-
marks’ market position, expected long-term developments in the relevant 
markets and the trademarks’ profitability. the estimated value of acquired 
trademarks includes all future cash flows associated with the trademarks, 
including the value of customer relations etc. related to the trademarks. for 
most entities acquired there is a close relationship between trademarks and 
sales. the consumers’ demand for beer and other beverages drives sales 
and therefore the value of the brand is closely linked to consumer demands, 
while there is no separate value attached to customers (shops, bars etc.) as 
their choice of products is driven by consumer demands.

when the value of a well-established trademark is expected to be main-
tained for an indefinite period in the relevant markets, and these markets are 
expected to be profitable for a long period, the useful life of the trademark is 
determined to be indefinite. In the opinion of management, there is usually 
only a minimal risk of the current situation in the markets reducing the use-
ful life of trademarks, primarily due to the respective market share in each 
market and the current and planned marketing efforts which are helping to 
maintain and increase the value of these trademarks.

for each trademark or group of trademarks, measurement is based on the 
relief from royalty method under which the value is calculated based on ex-
pected future cash flows for the trademarks on the basis of key assumptions 
about expected useful life, royalty rate and growth rate, and a theoretically 
calculated tax effect. a post-tax discount rate is used which reflects the 
risk-free interest rate with the addition of a risk premium associated with the 
particular trademark.

the estimates are based on assessments of the expected useful life of each 
trademark on the basis of its relative local, regional and global market 
strength. this assessment will also influence the estimate of the expected fu-
ture royalty rate that may be obtained for each trademark in a royalty agree-
ment entered into with a third party on market terms for each of the markets.

annual assessment of trademarks.   management performs an annual as-
sessment of whether the current market situation in the relevant market has 
reduced the value or changed the useful lives of trademarks. when there 
is an indication of a reduction in the value or useful life, the trademark is 
tested for impairment and is written down if necessary or the amortisation 
period is reassessed and if necessary changed in line with the trademark’s 
shorter useful life. the impairment test of trademarks is based on the same 
approach used to determine the fair value at the acquisition date. Note 15 
describes the impairment test performed at 31 december 2009.

customer agreements and portfolios in business combinations.   In business 
combinations, the value of acquired customer agreements and customer 
portfolios is assessed based on the local market and trading conditions. 
the relationship between trademarks and customers is carefully considered 
so that trademarks and customer agreements are not both recognised on 
the basis of the same underlying cash flows. usually there is a particularly 
close relationship between trademark and sales, and no separate value for 
customer relations will be recognised in these cases, as these relations are 
closely associated with the value of the acquired trademarks.

Impairment testing.   In performing the annual impairment test of goodwill, 
an assessment is made as to whether the individual units of the entity 
(cash-generating units) to which goodwill relates will be able to gene r-
ate sufficient positive net cash flows in the future to support the value of 
goodwill and other net assets of the entity. the cash-generating units are 
determined based on group structure, linkage of the cash flows between 
entities and the individual entities’ integration in regions or sub-regions. the 
structure and cash-generating units are reassessed each year. 

the estimates of future free cash flows (value in use) are based on budgets 
and business plans for the next three years and projections for subsequent 
years. key parameters are revenue growth, operating margin, future capital 
expenditure and growth expectations beyond the next three years. budgets 
and business plans for the next three years are based on concrete commer-
cial initiatives. projections beyond the next three years are based on general 
expectations and risks.

NOTe 1   SIgNIfIcaNt accouNtINg eStImateS aNd judgemeNtS

Notes
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the cash flows used incorporate the effect of relevant future risks, and 
accordingly these risks are not incorporated in the discount rates used. 
potential upsides and downsides identified during the budget process and 
in the daily business are reflected in scenarios for possible future cash flows 
for each individual cash-generating unit. the scenarios reflect, among other 
things, factors such as assumptions on market, price developments and 
input cost developments. budgets and business plans do not incorporate the 
effect of future restructurings and non-contracted capacity increases.

pre-tax discount rates which reflect the risk-free borrowing interest rate in 
each particular geographical area for the cash-generating units are used to 
calculate recoverable amounts.

estimates of future earnings from trademarks with an indefinite useful life 
are made using the same approach used to measure trademarks in busi-
ness combinations, cf. above. assessment of indications of impairment of 
trademarks with indefinite useful lives is based on the group’s total royalty 
income for each trademark.

management performs an annual test for indications of impairment of 
trademarks with a finite useful life other than the decrease in value reflected 
by amortisation. Impairment tests are conducted in the same way as for 
trademarks with an indefinite useful life when there is an indication that 
the assets may be impaired. due to the economic downturn some of the 
recently acquired trademarks with a finite useful life experienced a decline 
in revenue. these trademarks have been impairment-tested using the same 
model as for trademarks with an indefinite useful life. the test resulted in an 
impairment loss on trademarks with finite useful life of dkk 37m. 

the discount rate is an after-tax wacc calculated country by country based 
on long-term expectations for each trademark.

for a description of impairment testing for intangible assets, see note 15.

discount and growth rates applied for 2009.   at year-end 2009, some 
risk-free interest rates – in particular short-term interest rates – were still im-
pacted by the economic crisis. Investments in the group’s entities (goodwill) 
and trademarks are expected to be maintained for an indefinite period of 
time, which should be reflected in the discount rate. the discount rates used 
are based on the expectation that the financial markets will stabilise again 
in the long term, and the risk premium for the risk-free interest rate (spread) 
is fixed somewhat lower than the current market level and slightly higher 
than the market level in spring/summer 2008. 

for each country the applied growth rates for projections and discount rates 
are compared to ensure a reasonable link between the two (real interest rate).

fair value of property, plant and equipment.   In business combinations, the 
fair value of land and buildings, standard production and office equipment 
is based, as far as possible, on the fair value of assets of similar type and 
condition that may be bought and sold in the open market. 

property, plant and equipment for which there is no reliable evidence in 
the market of the fair value (in particular breweries, including production 
equipment) are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method. this 
method is based on the replacement cost of a similar asset with similar 
functionality and capacity. the calculated replacement cost for each asset is 
then reduced to reflect functional and physical obsolescence.

the expected synergies and the user-specific intentions for the expected use 
of assets are not included in the determination of the fair value.

for a description of impairment testing for property, plant and equipment, 
see note 15.

useful lives and residual values for intangible assets with finite useful life 
and property, plant and equipment.   Intangible assets with finite useful 
life and property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumu-
lated amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses. amortisation and 
depreciation are recognised on a straight-line basis over the expected useful 
lives, taking into account any residual value. the expected useful lives and 

residual values are determined based on past experience and expectations 
of the future use of the assets. reassessment of the expected future use is 
as a minimum made in connection with an evaluation of changes in produc-
tion structure, restructuring and brewery closures. the expected future use 
and residual values may not be realised, which will require reassessment 
of useful lives and residual values and recognition of impairment losses or 
losses on disposal of non-current assets. the amortisation and depreciation 
periods used are described in the accounting policies in note 40 and the 
value of non-current assets is specified in notes 14 and 16.

for operating equipment in the on-trade, a physical inspection of assets is 
made and the continuing use evaluated in order to assess any indications of 
impairment.

restructurings.   In connection with restructurings management reassesses 
useful lives and residual values for non-current assets used in the entity un-
dergoing restructuring. the extent and amount of onerous contracts as well 
as employee and other obligations arising in connection with the restructur-
ing are also estimated.

deferred tax assets.   the carlsberg group recognises deferred tax assets, 
including the expected tax value of tax loss carryforwards, if management 
assesses that these tax assets can be offset against positive taxable income 
in the foreseeable future. this judgement is made annually and based on 
budgets and business plans for the coming years, including planned com-
mercial initiatives. 

receivables.   receivables are measured at amortised cost less impairment.

write-downs are made for bad debt losses due to inability to pay. If the abil-
ity to pay deteriorates in the future, further write-downs may be necessary. 
management performs analysis on the basis of customers’ expected ability 
to pay at the end of the reporting period, historical information on payment 
patterns and doubtful debts, and customer concentrations, customers’ cred-
itworthiness, including the impact of the economic downturn on the markets 
in general as well as on the individual customer, collateral received and the 
financial situation in the group’s sales channels.

with regard to loans to the on-trade, the individual group companies man-
age and control these loans as well as standard trade credits in accordance 
with group guidelines.

derecognition of groups of receivables, e.g. in business combinations or 
other structured transactions, is based on management’s judgement of 
contractual terms and other factors related to the transaction. 

write-downs made are expected to be sufficient to cover losses. the finan-
cial uncertainty associated with write-downs for bad debt losses is usually 
considered to be limited. as a result of the international economic crisis, the 
risk of bad debt losses has increased. this has been taken into consideration 
in the assessment of impairment at the end of the reporting period and in 
the general management and monitoring of usual trade credits and loans to 
the on-trade.

retirement benefit obligations and similar obligations.   when calculating 
the value of the carlsberg group’s defined benefit plans, a number of sig-
nificant actuarial assumptions are made, including discount rates, expected 
return on plan assets, expected growth in wages and salaries, mortality and 
retirement benefits. the range and weighted average for these assumptions 
are disclosed in note 25.

the value of the group’s defined benefit plans is based on valuations from 
external actuaries.

provisions and contingencies.   management assesses provisions, contin-
gent assets and contingent liabilities and the likely outcome of pending or 
probable lawsuits etc. on an ongoing basis. the outcome depends on future 
events that are by nature uncertain. In assessing the likely outcome of law-
suits and tax disputes etc., management bases its assessment on external 
legal assistance and established precedents. In connection with large re-
structurings, management assesses the timing of costs to be incurred, which 

NOTe 1   SIgNIfIcaNt accouNtINg eStImateS aNd judgemeNtS – coNtINued
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influences the classification as current or non-current liabilities respectively. 
provision for losses on onerous procurement contracts is based on agreed 
terms with the supplier and expected fulfilment of the contract based on the 
current estimate of volumes and use of raw materials. 

warranty provisions are based on the substance of the agreements entered 
into, including the guarantees issued covering customers in the on-trade.

provisions are disclosed in note 27 and contingent liabilities in note 37.

assessment in applied accounting policies

In applying the group’s accounting policies, management makes judgements 
which may significantly influence the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

Such judgements include classification of shareholdings, including joint ven-
tures, classification and recognition of financial instruments, recognition of 
revenue and excise duties, recognition of revenue from real estate projects, 
timing of the recognition of revenue and costs relating to loans to the on-
trade, use of special items, measurement of inventories and classification of 
lease agreements.

business combinations.   when accounting for business combinations and 
new cooperation agreements, judgement is made concerning the classifica-
tion of the acquired entity as a subsidiary, joint venture or associate. this 
judgement is made on the basis of the agreements entered into on the 
acquisition of ownership interests or voting rights in the entity and on the 
basis of shareholder agreements etc. stipulating the actual level of influence 
over the entity.

this classification is significant, as the recognition of proportionally con-
solidated joint ventures impacts the financial statements differently from 
full consolidation of subsidiaries or recognition of associates using the 
equity method. any amendment of IfrS preventing the use of proportional 
consolidation would therefore have an impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. the effect has been limited considerably following the acquisi-
tion of control over the entities in the former bbh group in connection 
with the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N in 2008. key figures for 
proportionally consolidated entities are disclosed in note 33.

financial instruments.   when entering into financial instruments, manage-
ment assesses whether the instrument is an effective hedge of recognised 
assets and liabilities, expected future cash flows or financial investments. 
the hedge effectiveness of recognised hedge instruments is assessed at least 
monthly, and any ineffectiveness is recognised in the income statement.

revenue recognition.   revenue from the sale of finished goods and goods 
for resale is recognised when the risk has been transferred to the buyer. 
revenue is measured excluding vat and duties, including excise duties on 
beer and soft drinks, and discounts.

management assesses the local rules on the imposition of duties for the 
purpose of classification either as sales-related duties, which are deducted 
from revenue, or as part of cost of sales.

customer discounts are recognised in the same period as the sales to which 
they relate. customer discounts are deducted from revenue. customer 
discounts based on accumulated sales volumes over a period of time are 
calculated on the basis of expected total sales based on experience from 
previous sales, sales up to that date and other current information about 
trading with the customer. these calculations are performed by manage-
ment in cooperation with sales managers.

recognition of real estate projects.   when entering into contracts, manage-
ment makes judgements as to whether the individual real estate project is 
sufficiently modified for the percentage of completion method to apply. at 
the end of 2009 all projects are accounted for using the sales method, under 
which gains on disposal of real estate are recognised when the real estate is 
transferred to the buyer. the selling price of real estate projects less produc-
tion costs is recognised under other operating income.

loans to the on-trade.   under certain circumstances the carlsberg group 
grants loans to on-trade customers in some markets. the agreements are 
typically complex and cover several aspects of the relationship between 
the parties. management assesses the recognition and classification of 
income and expenses for each of these agreements, including the allocation 
of revenue from the loan between income, customer discounts and other 
operating income. management also assesses whether developments of 
importance to the on-trade could indicate impairment of on-trade loans in 
a country/market in general. Special attention is paid to changes following 
the economic downturn and its effect on the individual markets and seg-
ments. Such developments also include changes in local legislation, which 
may have an adverse effect on the earnings in the industry as a whole, and 
where the effect cannot be allocated to individual loans.

Special items.   the use of special items entails management judgement in 
the separation from other items in the income statement, cf. the account-
ing policies. Special items constitute items of income and expenses which 
cannot be attributed directly to the group’s ordinary operating activities but 
concern fundamental structural or process-related changes in the group and 
any associated gains or losses on disposal. management carefully considers 
such changes in order to ensure the correct distinction between the group’s 
operating activities and restructuring of the group carried out to enhance the 
group’s future earnings potential.

Special items also include other significant non-recurring items, such as 
impairment of goodwill and trademarks.

Inventories.   the cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises the 
cost of raw materials, consumables, direct labour and indirect production 
overheads. Indirect production overheads comprise indirect supplies, wages 
and salaries as well as maintenance and depreciation of the machinery, 
plant and equipment used for production, and costs of plant administration 
and management. entities in the carlsberg group which use standard costs 
in the measurement of inventories review these costs at least once a year. 
the standard cost is also revised if it deviates by more than 5% from the 
actual cost of the individual product. 

Indirect production overheads are calculated on the basis of relevant as-
sumptions as to capacity utilisation, production time and other factors 
pertaining to the individual product.

the net realisable value of inventories is calculated as the selling price less 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale, and is determined 
taking into account marketability, obsolescence and developments in ex-
pected selling price. the calculation of net realisable value is mainly relevant 
to packing materials, packaging and spare parts. Net realisable value is not 
normally calculated for beer and soft drinks because their limited shelf life 
means that slow-moving goods must be scrapped instead. following the 
economic downturn, the individual entities in the group have paid special  
attention to inventory turnover and the remaining shelf life when determin-
ing net realisable value and scrapping. 

leases and service contracts.   the carlsberg group has entered into a 
number of leases and service contracts. when entering into these agree-
ments, management considers the substance of the service being rendered 
in order to classify the agreement as either a lease or a service contract. In 
making this judgement, particular importance is attached to whether fulfil-
ment of the agreement depends on the use of specific assets. the group’s 
leases and significant service contracts are disclosed in notes 37 and 38.

for leases an assessment is made as to whether the lease is a finance lease 
or an operating lease. the carlsberg group has mainly entered into operat-
ing leases for standardised assets with a short duration relative to the life of 
the assets, and accordingly the leases are classified as operating leases.

NOTe 1   SIgNIfIcaNt accouNtINg eStImateS aNd judgemeNtS – coNtINued
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2009

dkk million
Northern & 

western europe
eastern 
europe asia

Not 
allocated

beverages, 
total

Non- 
beverage

carlsberg 
group, total

Income statement:
Net revenue 36,434 18,543 4,224 181 59,382 - 59,382
Intra-segment revenue 32 2 - -34 - - -

total net revenue 36,466 18,545 4,224 147 59,382 - 59,382

Share of profit/loss after tax in associates 7 -5 102 - 104 8 112

operating profit before special items 4,237 5,289 666 -732 9,460 -70 9,390

Special items -262            -433 -695
financial items, net -2,980 -10 -2,990

profit before tax 6,218 -513 5,705
corporation tax -1,561 23 -1,538

consolidated profit 4,657 -490 4,167

ebIt margin 11.6% 28.5% 15.8% 15.9% 15.8%

dkk million

other segment items:
total assets 50,183 69,002 7,368 -4,667 121,886 12,629 134,515
Invested capital, cf. note 31 28,466 63,270 5,154 464 97,354 12,184 109,538
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets 1,400 879 258 230 2,767 388 3,155
depreciation and amortisation 2,119 1,349 208 77 3,753 16 3,769
Impairment losses 73 17 2 - 92 - 92
 

the group’s activities are segmented on the basis of geographical regions in 
accordance with the management reporting structure.  
 
for segment reporting purposes, the chief operating decision maker is the 
executive committee. the executive committee manages and makes busi-
ness decisions based on geographical regional information. Segments are 
managed and decisions are made based on business performance measured 
as operating profit before special items. decisions on financing and tax plan-
ning are made based on information for the group as a whole and therefore 
not segmented. the “Not allocated” segment relates mainly to headquar-
ters functions which consist of management fees, royalty charges, central 
marketing, sponsorships, receivables etc. and of eliminations. Intra-segment 
revenue is based on arm’s length prices. the non-beverage activities are 
managed separately and therefore also shown separately. the segmenta-
tion reflects the structure used for internal reporting and monitoring of the 
strategic and financial targets of the group. 
 

a segment’s operating profit/loss before special items includes revenue, 
operating costs and share of profit/loss in associates to the extent that they 
can be allocated directly to the individual segment. Income and expenses 
related to group functions have not been allocated and, as is the case with 
eliminations and non-brewing activities, are not included in the operating 
profit/loss before special items of the segments. 
 
Non-current segment assets comprise intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment used directly in the operating activities of the segment. cur-
rent segment assets are allocated to the segments to the extent that they 
can be allocated directly to the individual segment, including inventories, 
trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments. allocated goodwill 
and trademarks by segment are specified in note 15. 

Not allocated net revenue, dkk 147m, consists of dkk 973m net revenue 
from other companies and activities and dkk -826m from eliminations of 
sales between these other companies and the segments. 

Not allocated operating profit before special items, dkk -732m, consists of dkk 
-748m from other companies and activities and dkk 16m from eliminations.

Special items are affected by intra-group sale between a company within 
the beverage activity and a company within other activities which is elimi-
nated at group level.

Not allocated total assets, dkk -4,667m, comprise entities that are not busi-
ness segments and eliminations of investments in subsidiaries, receiv ables, 
loans etc. 
 

NOTe 2   SegmeNt INformatIoN
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NOTe 2   SegmeNt INformatIoN – coNtINued

Not allocated net revenue, dkk 124m, consists of dkk 894m net revenue 
from other companies and activities and dkk -770m from eliminations of 
sales between these other companies and the segments. 
 

Not allocated operating profit before special items, dkk -968m, consists of 
dkk -964m from other companies and activities and dkk -4m from elimi-
nations.

Not allocated total assets, dkk 5,958m, comprise entities that are not busi-
ness segments and eliminations of investments in subsidiaries, receivables, 
loans etc. 
 

2008

dkk million
Northern & 

western europe
eastern 
europe asia

Not 
allocated

beverages, 
total

Non- 
beverage

carlsberg 
group, total

Income statement:
Net revenue 37,059 19,136 3,552 197 59,944 - 59,944
Intra-segment revenue 69 1 3 -73 - - -

total net revenue 37,128 19,137 3,555 124 59,944 - 59,944

Share of profit/loss after tax in associates 15 7 50 - 72 9 81

operating profit before special items 3,953 4,108 511 -968 7,604 374 7,978

Special items -1,641 - -1,641
financial items, net -3,455 -1 -3,456

profit before tax 2,508 373 2,881
corporation tax 383 -71 312

consolidated profit 2,891 302 3,193

ebIt margin 10.6% 21.5% 14.4% 12.7% 13.3%

dkk million

other segment items:
total assets 45,556 71,351 6,803 5,958 129,668 12,971 142,639
Invested capital, cf. note 31 31,493 68,771 5,485 351 106,100 12,543 118,643
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets 2,517 2,149 391 235 5,292 1,117 6,409
depreciation and amortisation 2,124 1,240 183 68 3,615 13 3,628
Impairment losses 336 - - - 336 - 336

Information on geographical allocation  
of net revenue and non-current assets

Net revenue Non-current assets

2009 2008 2009 2008

denmark (carlsberg a/S’s domicile) 4,847 4,838 2,298 2,384
russia 15,580 13,671 59,349 37,047
other countries 38,955 41,435 57,639 84,017

total 59,382 59,944 119,286 123,448

the geographical allocation is made on the basis of the selling countries’ 
domicile and comprises countries each accounting for more than 10%  
of the group’s consolidated net revenue as well as that of the domicile 
country.

Non-current assets comprise non-current assets other than financial instru-
ments, deferred tax assets and retirement benefit plan.

Information on major customers.   the carlsberg group does not have any 
customers that account for more than 10% of the group’s net revenue.

NOTe 3     coSt of SaleS

dkk million 2009 2008

cost of materials 16,981 16,879
direct staff costs 1,270 1,508
machinery costs 818 920
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 2,581 2,513
Indirect production overheads 3,353 3,131
purchased finished goods and other costs 5,194 6,298

total 30,197 31,249

of which staff costs, cf. note 12 2,529 2,535
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NOTe 4   SaleS aNd dIStrIbutIoN expeNSeS

NOTe 5   feeS to audItorS appoINted by the aNNual geNeral meetINg

dkk million 2009 2008

marketing expenses 4,508 5,304
Sales expenses 4,837 4,899
distribution expenses 6,644 7,389

total 15,989 17,592

of which staff costs, cf. note 12 4,517 4,440

dkk million 2009 2008

kpmg:
Statutory audit 29 43
assurance engagements 1 10
tax advisory 5 10
other services 5 25

the statutory audit fees have decreased compared to 2008, which included 
the audit of the opening balances of each of the acquired entities in the 
acquisition of part of the activities in S&N.  
 
In 2009 assurance engagements included fees for assurances in relation 
to the bond issue and other opinions to third parties. tax advisory services 
mainly related to fees for assistance on group restructuring projects and 
general tax consultancy. 

In 2008 assurance engagements included fees for audit opinions issued in 
connection with the rights issue and the capital increase as well as other 
opinions to third parties. tax advisory services related to the S&N transac-
tion and general tax consultancy. other services included assistance in the 
acquisition of part of the activities in S&N, including due diligence related to 
the acquisition, advisory services related to the separation of the acquired 
entities and other services related to the capital increase in carlsberg a/S in 
june 2008.

NOTe 6   other operatINg INcome aNd expeNSeS

dkk million 2009 2008

other operating income:
gains on disposal of real estate under other activities 60 487
gains on disposal of real estate within beverage activities 61 69
gains on disposal of other property, plant and equipment and intangible assets within beverage activities 40 212
Interest and amortisation of on-trade loans 103 105
rental income, real estate 53 65
funding and grants received for research and development activities 23 21
other 214 219

total 554 1,178

other operating expenses:
loss on disposal of real estate within beverage activities -10 -
loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment and intangible assets within beverage activities -61 -44
losses and write-downs on on-trade loans -97 -45
real estate costs -98 -95
expenses relating to research centres -167 -152
other -166 -114

total -599 -450

of which staff costs, cf. note 12 -90 -106

recognised gains on construction contracts comprise:
construction contract revenue for work performed during the year - 184
production costs - -107

total - 77

gains on construction contracts are recognised under gains on disposal of 
real estate under other activities and comprise a construction contract for 
owner-occupied property. the construction contract was completed and the 
real estate delivered in 2008.  
 
other operating income in 2008 included gains on disposal of trademarks of 
dkk 149m. 

funding and grants received for research and development activities include 
funding from the carlsberg foundation of dkk 14m (2008: dkk 11m) for the 
operation of the carlsberg laboratory. 
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Special items constitute significant items that cannot be attributed directly to 
the group’s ordinary operating activities and are significant over time. 

NOTe 7   SpecIal ItemS

dkk million 2009 2008

gain on sale of braunschweig brauerei and fighter brand activities, carlsberg deutschland  
(2008: impairment of brewery) 49 -135

Impairment of finite brands -37 -
Impairment (2008) and restructuring of leeds brewery, carlsberg uk -67 -197
loss on disposal of türk tuborg - -232
relocation costs, termination benefits and impairment of non-current
  assets in connection with new production structure in denmark -40 -19
termination benefits and impairment of non-current assets
   in connection with new production structure at Sinebrychoff, finland -20 -30
provision for onerous procurement contracts -175 -245
termination benefits etc. in connection with operational excellence programmes -31 -150
termination benefits in connection with restructuring of sales force, logistics and administration, carlsberg uk -34 -
termination benefits etc., carlsberg Italia -56 -93
termination benefits etc. in connection with restructuring, brasseries kronenbourg, france -95 -291
termination benefits in connection with restructuring, carlsberg deutschland -72 -
restructuring, ringnes, Norway - -26
other restructuring costs etc., other entities -100 -154
Integration costs related to acquisition of part of the activities in S&N -17 -69

Special items, net -695 -1,641

If special items had been recognised in operating profit before special items,  
they would have been included in the following items:
cost of sales -353 -919
Sales and distribution expenses -157 -114
administrative expenses -179 -226
other operating income 94 27
other operating expenses -100 -409

-695 -1,641
Impairment of goodwill - -

Special items, net -695 -1,641
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financial items recognised in other comprehensive income

dkk million 2009 2008

foreign exchange adjustments of foreign entities:
foreign currency translation of foreign entities -3,146 -8,319
recycling of cumulative translation differences related  

to foreign entities disposed of in the year to income statement 11 -69

total -3,135 -8,388

value adjustments of hedging instruments:
cash flow hedges, efficient portion of changes in fair value -311 -1,984
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to income statement 450 -27
Net investment hedges, net change in fair value -116 459
Net change in fair value of net investment hedges transferred to income statement - -

total 23 -1,552

value adjustments of securities:
Securities, net change in fair value 1 -33
Net change in fair value of securities transferred to income statement - -21
Net change in fair value of securities transferred to associates - 169

total 1 115

Net financial items recognised in other comprehensive income -3,111 -9,825

total net financial items recognised in comprehensive income -6,101 -13,281

Interest expenses primarily relate to interest on borrowings measured at 
amortised cost. 
 
Interest, losses and write-downs from trade loans, which are measured at 
amortised cost, are included as revenue in other operating income (note 6), 
as such loans are seen as a prepaid discount to the customer.  

In 2008 other financial expenses mainly consisted of payment to establish 
credit facilities and the fee for unutilised draws on these facilities. approxi-
mately dkk 315m of the total financial expenses related to up-front and 
commitment fees etc. for establishing of financing related to the acquisition 
of part of the activities in S&N.
 

In addition, in 2008 fair value adjustments of financial instruments were af-
fected by dkk 110m related to the inefficient portion of the currency options 
acquired to hedge the gbp exposure on the S&N transaction.  

the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation as part of self-constructed qualifying assets is 
6.0%. the rate is a weighted average of borrowing costs as the group has 
no specific borrowings to finance the qualifying assets. 

In 2009 no interest has been capitalised as part of self-constructed qualify-
ing assets (2008: dkk 0m). 

NOTe 8   fINaNcIal INcome aNd fINaNcIal expeNSeS

financial items recognised in the income statement

dkk million 2009 2008

financial income:
Interest income 211 249
dividends from securities 6 21
fair value adjustments of financial instruments, net, cf. note 35 80 556
realised gains on disposal of associates and securities 3 126
expected return on plan assets, defined benefit plans 270 308
other financial income 39 50

total 609 1,310

financial expenses:
Interest expenses -2,372 -2,635
realised foreign exchange losses, net -581 -1,358
realised losses on disposal of securities -41 -5
Impairment of financial assets -119 -3
Interest cost on obligations, defined benefit plans -342 -340
other financial expenses -144 -425

total -3,599 -4,766

Net financial items recognised in the income statement -2,990 -3,456

Interest income relates to interest from cash and cash equivalents measured at 
amortised cost.
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NOTe 9   corporatIoN tax

dkk million 2009 2008

tax for the year comprises:
current tax on profit for the year 1,584 1,072
change in deferred tax during the year -17 -227
change in deferred tax from change in tax rate  -26 -1,508
adjustments to tax for previous years  -42 16

tax on comprehensive income for the year 1,499 -647

of which recognised in other comprehensive income:
deferred tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income 82 334
tax for the year on items recognised in other comprehensive income -23 1
adjustments to tax for previous years -20 0

tax on other comprehensive income for the year 39 335

tax on profit for the year recognised in income statement 1,538 -312

reconciliation of the effective tax rate for the year:
tax rate in denmark 25.0% 25.0%
change in tax rate, foreign subsidiaries -0.4% -52.3%
differences in tax rates, foreign subsidiaries -2.6% -3.6%
adjustments to tax for previous years -1.1% -0.4%
Non-capitalised tax assets, net movements 2.1% 10.2%
Non-taxable income -0.7% -0.6%
Non-deductible expenses 3.7% 5.4%
tax incentives etc. -2.4% -4.5%
Special items/tax in associates 1.1% 2.8%
withholding taxes 2.3% 7.4%
other 0.0% -0.2%

effective tax rate for the year 27.0% -10.8%

tax recognised in other comprehensive income:

2009 2008

dkk million

recognised 
item  

before tax

tax 
(expense) 

benefit
Net  

of tax

recognised 
item before 

tax

tax 
(expense) 

benefit
Net  

of tax

foreign exchange adjustments -3,135 - -3,135 -8,388 - -8,388
hedging instruments 23 -38 -15 -1,552 325 -1,227
Securities 1 - 1 115 4 119
retirement benefit obligations -382 75 -307 -46 6 -40
Share of other comprehensive income in associates 31 - 31 - - -
value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiary - - - 14,745 - 14,745
other -6 2 -4 -9 - -9

total -3,468 39 -3,429 4,865 335 5,200

dkk million 2009 2008

the change in deferred tax recognised in the income statement can be broken down as follows:
tax losses -939 2,436
deferred tax from change in tax rate -26 -1,508
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment etc. 1,004 -2,328

change in deferred tax recognised in the income statement 39 -1,400

change in tax rate in foreign subsidiaries in 2008 mainly relates to the reduc-
tion of the corporate tax rate in russia in 2009 from 24% to 20%. 
 

adjustment to tax for previous years, dkk -20m, is included in the tax ex-
pense for hedging instruments.

74 carlsberg group



In 2008 carlsberg adjusted the calculation of basic and diluted earnings 
per share for the current year as well as the comparative years in accord-
ance with IaS 33 earnings per Share. the standard requires that if the 
number of ordinary shares outstanding increases as a result of a bonus 
element in a rights issue to existing shareholders, the per share calculation 
for the current and any prior periods presented shall be based on the new 
number of shares.  

as the carlsberg rights issue in may 2008 was offered to all existing 
shareholders, the number of ordinary shares to be used in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share for all periods prior to the rights issue is 
the number of ordinary carlsberg b shares outstanding before the issue, 
multiplied by an adjustment factor calculated as the fair value of b shares 
in carlsberg a/S immediately before the exercise of rights divided by the 
theoretical ex-rights fair value per share. 

the theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is calculated by adding the 
aggregate market value of the shares immediately before the exercise of 
the rights to the proceeds from the exercise of the rights, and dividing by 
the number of shares outstanding after the exercise of the rights. 
 
the closing price of carlsberg’s b share on 21 may 2008 was dkk 651. 

the price of carlsberg’s new b shares, cf. prospectus published on 15 may 
2008, was dkk 400. 

resulting adjustment factors:
exercise price: 1.23882017 
 

diluted earnings per share exclude from the calculation 913,743 share 
options (2008: 1,577,786) that do not have a dilutive effect due to the 
sum of the exercise price and the fair value of the options at grant date 

being higher than the average market price of the carlsberg b share in 
the year.  

NOTe 10   NoN-coNtrollINg INtereStS

NOTe 11   earNINgS per Share

dkk million 2009 2008

Non-controlling interests’ share of profit for the year relates to the following:
baltika breweries 413 445
other entities in eastern europe 23 -40
Northern & western europe 37 73
carlsberg brewery malaysia berhad 58 57
other entities in asia 34 35
other, non-beverage - 2

total 565 572

dkk million 2009 2008

consolidated profit 4,167 3,193
Non-controlling interests -565 -572

Shareholders in carlsberg a/S 3,602 2,621

1,000 shares

average number of shares 152,550 118,785
average number of treasury shares -7 -7

average number of shares outstanding 152,543 118,778
average dilutive effect of outstanding share options 104 -

diluted average number of shares outstanding 152,647 118,778

dkk

earnings per share of dkk 20 (epS)  23.6  22.1 
diluted earnings per share of dkk 20 (epS-d)  23.6  22.1 
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NOTe 12    Staff coStS aNd remuNeratIoN of the SupervISory board, 
the executIve board aNd other executIve employeeS

dkk million 2009 2008

Salaries and other remuneration 7,467 6,831
Severance pay 264 198
Social security costs 1,077 988
retirement benefit costs – defined contribution plans 170 155
retirement benefit costs – defined benefit plans 115 90
Share-based payment 52 31
other employee benefits 79 421

total 9,224 8,714

Staff costs are included in the following items in the income statement:
cost of sales 2,579 2,535
Sales and distribution expenses 4,517 4,440
administrative expenses 1,644 1,517
other operating expenses 90 106
Special items (restructuring) 394 116

total 9,224 8,714

the group had an average of 43,271 (2008: 45,505) full-time employees  
during the year.  
 

2009 2008

dkk million
group 

executive board
executive 

employees
group 

executive board
executive 

employees

remuneration of group executive board  
and executive employees:
Salaries and other remuneration 30 65 27 53
retirement benefit costs - 4 - 3
Share-based payment 6 13 3 3

total 36 82 30 59

following the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N the salary to the 
group executive board increased as of may 2008. the salary and other re-
muneration have not increased during 2009 and will not increase during 2010.

remuneration of the group executive board and executive employees is 
based on a fixed salary and cash bonus payments of up to 60% of the fixed 
salary and non-monetary benefits such as company car, telephone etc. 
furthermore, share option programmes and incentive schemes have been 
established for the group executive board, executive employees and other 
key management personnel as defined in note 13. these programmes and 
schemes cover a number of years. 

employment contracts for members of the group executive board contain 
terms and conditions that are considered common to executive board 
members in danish listed companies, including terms of notice and non-
competition clauses. 

In respect of other benefits and bonus schemes, the remuneration of direc-
tors in foreign subsidiaries is based on local terms and conditions. 
 
executive employees comprise members of the executive committee, Senior 
vice presidents and vice presidents heading group functions at carlsberg’s 
headquarters in copenhagen, a total of 18 persons (2008: 21 persons), who, 
directly or indirectly, have influence over and responsibility for planning, 
implementing and controlling the group’s activities.

the Supervisory board of carlsberg a/S received remuneration of dkk 6m 
(2008: dkk 6m) for duties performed in the company and some subsidia-
ries. the remuneration is a fixed annual amount. the Supervisory board is 
not included in share option programmes, retirement benefit plans and other 
schemes. No agreements have been entered into concerning termination 
benefits and no such payments were made.
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NOTe 13   Share-baSed paymeNt

the carlsberg group has set up share option programmes to attract, retain 
and motivate the group’s executive board and key management personnel 
and to align their interests with those of the shareholders. key management 
personnel comprises the executive committee, Senior vice presidents, vice 
presidents and other key employees as well as the management of signifi-
cant subsidiaries. No share option programme has been set up for carlsberg 
a/S’s Supervisory board. 
 
Since 2001 the carlsberg group has issued share options yearly to the 
group’s key management personnel as part of their remuneration package. 
In 2008 the carlsberg group introduced an additional long-term incentive 
programme. the long-term incentive programme can be settled as either 
a regular cash bonus or as share options. the value of the remuneration 
received under the long-term incentive programme is calculated as a pre-
determined percentage of the employee’s yearly salary.  

If an employee in the long-term incentive programme chooses settlement in 
share options, the employee will be awarded the number of share options 
calculated as the value of the predetermined percentage of the employee’s 
salary divided by the fair value of one share option. the exact number of 
share options granted under the long-term incentive programme each year 
will be determined after publication of the annual report. the granted 
number of options included in the specification below is the estimated 
number of options that would be granted when applying the assumptions 
available at 31 december of the reporting year. when the actual value per 
share option is determined after the publication of the annual report in 
february of the next year, the number of granted options will be adjusted.  
 

upon resignation, a proportion of the options may be exercised within one 
to three months unless special severance terms are agreed. Special terms 
and conditions apply in the case of retirement, illness, death or changes in 
carlsberg a/S’s capital resources. each share option entitles the holder to 
purchase one class b share in carlsberg a/S. the options may only be settled 
in shares (equity-settled scheme). the carlsberg group has not purchased a 
significant number of treasury shares to meet this obligation. treasury share 
holdings at 31 december 2009 totalled 3,472 shares (2008: 3,276 shares). 
 
after the rights issue in carlsberg a/S in 2008, an adjustment was made to 
the share option programme which existed at the time of the rights issue to 
ensure that holders of share options receive the same nominal yield on a 
given increase in the share price. the exercise price of the options has been 
adjusted for the bonus element on the issue of new shares at a discount. 
the bonus element has been calculated as described in note 11, earnings 
per share. correspondingly, the number of granted options was adjusted by 
a factor calculated as 1 divided by the bonus element. these adjustments 
meant that the fair value of the share option programme in place at the 
time of the rights issue was unchanged. In connection with the adjustments, 
comparative figures have been restated. 
 
In 2009, a total of 444,164 (2008: 799,942) share options were granted to 
217 (2008: 173) key employees. the fair value at grant date of these options 
was a total of dkk 51m (2008: dkk 74m). the fair value is recognised in 
the income statement over the vesting period of three years. In 2009, dkk 
15m was recognised in respect of share options granted (2008: dkk 20m). 
the total cost of share-based payment was dkk 52m (2008: dkk 31m) in 
respect of options granted in the period 2006-2009 (2008: 2005-2008) and 
included options granted under the long-term incentive programme. the cost 
of share-based payment is included in staff costs. at 31 december 2009, an 
amount of dkk 63m (2008: dkk 73m) has not been recognised in respect of 
current share option programmes.    

the fair value of granted share options is estimated using the black-Scholes 
call option pricing model based on the exercise price. the fair value at 31 de-
cember 2009 was dkk 270m (2008: dkk 41m), which is dkk 229m higher 
than at year-end 2008. 
 
the number of options granted under the long-term incentive programme 
is adjusted annually during the vesting period (three years). the total 
outstanding options at 31 december 2009, 311,832, relate to the group’s 
long-term incentive programme, of which 90,789 will be adjusted in 2010, 
90,789 in 2011 and 53,645 in 2012. In 2009 the preliminary number of options 
regarding options granted in 2008 has been adjusted to 76,609 based on the 
assumptions available after publishing the annual report for 2008. these 
assumptions are presented below. the change in assumptions led to a nega-
tive adjustment of 116,027 options regarding 2008. 

at 31 december 2009 the exercise price for outstanding share options was  
in the range of dkk 173.12 to dkk 490.55 (2008: dkk 173.12 to dkk 490.55). 
the average remaining contractual life was 5.1 years (2008: 5.6 years).
 
 
 
 
 
 

The general terms and conditions for the two programmes:
  

Share option programme long-term incentive programme

vesting conditions 3 years of service 3 years of service and group’s finan-
cial performance in the service period

earliest time of exercise 3 years from grant date 3 years from grant date

latest time of exercise 8 years from grant date 6 years from grant date

time of valuation of option Immediately after publication of  
the annual report for the group  
for the prior reporting period 

Immediately after publication of  
the annual report for the group  
for the current reporting period  
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Number
exercise 

price fair value 

grant 
year

exercise 
year

1 jan.
2009

granted/ 
grant 

adjusted
expired/
forfeited exercised transferred

31 dec.
2009

for exercise 
31 dec.

fixed, 
weighted 
average

dkk per 
option, 

weighted 
average

31 dec.
2009

31 dec.
2008

executive board:

2001 2004-2009 9,105 - -9,105 - - - 312.02 -
2002 2005-2010 9,105 - - - - 9,105 9,105 261.39 122.60 1 -
2003 2006-2011 13,008 - - - - 13,008 13,008 173.12 211.27 3 1
2004 2007-2012 13,008 - - - - 13,008 13,008 216.65 180.37 2 -
2005 2008-2013 12,388 - - - - 12,388 12,388 232.71 179.06 2 -
2006 2009-2014 12,388 - - - - 12,388 12,388 306.89 139.55 2 -
2007 2010-2015 24,776 - - - - 24,776 472.11 111.82 3 1
2008 2011-2016 89,552 - - - - 89,552 490.55 136.10 12 3
2009 2012-2017 60,000 - - - 60,000 203.50 237.37 14

total 183,330 60,000 -9,105 - - 234,225 59,897 39 5

key management personnel:

2001 2004-2009 7,805 - -7,805 - - - 312.02 -
2002 2005-2010 9,756 - - -3,902 -5,854 - - 261.39 122.60 - -
2003 2006-2011 18,273 - - -1,951 -10,469 5,853 5,853 173.12 211.27 1 1
2004 2007-2012 36,777 - - -2,632 -11,382 22,763 22,763 216.65 180.37 4 1
2005 2008-2013 82,486 - -1,858 -11,148 -14,042 55,438 55,438 232.71 179.06 10 2
2006 2009-2014 152,273 - -7,123 -19,509 -24,980 100,661 100,661 306.89 139.55 14 3
2007 2010-2015 175,108 - -18,890 - -31,587 124,631 472.11 111.82 14 3
2008 2011-2016 707,293 -116,027 -65,241 - -99,718 426,307 446.90 136.10 55 22
2009 2012-2017 384,164 -12,500 -25,514 346,150 268.90 237.37 72

total 1,189,771 268,137 -113,417 -39,142 -223,546 1,081,803 184,715 170 32

resigned employees:

2001 2004-2009 14,340 - -14,340 - - - 312.02 -
2002 2005-2010 20,812 - - -1,951 5,854 24,715 24,715 261.39 122.60 3 -
2003 2006-2011 29,918 - - -1,951 10,469 38,436 38,436 173.12 211.27 8 1
2004 2007-2012 37,722 - - -3,902 11,382 45,202 45,202 216.65 180.37 8 1
2005 2008-2013 32,106 - - -1,858 14,042 44,290 44,290 232.71 179.06 8 1
2006 2009-2014 36,958 - - - 24,980 61,938 61,938 306.89 139.55 9 1
2007 2010-2015 32,829 - - - 31,587 64,416 472.11 111.82 7 -
2008 2011-2016 - - - - 99,718 99,718 446.90 136.10 13 -
2009 2012-2017 - - - 25,514 25,514 268.90 237.37 5

total 204,685 - -14,340 -9,662 223,546 404,229 214,581 61 4

total 1,577,786 328,137 -136,862 -48,804 - 1,720,257 459,193 270 41

NOTe 13   Share-baSed paymeNt – coNtINued

2009 2008

group 
executive 

board

key ma n-
agement 

personnel

resigned 
em-

ployees total

average 
exercise 

price

group 
executive 

board

key ma n-
agement 

personnel

resigned 
em -

ployees total

average 
exercise 

price

Share options outstanding at 1 january 183,330 1,189,771 204,685 1,577,786 384.76 93,778 590,004 201,216 884,998 317.61
granted 60,000 268,137 - 328,137 268.90 89,552 710,390 - 799,942 446.90
expired/forfeited -9,105 -113,417 -14,340 -136,862 393.13 - -29,530 -2,478 -32,008 368.89
exercised - -39,142 -9,662 -48,804 258.89 - -63,440 -11,706 -75,146 259.54
transferred - -223,546 223,546 - - - -17,653 17,653 - -

Share options outstanding at 31 december 234,225 1,081,803 404,229 1,720,257 353.56 183,330 1,189,771 204,685 1,577,786 352.66

exercisable at 31 december 59,897 184,715 214,581 459,193 252.82 56,614 155,097 134,898 346,609 228.57

exercised options as % of share capital 0.00% 0.03% 0.01% 0.03% 0.00% 0.04% 0.01% 0.05%

the average share price at the exercise date for share options was dkk 372 
(2008: dkk 485). 
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NOTe 13   Share-baSed paymeNt – coNtINued

the assumptions underlying the calculation of the grant date fair value 
for share options granted in 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

2009 2008

grant

ordinary
share 

options

long-term  
incentive  
(prelim.)

ordinary
share 

options

long-term 
incentive 

(final)

long-term  
incentive  
(prelim.)

fair value per option, dkk 88.41  158.73  157.54 73.07 53.80
Share price, dkk 203.50 384.00 490.55 203.50 171.25
exercise price, dkk 203.50 384.00 490.55 203.50 171.25
volatility 52% 57% 19% 52% 50%
risk-free interest rate 3.0% 2.3% 3.3% 2.4% 2.7%
dividend yield 1.7% 0.9% 0.8% 1.7% 3.5%
expected life of share options, years 5.5 3.6 5.9 3.5 3.7

the share price and the exercise price for share options are calculated 
as the average price of carlsberg a/S’s class b shares on NaSdaq omx 
copenhagen a/S in the first five trading days after the publication of 
carlsberg a/S’s annual report following the granting of the options, or 
after the grant date if this is different from the date of publication. the 
preliminary share price and exercise price for share options granted under 
the long-term incentive programme is the last available price before 
31 december of the reporting year. 

the expected volatility is based on the historical volatility in the price of 
carlsberg a/S’s class b shares over the last two years.

the risk-free interest rate is the interest rate on danish government bonds of 
the relevant maturity, while the dividend yield is calculated as dkk 3.6 per 
share (2008: dkk 6.0 per share) divided by the share price. 
 
the expected life of share options is based on exercise in the middle of the 
exercise period. 

NOTe 14   INtaNgIble aSSetS

2009

dkk million goodwill trademarks 

other 
intangible 

assets 
pre-

payments total

cost:
cost at 1 january 2009 48,162 35,478 1,727 34 85,401
additions 335 - 349 31 715
disposal of entities -190 - -18 - -208
disposals - - -39 -1 -40
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -1,379 -1,307 21 - -2,665
transfers - - 24 -25 -1

cost at 31 december 2009 46,928 34,171 2,064 39 83,202

amortisation and impairment losses:
amortisation and impairment losses at 1 january 2009 13 151 1,146 - 1,310
amortisation - 35 200 - 235
Impairment losses - 37 - - 37
disposal of entities - - -9 - -9
disposals - - -20 - -20
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 4 2 32 - 38

amortisation and impairment losses at 31 december 2009 17 225 1,349 - 1,591

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 46,911 33,946 715 39 81,611

dkk million 2009 2008

amortisation and impairment losses for the year are included in:
cost of sales 39 21
Sales and distribution expenses 45 39
administrative expenses 151 133
Special items 37 -

total 272 193
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NOTe 14   INtaNgIble aSSetS – coNtINued

the carrying amount of trademarks which have an indefinite useful life 
and are therefore not amortised was dkk 33,401m (2008: dkk 34,683m) 
at 31 december 2009, equivalent to 98% (2008: 98%) of the capitalised 
trademarks – primarily the carlsberg, tuborg, baltika, kronenbourg, 1664 
and holsten trademarks. management assesses that the value of these 
trademarks can be maintained for an indefinite period, as these are well-
established trademarks in the markets concerned and these markets are 
expected to be profitable in the longer term. In the opinion of management, 
there is only a minimal risk of the current situation in the markets reducing 
the useful life of these trademarks, primarily due to the respective market 
share in each market and the current and planned marketing efforts, which 
are helping to maintain and increase the value of these trademarks.  
 
goodwill is determined as the difference between purchase price and the fair 
value of acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in each business 
combination. goodwill is allocated to the individual cash-generating units 
based on an allocation of the purchase price less the fair value of acquired 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in each entity. It is management’s 
assessment that the allocation is based on documented estimates, taking 
into consideration the uncertainties inherent in determining the cash flows  
of the acquired cash-generating units.  
 

value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries in 2008 relates to fair 
value revaluation of assets held by the carlsberg group – and recognised 
by proportionate consolidation – prior to obtaining control over the bbh 
group as a result of the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N in 2008. 
the acquisition of additional ownership interests resulted in control, and in 
accordance with IfrS the acquired intangible assets were recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. the fair value adjustment of the assets held 
prior to the acquisition has been recognised in other comprehensive income.  
 
the carrying amount of other intangible assets at 31 december 2009 in-
cluded capitalised software costs of dkk 342m (2008: dkk 300m) and beer 
delivery rights of dkk 59m (2008: dkk 66m). 
 
research and development costs of dkk 101m (2008: dkk 106m) have been 
recognised in the income statement. 
 

2008

dkk million goodwill trademarks 

other 
intangible 

assets 
pre-

payments total

cost:
cost at 1 january 2008 16,956 3,926 1,530 146 22,558
acquisition of entities 34,020 18,803 111 - 52,934
value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries - 16,388 15 - 16,403
reversal of cost related to step acquisition - - -50 - -50
additions 231 - 150 17 398
disposal of entities - - -33 - -33
disposals -72 - -98 - -170
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -2,973 -3,639 -43 -1 -6,656
transfers - - 145 -128 17

cost at 31 december 2008 48,162 35,478 1,727 34 85,401

amortisation and impairment losses:
amortisation and impairment losses at 1 january 2008 10 122 1,219 2 1,353
reversal of cumulative amortisation related to step acquisition - - -50 - -50
amortisation - 32 161 - 193
disposal of entities - - -30 - -30
disposals - - -89 - -89
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 3 -3 -65 - -65
transfers - - - -2 -2

amortisation and impairment losses at 31 december 2008 13 151 1,146 - 1,310

carrying amount at 31 december 2008 48,149 35,327 581 34 84,091

additions to goodwill during the year can be specified as follows:

dkk million 2009 2008

acquisition of non-controlling interests 335 231
acquisition of entities, cf. note 30 - 34,020

total 335 34,251
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NOTe 15   ImpaIrmeNt teSt

goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite useful life

for the group’s cash-generating units, aggregated per segment, the car-
rying amount of goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite useful life at  
31 december was as follows: 

 
 

2009

dkk million goodwill trademarks 1 total %

Northern & western europe 20,317 6,446 26,763 33%
eastern europe 24,309 26,955 51,264 64%
asia 2,285 - 2,285 3%

total 46.911 33,401 80,312 100%

2008

dkk million goodwill trademarks 1 total %

Northern & western europe 14,555 3,439 17,994 22%
eastern europe 23,881 28,244 52,125 63%
asia 1,506 - 1,506 2%
carlsberg breweries a/S 2 8,207 3,000 11,207 13%

total 48,149 34,683 82,832 100%

1 the trademark is allocated to the segment that owns the trademark. 
royalty income generated by the trademark is earned globally and based 
on the group’s total income.  

2 relates to carlsberg a/S’s acquisition of the non-controlling holding in 
carlsberg breweries a/S in 2004, which from 2009 has been re-allocated to 
the regions. 

general assumptions
 
the carlsberg group annually performs impairment tests of goodwill for the 
group’s cash-generating units and for trademarks with an indefinite useful life. 
Intangible assets with finite life and property, plant and equipment are tested 
if there are specific indications of impairment. the carlsberg group has per-
formed impairment tests of the carrying amounts based on the budgets and 
business plans approved by the Supervisory board and the executive board in 
december 2009. 
 
goodwill and trademarks related to baltika breweries (russia), brasseries 
kronenbourg (france) and the acquisition of the 40% non-controlling holding 
in carlsberg breweries a/S each comprise 10% or more of the total carrying 
amount of goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite useful life at 31 decem-
ber 2009. No other goodwill and trademarks comprise 10% or more of the 
total carrying amount of goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite useful life 
at 31 december 2009.  
 

Trademarks

trademarks are individually impairment-tested at group level. the impair-
ment test is performed using the relief from royalty method and is based 
on expected future free cash flows from the group’s total calculated roy-
alty income generated by the individual trademark for the next 20 years 
and projections for subsequent years. key assumptions include revenue, 
royalty rate, expected useful life, growth rate and a theoretically calculated 
tax effect. a post-tax discount rate is used which reflects the risk-free inter-
est rate with the addition of a risk premium associated with the particular 
trademark.

the royalty rate is based on the actual market position of the trademark in 
the individual global, regional and local markets. If external licence agree-
ments concerning each individual trademark already exist, the market 
terms of such agreements are considered when assessing the royalty 
rate which the trademark is expected to generate in a transaction with 
independent parties.

for each individual trademark a 20-year curve is projected reflecting the 
expected future growth in revenue per year. depending on the expectations 
for the individual trademarks, the growth in individual years is above, equal 
or even below the current inflation level in the countries where the individual 
trademarks are sold. the curve for each individual trademark is determined 
with reference to its market position, overall market conditions of the market 
where the trademark is marketed, as well as regional and national macroeco-
nomic trends etc. for some trademarks national, regional and international 
potential has been linked to the value of the trademark and significant invest-
ments in terms of product development and marketing strategy are expected 
to be made. for these trademarks the expected growth is generally higher 
than for other otherwise comparable trademarks in the projection period, es-
pecially in the beginning of the 20-year period. the growth rates determined 
for the terminal period are in line with the expected rate of inflation.
 
the tax rate is the expected future tax rate in each country, based on current 
legislation. the impairment test at year-end 2009 incorporates tax rates of 
10-34%.

the impairment test of trademarks is based on the same approach used for 
determining the fair value of the trademark at the acquisition date. 
 
the impairment test of trademarks is based on a comparison of the recover-
able amount, corresponding to the discounted value of the expected future 
free cash flow and the carrying amount of the individual trademark. 

 
goodwill

the impairment test of goodwill is performed at a regional level for North-
ern europe, western europe and eastern europe, while entities in asia are 
tested at sub-regional levels. entities that are less integrated in regions or 
sub-regions are tested at individual entity level. the cash-generating units 
are based on the management structure. the management of the group 
is being centralised and driven through the regional managements, which 
are responsible for performance, investments and growth initiatives in their 
respective regions. 

carlsberg annual report 2009 81



NOTe 15   ImpaIrmeNt teSt – coNtINued

growth in the 
terminal period discount rates1

2009 2008 2009 2008
goodwill:
Northern & western europe 1.5% 1.5% 4.2-4.8% 3.9-13.3%
eastern europe 2.5% 2.5% 9.2% 7.9-16.1%
asia 2.5% 2.5% 4.8-12.1% 3.9-13.0%
trademarks 2-5% 1-5% 5.8-16.2% 6.7-16.4%

growth rates are determined for each individual cash-generating unit and 
trademark. for the terminal period, a growth rate equal to the expected rate 
of inflation is applied.  
 
at year-end 2009, risk-free interest rates in some countries were still 
impacted extraordinarily as a result of the international economic crisis. con-
sequently, the impairment test for 2009 applies discount rates based on the 
expectation that the financial markets will stabilise again in the long term. 
the pre-tax risk-free borrowing interest rate is used for impairment testing of 
goodwill.  
 
the discount rate used in impairment tests of trademarks is a post-tax dis-
count rate for each country. In determining the discount rate, a risk premium 
on the risk-free interest rate (spread) is fixed somewhat lower than the cur-
rent market level. accordingly, the spread is higher than the rates applicable 
to the group’s borrowings and reflects management’s expectations of the 
spread for future borrowings.  
 
for each region, sub-region or individually tested entity, the applied growth 
rates for projections and discount rates are compared to ensure a reasonable 
link between the two (real interest rate).  
 

Northern & western europe is generally characterised by stable or declining 
volumes and by growth markets in the central and eastern parts of the 
region. the entire region continues to experience strong competition, requir-
ing ongoing optimisation of cost structures and use of capital. revenue is 
expected to increase in the next three years, while the ongoing excellence 
programmes and restructuring initiatives already implemented in key coun-
tries and under implementation in other countries are expected to contribute 
to productivity improvements and cost savings. Some countries will continue 
to be characterised by a high level of investment as a result of changes to 
the production structure. 
 
eastern europe has – following the economic crisis – experienced a decline 
in volumes during 2009. In 2010 increasing market shares driven by invest-
ments in capacity, marketing, innovation and new product launches are 
expected. In the longer run increases in revenue are expected in the region.   
 
asia is a growth area, with significant growth in china and Indochina in 
particular. Increases in revenue in the emerging markets are expected, while 
more stable earnings are expected in the mature markets.  
 

1 pre-tax discount rates are used for goodwill, whereas post-tax discount 
rates are used for trademarks.

the change in management structure and responsibilities is resulting in opti-
misations across countries focusing on the whole group or region – not just 
on the specific country. the change in procurement and sourcing between 
countries is increasing the intercompany trade/transactions and the profit 
allocation will change due to transfer-pricing allocation of profits.  

the impairment test of goodwill is based on the discounted value of ex-
pected future free cash flows from the cash-generating unit. the expected 
future free cash flow (value in use) is based on budgets and business plans 
for the next three years and projections for subsequent years. key param-
eters include revenue growth, operating margin, future capital expenditure 
and growth expectations beyond the next three years. budgets and 
business plans do not incorporate the effect of future restructurings and 
non-contracted capacity increases.  

budgets and business plans for the next three years are based on concrete 
commercial initiatives, and the risks associated with the key parameters are 
assessed and incorporated in expected future free cash flows. the impair-
ment test is based on scenarios for possible future cash flows. potential 
upsides and downsides identified during the budget process and in the daily 
business are reflected in scenarios for possible future cash flows for each 
individual cash-generating unit. the scenarios reflect, among other things, 
different assumptions of combinations of market, price and input cost 
developments. projections beyond the next three years are based on general 
expectations and risks. the terminal value beyond the next three years 

takes into account the general growth expectations for the brewing industry 
in the relevant segments. growth rates are not expected to exceed the aver-
age long-term growth rate for the group’s individual geographical segments. 
the average growth rates for the terminal period are presented below. 

pre-tax discount rates are applied in calculating the recoverable amounts and 
reflect the risk-free borrowing rate in each particular geographical segment. 
 
the impairment test of cash-generating units is based on a comparison 
of the recoverable amount, corresponding to the discounted value of the 
expected future free cash flow and the carrying amount of the individual 
cash-generating unit. the carrying amount comprises goodwill and other net 
assets. 
 

property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment are impairment-tested if there are indications 
of impairment, e.g. when considering restructuring programmes. each indi-
vidual impairment test is based on the lowest cash-generating unit affected 
by the changes that indicate impairment. the impairment test is based on 
budgeted and estimated cash flows from the cash-generating unit. the pre-
tax discount rate reflects the risk-free interest rate with the addition of a risk 
premium associated with the particular asset. 

significant assumptions
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dkk million 2009 2008

trademarks:
trademarks with finite useful life 37 -

property, plant and equipment:
Impairment of leeds brewery, carlsberg uk - 197
Impairment of braunschweig brewery, carlsberg deutschland - 135
other 55 4

total 92 336

the impairment losses on trademarks with a finite useful life in 2009 relate 
to minor local trademarks in latvia and kazakhstan that have suffered from 
the economic crisis and therefore showed a recoverable amount below the 
carrying amount. the trademarks are therefore written down to the lower 
recoverable amount. the impairment of property, plant and equipment 
relates to restructuring projects resulting in a declining recoverable amount 
of tangible assets. 
 
the impairment losses in carlsberg uk in 2008 relate to the leeds site. due 
to the proposed closure of the brewery, the impairment test of the cash-
generating unit for the leeds site showed a recoverable amount below the 
carrying amount. the decline in the recoverable amount was mainly due to 
the decline in the property market in the last quarter of 2008. the brewery 
was written down (in 2008) to its fair value as this value was higher than 
the value in use. 

following the economic crisis, one of the activities in carlsberg deutsch-
land was loss-making in 2008, partly due to difficult market conditions. 
the activity was taking up the full capacity of one of carlsberg deutsch-
land’s breweries, which resulted in a recoverable amount of the brewery 
that was lower than the carrying amount. the brewery was therefore 
written down to the value in use.   

the impairment losses of dkk 82m are recognised under special items in 
the income statement, while dkk 10m has been included in cost of produc-
tion. the impairment losses are included in the segments, cf. note 2. 
 

sensitivity test 

based on the impairment tests performed, there were no indications of 
further impairment of goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite useful life 
at 31 december 2009. a sensitivity test has been performed to determine 
the lowest growth in the terminal period and the highest increase in discount 
rates that can be achieved for each of the regions without resulting in any 
impairment losses.   
 
goodwill.   Sensitivity tests show that for the region or entity with the low-
est margin between recoverable amount and carrying amount, the growth 
rate in the terminal period can decline by around 9 percentage points in 
Northern & western europe, around 2 percentage points in eastern europe 
and around 3 percentage points in asia without resulting in any impairment 
losses. alternatively, the discount rate can increase by around 7 percentage 
points in Northern & western europe, around 2 percentage points in eastern 
europe and around 3 percentage points in asia without resulting in any 
impairment losses.  
 
trademarks.   Sensitivity tests show that for the trademark with indefinite 
useful life with the lowest margin between recoverable amount and carry-
ing amount, the growth rate in the terminal period can decline by around 
1 percentage point in Northern & western europe and in eastern europe 
without resulting in any impairment losses. alternatively, the discount rate 
can increase by around 0.5 percentage points in Northern & western europe 
and in eastern europe without resulting in any impairment losses. 
 

Impairment losses

based on the impairment tests performed, the following impairment 
losses have been recognised in respect of goodwill, trademarks and other 
non-current assets:

NOTe 15   ImpaIrmeNt teSt – coNtINued
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NOTe 16   property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt

2009

dkk million
land and 
buildings

plant and 
machinery

fixtures 
and fittings, 

other plant and 
equipment 

construction 
in progress total

cost:
cost at 1 january 2009 17,551 27,535 8,687 2,793 56,566
additions 184 793 778 1,090 2.845
disposal of entities -197 -323 -85 -7 -612
disposals -181 -1.700 -683 -141 -2.705
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -89 -186 94 -49 -230
transfers 1,328 -88 1.220 -2,215 245
transfer to/from assets held for sale -318 -220 203 - -335

cost at 31 december 2009 18,278 25,811 10,214 1,471 55,774

depreciation and impairment losses:
depreciation and impairment losses at 1 january 2009 4,417 12,599 5,498 - 22,514
disposal of entities -132 -286 -59 - -477
disposals -109 -1,553 -657 - -2,319
depreciation 599 1,490 1,445 - 3,534
Impairment losses 15 28 12 - 55
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 78 168 130 - 376
transfers 38 274 -20 - 292
transfer to/from assets held for sale -4 -19 -3 - -26

depreciation and impairment losses at 31 december 2009 4,902 12,701 6,346 - 23,949

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 13,376 13,110 3,868 1,471 31,825

assets held under finance leases:
cost 7 53 21 - 81
depreciation and impairment losses -2 -43 -4 - -49

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 5 10 17 - 32

carrying amount of assets pledged as security for loans 1,267 - - 462 1,729

dkk million 2009 2008

depreciation and impairment losses are included in:
cost of sales 2,542 2,492
Sales and distribution expenses 803 778
administrative expenses 199 169
Special items 45 332

total 3,589 3,771
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2008

dkk million
land and 
buildings

plant and 
machinery

fixtures 
and fittings, 

other plant and 
equipment 

construction 
in progress total

cost:
cost at 1 january 2008 12,739 23,544 8,707 2,784 47,774
acquisition of entities 3,812 5,351 549 1,011 10,723
value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries 1,577 1,429 53 3 3,062
reversal of cost related to step acquisition -192 -2,103 -87 - -2,382
additions 915 2,434 909 1,717 5,975
disposal of entities -338 -1,228 -436 -9 -2,011
disposals -583 -455 -851 -292 -2,181
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -1,193 -2,250 -481 -299 -4,223
transfers 846 813 324 -2,122 -139
transfer to/from assets held for sale -32 - - - -32

cost at 31 december 2008 17,551 27,535 8,687 2,793 56,566

depreciation and impairment losses:
depreciation and impairment losses at 1 january 2008 4,669 14,947 6,049 - 25,665
reversal of cumulative depreciation related to step acquisition -192 -2,103 -87 - -2,382
disposal of entities -195 -1,204 -326 - -1,725
disposals -129 -425 -806 - -1,360
depreciation 451 1,987 997 - 3,435
Impairment losses - 332 4 - 336
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -177 -922 -334 - -1,433
transfers -1 -13 1 - -13
transfer to/from assets held for sale -9 - - - -9

depreciation and impairment losses at 31 december 2008 4,417 12,599 5,498 - 22,514

carrying amount at 31 december 2008 13,134 14,936 3,189 2,793 34,052

assets held under finance leases:
cost 16 122 18 - 156
depreciation and impairment losses -4 -78 -10 - -92

carrying amount at 31 december 2008 12 44 8 - 64

carrying amount of assets pledged as security for loans 951 - - 944 1,895

NOTe 16   property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt – coNtINued

value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries in 2008 relates to fair 
value revaluation of assets held by the carlsberg group – and recognised by 
proportionate consolidation – prior to obtaining complete control over the 
bbh group as a result of the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N in 
2008. the acquisition of additional ownership interests resulted in control, 
and in accordance with IfrS the acquired tangible assets were recognised 
at fair value at the acquisition date. the fair value adjustment of the assets 
held prior to the acquisition was recognised in other comprehensive income.  
 

the value adjustments on the step acquisition of subsidiaries in 2008 
increased the basis of depreciation by dkk 3,062m without affecting the 
consolidated cash flows. 
 
fixtures and fittings, other plant and equipment include rolling equipment 
such as cars and trucks, draught beer equipment, coolers, returnable packag-
ing and office equipment. 

leased assets with a carrying amount of dkk 32m (2008: dkk 64m) have 
been pledged as security for lease liabilities totalling dkk 31m (2008: dkk 
48m). 
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NOTe 17   aSSocIateS

dkk million 2009 2008

cost:
cost at 1 january 2,079 431
acquisition of entities 475 1,013
additions 87 642
disposals -1 -21
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -93 5
transfer to assets held for sale - 9

cost at 31 december 2,547 2,079

value adjustments:
value adjustments at 1 january 145 191
disposals - -79
dividends -52 -38
Impairment losses -117 -
Share of profit after tax 112 81
Share of other comprehensive income 31 -
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 1 -10

value adjustments at 31 december 120 145

carrying amount at 31 december 2,667 2,224

2009

carlsberg group share

dkk million revenue
profit 

after tax assets liabilities
ownership 

interest
profit 

after tax equity

key figures for associates:
tibet lhasa brewery co. ltd. 279 66 438 25 33% 22 147
lanzhou huanghe jianjiang brewery company 328 33 336 48 30% 10 90
hanoi beer company 1,081 159 1,019 365 16.0% 20 535
chongqing brewery 1,569 107 2,743 1,758 17.5% 18 1,011
other associates, asia (4 entities) 413 70 379 151 30-49,8% 32 94
International breweries bv - -24 855 703 16% -4 24
Nuuk Imeq a/S 154 27 218 71 31.9% 9 47
Nordic getränke gmbh 372 -5 1,692 933 50% -2 359
other 1,987 -14 1,828 1,290 20-25% 7 360

112 2,667

2008

carlsberg group share

dkk million revenue
profit 

after tax assets liabilities
ownership 

interest
profit 

after tax equity

key figures for associates:
tibet lhasa brewery co. ltd. 217 50 375 23 33% 16 127
lanzhou huanghe jianjiang brewery company 333 18 377 118 30% 5 82
hanoi beer company - - - - 16.0% 11 578
chongqing brewery - - - - 17.5% - 1,013
other associates, asia (4 entities) 382 44 351 155 30-49.8% 21 85
International breweries bv 342 -60 671 449 16% -11 35
Nuuk Imeq a/S 153 27 230 85 31.9% 9 16
other 941 195 1,857 1,347 20-25% 30 288

81 2,224

Nordic getränke gmbh was established in November 2009 through  
contribution of logistics activities from carlsberg deutschland and from  
the cooperation partner. 

hanoi beer company was included as at 15 may 2008 and chongqing 
brewery as at 23 december 2008.
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NOTe 18   SecurItIeS

NOTe 19   receIvableS

dkk million 2009 2008

Securities are classified in the statement of financial position as follows:
Non-current assets 94 118
current assets 17 7

total 111 125

types of security:
listed shares 4 7
unlisted shares 107 118

total 111 125

Securities classified as current assets are those expected to be sold within one 
year after the end of the reporting period. 

Shares in unlisted entities comprise a number of small holdings. these assets 
are not recognised at fair value as the fair value cannot be calculated on a 
reliable basis. Instead the assets are recognised at cost. 
 

No shares in unlisted entities were disposed of during 2008 and 2009. 

trade receivables comprise invoiced goods and services as well as short-term 
loans to customers in the on-trade. 

other receivables comprise vat receivables, loans to associates, interest 
receivables and other financial receivables. 
 

Non-current receivables consist mainly of on-trade loans. Non-current re-
ceivables fall due more than one year from the end of the reporting period, 
with dkk 128m (2008: dkk 171m) falling due more than five years from the 
end of the reporting period.

dkk million 2009 2008

receivables are included in the statement of financial position as follows:
trade receivables 5,898 6,369
other receivables 1,750 3,095

total current receivables 7,648 9,464
Non-current receivables 1,604 1,707

total  9,252 11,171

NOTe 17   aSSocIateS – coNtINued

the carlsberg group also has minor investments in associates in which the 
group is unable to exercise significant influence, as a result of which these 
investments are classified as securities.  
 
 
 

for companies with an ownership interest of less than 20%, carlsberg 
participates in the management of the company and is therefore exercising 
significant influence.  

dkk million 2009 2008

fair value of investments in listed associates:
chongqing brewery, chongqing, china 1,515 1,013
the lion brewery ceylon, biyagama, Sri lanka 70 25

total 1,585 1,038
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hedging instruments are measured at fair value. all other receivables are 
measured at amortised cost. 

on-trade loans are usually repaid through discounts during the continu-
ing sales relationship with the individual customer, which is reflected in the 
repayment scheme and the discounting of the loans. there are therefore no 
significant overdue on-trade loans.

dkk million 2009 2008

receivables by origin:
receivables from the sale of goods and services 5,269 5,724
on-trade loans 2,143 2,278
loans to associates 36 6
fair value of hedging instruments 271 1,131
other receivables 1,533 2,032

total 9,252 11,171

dkk million 2009 2008

receivables from the sale of goods and services fall due as follows:
Not yet due or written down 4,353 4,526
falling due in less than 30 days 323 561
falling due between 30 and 90 days 222 195
falling due in more than 90 days 371 442

carrying amount at 31 december 5,269 5,724

NOTe 19   receIvableS – coNtINued

No significant losses were incurred in respect of an individual trade recei vable 
or on-trade loan in 2009 and 2008. 

In a number of cases the group receives security for sales on credit and 
loans to on-trade customers. the fair value of such security is taken into 
account when assessing the necessary write-downs for bad debt losses. 
Security is primarily received from on-trade customers and may comprise 
financial guarantees, pledges or on-trade movables (equipment from bars, 
cafés etc.). 
 

loans to associates relate mainly to real estate projects. on-trade loans are 
concentrated in france, the united kingdom, germany and Switzerland, and 
spread across a large number of debtors. Some of these loans are secured 
against various forms of collateral. apart from these, there is no concentra-
tion of credit risk. 
 
on-trade loans are recognised at amortised cost. based on discounted cash 
flows using the interest rates at the end of the reporting period, these loans 
have a fair value of dkk 2,184m (2008: dkk 2,360m). for trade receivables 
and other receivables, the fair value essentially corresponds to the carrying 
amount.

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

dkk million 2009 2008

write-downs on receivables from sale of goods and services are specified as follows:
write-downs at 1 january -960 -850
write-downs for the year -346 -242
realised bad debt losses 214 150
reversed write-downs 61 49
acquisitions and disposals 4 -67

write-downs at 31 december -1,027 -960

% 2009 2008

average effective interest rates:
loans to associates 2.9 5.4
on-trade loans 6.7 7.1

receivables from the sale of goods and services and loans are recognised net 
of write-downs for bad debt losses. 

88 carlsberg group



NOTe 20  INveNtorIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

raw materials and consumables 1,953 2,734
work in progress 261 349
finished goods 1,387 2,145

total 3,601 5,228

production costs of inventories sold amount to dkk 30,094m (2008: dkk 
30,439m).  

packing materials, packaging and spare parts are measured at the lower of 
net realisable value and cost. write-downs of inventories to net realisable 
value amount to dkk 21m (2008: dkk 2m) and are included in cost of sales.  
 

obsolete beer and soft drinks and raw materials are generally scrapped 
because of their limited shelf life and fully written down. Scrapped goods  
are included in production costs. 

NOTe 21   caSh aNd caSh equIvaleNtS

NOTe 22   aSSetS held for Sale aNd aSSocIated lIabIlItIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

cash at bank and in hand 2,729 2,856
Short-term marketable securities with a term of three months or less 5 1

total 2,734 2,857

In the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts are offset against cash and cash equivalents as follows:
cash and cash equivalents 2,734 2,857
bank overdrafts -151 -792

cash and cash equivalents, net 2,583 2,065

of which pledged as security - -

Short-term bank deposits amounted to dkk 1,680m (2008: dkk 579m). 
the average interest rate on these deposits was 5.6% (2008: 5.2%).

proportionally consolidated entities’ share of cash and cash equivalents is 
specified in note 33. 

at 31 december 2009, assets held for sale primarily comprised an office buil-
ding from the real estate development of the former tuborg site in hellerup, 
denmark. Sales agreements have been entered into in relation to the asset 
and the sale will take place in 2010. In addition assets held for sale include 
manufacturing and distribution assets in france that are expected to be 
disposed of in the short term, and land and property which is disposed of as 
part of the carlsberg group’s strategy to optimise production and logistics 
and reduce the amount of capital tied up. Identification of and negotiations 
with buyers have begun, and sales agreements have been entered into or are 
expected to be entered into in 2010. 
 
the selling price is expected to exceed the carrying amount of assets held for 
sale. accordingly, no depreciation or impairment losses have been recognised 
in the income statement. 
 
other provisions amounting to dkk 51m associated with assets held for sale 
comprise liabilities related to terminating the agreements and disposing of the 
assets classified as assets held for sale. 
 

assets (properties) which no longer qualified for recognition as assets held 
for sale were transferred to property, plant and equipment in 2009 (2008: no 
transfers) as a result of ongoing sales negotiations not proceeding as expect-
ed. this involved an amount of dkk 2m (2008: no transfers) and affected the 
income statement by a total of dkk 0m (2008: no transfers) in depreciation. 

assets (shares) which no longer qualified for recognition as assets held 
for sale were transferred to financial assets in 2009 as a result of ongoing 
sales negotiations not proceeding as expected. this involved an amount  
of dkk 14m. 

gains on the disposal of assets held for sale are recognised in the income 
statement under other operating income. the gains recognised as income in 
all material respects relate to disposal of land, depots and properties and total 
dkk 6m (2008: dkk 5m). 
 

dkk million 2009 2008

assets held for sale comprise the following individual assets:
property, plant and equipment 380 122
financial assets 8 40

total 388 162

liabilities associated with assets held for sale:
other provisions 51 453

total 51 453
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at 31 december 2009 the fair value of treasury shares amounted to dkk 1m 
(2008: dkk 1m). 
 
the annual general meeting has authorised the Supervisory board to 
acquire treasury shares of a total nominal amount of 10% of the company’s 
share capital in the period up to the next annual general meeting.  

In the financial year the company acquired class b treasury shares of a 
nominal amount of dkk 1m (2008: dkk 1m) at an average price of dkk 

382 (2008: dkk 500), corresponding to a purchase price of dkk 19m (2008: 
dkk 20m). class b treasury shares are primarily acquired to facilitate settle-
ment of share option schemes. the company holds no class a shares.   
 
In the financial year the company disposed of class b treasury shares at a 
total price of dkk 13m (2008: dkk 20m). the disposal was made in con-
nection with settlement of share options.

NOTe 23   Share capItal

class a shares class b shares total share capital

Shares of 
dkk 20

Nominal 
value, 

dkk ’000
Shares of 

dkk 20

Nominal 
value, 

dkk ’000
Shares of 

dkk 20

Nominal 
value, 

dkk ’000

1 january 2008 33,699,252 673,985 42,579,151 851,583 76,278,403 1,525,568
Share capital increase - - 76,278,403 1,525,568 76,278,403 1,525,568

31 december 2008 33,699,252 673,985 118,857,554 2,377,151 152,556,806 3,051,136

No change in 2009 - - - - - -

31 december 2009 33,699,252 673,985 118,857,554 2,377,151 152,556,806 3,051,136

treasury shares

Shares of 
dkk 20

Nominal 
value, dkkm

percentage of 
share capital

1 january 2008 32,762 - 0.0%
acquisition of treasury shares 37,283 1 0.0%
used to settle share options -66,769 -1 0.0%

31 december 2008 3,276 - 0.0%

1 january 2009 3,276 - 0.0%
acquisition of treasury shares 49,000 1 0.0%
used to settle share options -48,804 -1 0.0%

31 december 2009 3,472 - 0.0%

a shares carry 20 votes per dkk 20 share. b shares carry two votes per dkk 
20 share. a preferential right to an 8% non-cumulative dividend is attached to 
b shares. apart from dividends, all shares rank equally.  
 
 
 

In june 2008 carlsberg a/S carried out a capital increase by issuing 
76,278,403 new class b shares with a nominal value of dkk 20 at a price  
of dkk 400. the nominal share capital increase amounted to dkk 1,525,568 
thousand and the total proceeds from the share capital increase less costs 
incurred were dkk 29,938m.
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NOTe 24   borrowINgS

dkk million 2009 2008

Non-current borrowings:
Issued bonds 13,522 3,425
mortgages 1,990 1,984
bank borrowings 20,110 37,274
financial lease liabilities 13 28
other non-current borrowings 1 440 519

total 36,075 43,230

current borrowings:
Issued bonds - 2,499
mortgages - 203
bank borrowings 3,013 2,390
financial lease liabilities 17 19
other current borrowings 292 180

total 3,322 5,291

total non-current and current borrowings 39,397 48,521

fair value 40,652 48,070

time to maturity for non-current borrowings

2009

dkk million 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years > 5 years total

Issued bonds 2,046 - 1,647 7,396 2,433 13,522
mortgages - - - - 1,990 1,990
bank borrowings 743 18,308 202 113 744 20,110
financial lease liabilities 7 5 1 - - 13
other non-current borrowings 338 32 25 16 29 440

total 3,134 18,345 1,875 7,525 5,196 36,075

2008

dkk million 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years > 5 years total

Issued bonds - 1,895 - 1,530 - 3,425
mortgages 1 - - - 1,983 1,984
bank borrowings 15,053 2,180 18,990 175 876 37,274
financial lease liabilities 14 8 5 1 - 28
other non-current borrowings 241 256 1 - 21 519

total 15,309 4,339 18,996 1,706 2,880 43,230

1 other non-current borrowings include employee bonds of dkk 18m 
(2008: dkk 5m). 
 
borrowings are measured at amortised cost. carlsberg has designated a 
fixed interest rate gbp 300m bond issue and two fixed-rate mortgages 

as the hedged items in the fair value hedge with the designated risk being 
movements in the benchmark interest rate (floating interest rate). hence, 
the carrying amount of these borrowings is adjusted for movements in the 
fair value due to movements in the benchmark rate. the carrying amount of 
these borrowings is dkk 2,803m (2008: dkk 362m). 
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NOTe 24   borrowINgS – coNtINued

Interest rate risk at 31 december

2009

dkk million Interest rate 

average 
effective 

interest rate fixed for
carrying 
amount

Interest 
rate risk

Issued bonds:
gbp 250m maturing 12 december 2011 fixed 6.63% 1-2 years 2,046 fair value
gbp 200m maturing 26 february 2013 fixed 7.01% 3-4 years 1,647 fair value
eur 1,000m maturing 28 may 2014 fixed 6.22% 4-5 years 7,396 fair value
gbp 300m maturing 28 November 2016 fixed 7.41% 6-7 years 2,433 fair value

total issued bonds 6.59% 13,522

mortgages:
floating-rate floating 1.95% 1,618 cash flow
fixed-rate fixed 4.95% 372 fair value

total mortgages 2.51% 1,990

bank borrowings:
floating-rate floating 12,420 cash flow
fixed-rate fixed 10,703 fair value

total bank borrowings 23,123

Swaps have been used to change the interest rate on the gbp 250m bond 
issue to a fixed eur rate of 5.55%. a cross-currency swap (gbp 300m) has 
been used to change the interest from fixed to floating 6-month eurIbor 
+4.01%. the bond and the swap are designated as a fair value hedge rela-
tionship, meaning that the book value of the bond is the fair value.  
 
the floating-rate mortgages comprise three mortgages with a time to 
maturity of more than five years, of which two loans (total dkk 370m) were 
originally at fixed rates but were swapped to floating rates. the loans are 
adjusted to fair value through the income statement. the total fair value 
adjustment of borrowings and swaps is dkk 0. the third loan (dkk 1,248m) 
is repriced semi-annually with reference to 6-month cIbor. 
 

the floating-rate loans were repriced in december 2009 at a rate of 1.66-
1.73% (excl. margin) commencing in january 2010. dkk 1,248m will reprice 
in june 2010, and the rest will reprice in december 2010. 
 
a floating-rate mortgage of dkk 372m is swapped to a fixed rate. time to 
maturity is more than 5 years. 
 
the main part of the bank borrowing was originally floating but has been 
swapped to a fixed interest rate. 94% of the fixed-rate bank borrowing has 
an average fixed rate of 4.91% including margin. 

all interest rates stated in the table are including margin.  

1  after swaps and currency derivatives. 2  before currency derivatives.

 Interest rate2

dkk million  Net financial interest-bearing debt1  floating  fixed  floating %  fixed % 

eur 28,141 10,224 17,917 36% 64%
dkk -875 -1,265 390 145% -45%
plN 1,780 1,774 6 100% 0%
uSd 757 55 702 7% 93%
chf 2,582 2,582 - 100% -
rub -259 -259 - 100% -
other 4,537 935 3,602 21%  79% 

total 36,663 14,046 22,617 38% 62%
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NOTe 24   borrowINgS – coNtINued

Swaps have been used to change the interest rate on the gbp 250m bond 
issue to a fixed eur rate of 5.55%. 

the floating-rate mortgages comprise three mortgages with a time to ma-
turity of more than five years and one that matured in 2009. of these, two 
loans (total dkk 362m) were originally at fixed rates but were swapped to 
floating rates. the loans are adjusted to fair value through the income state-
ment. the total fair value adjustment of borrowings and swaps is dkk 0. the 
third loan (dkk 1,248m) is repriced semi-annually with reference to 6-month 
cIbor. a fourth loan (dkk 204m) is classified as a current loan with a fixed 
rate until december 2009. 

the floating-rate loans were repriced in december 2008 at a rate of 
4.93-4.97% (excl. margin) commencing in january 2009. dkk 1,248m was 
repriced in june 2009, and the rest in december 2009. 
 
a floating-rate mortgage of dkk 373m is swapped to a fixed rate. time to 
maturity is more than 5 years.

the main part of the long-term bank borrowing was originally floating but 
has been swapped to an average fixed rate of 5.03% including margin. 

all interest rates stated in the table are including margin.

Interest rate risk at 31 december

2008

dkk million Interest rate 

average 
effective 

interest rate fixed for
carrying 
amount

Interest 
rate risk

Issued bonds:
gbp 250m maturing 12 december 2011 fixed 6.63% 2-3 years 1,895 fair value
gbp 200m maturing 26 february 2013 fixed 7.01% 4-5 years 1,530 fair value
dkk 2,500m maturing 4 june 2009 fixed 4.88% 0-1 year 2,499 fair value

total issued bonds 5.99% 5,924

mortgages:
floating-rate floating 5.52% variable 1,814 cash flow
fixed-rate fixed 4.95% variable 373 fair value

total mortgages 5.42% 2,187

bank borrowings:
floating-rate floating 18,078 cash flow
fixed-rate fixed 21,586 fair value

total bank borrowings 39,664

 Interest rate2 

dkk million  Net financial interest-bearing debt1  floating  fixed  floating %  fixed % 

eur 34,256 12,620 21,636 37% 63%
dkk 3,136 2,759 377 88% 12%
plN 1,577 1,568 9 99% 1%
uSd 1,863 1,458 405 78% 22%
chf 2,468 2,468 - 100% -
rub -807 -808 1 100% 0%
other 3,171 -330 3,501 -11% 111%

total 45,664 19,735 25,929 43% 57%

1  after swaps and currency derivatives. 2  before currency derivatives.
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cf. also note 34, financial risks.  

NOTe 24   borrowINgS – coNtINued

2009

currency profile of borrowings before 
and after derivative financial instruments

Next repricing (of principal 
before currency swaps)

dkk million
original 
principal

effect 
of swap

after 
swap 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-

chf 9 2,556 2,565 109 -100 - - - -
dkk 2,015 -2,846 -831 1,625 - - - 5 385
eur 25,750 2,815 28,565 7,833 -112 66 7,517 7,441 3,005
gbp 6,091 -3,449 2,642 2,399 2,045 - 1,647 - -
Nok -19 810 791 -19 - - - - -
plN 26 1,750 1,776 20 2 2 2 - -
rub 37 558 595 37 - - - - -
Sek 12 -407 -395 12 - - - - -
Sgd 12 - 12 12 - - - - -
uSd 5,124 -3,837 1,287 4,422 283 271 102 46 -
other 340 2,050 2,390 330 4 6 - - -

total 39,397 - 39,397 16,780 2,122 345 9,268 7,492 3,390

2008

currency profile of borrowings before 
and after derivative financial instruments

Next repricing (of principal 
before currency swaps)

dkk million
original 
principal

effect 
of swap

after 
swap 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014-

chf 1,942 539 2,481 1,942 - - - - -
dkk 6,528 -3,379 3,149 6,150 - - - - 378
eur 34,213 217 34,430 12,578 11,184 2 1 7,452 2,996
gbp 3,430 -3,290 140 4 - 1,895 - 1,531 -
Nok 76 865 941 76 - - - - -
plN 134 2,160 2,294 125 2 2 2 2 1
rub 1 1,536 1,537 1 - - - - -
Sek 46 -249 -203 46 - - - - -
uSd 1,691 172 1,863 1,286 307 98 - - -
other 460 1,429 1,889 384 19 24 19 14 -

total 48,521 - 48,521 22,592 11,512 2,021 22 8,999 3,375
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NOTe 25   retIremeNt beNefIt oblIgatIoNS aNd SImIlar oblIgatIoNS

a number of the group’s employees are covered by retirement benefit plans. 
the nature of the retirement benefit plans varies depending on labour market 
conditions, legal requirements, tax legislation and economic conditions in the 
countries in which the group’s employees work. benefits are generally based 
on wages and salaries and length of employment. retirement benefit obliga-
tions cover both present and future retirees’ entitlement to retirement benefits.  
 
approximately 60% (2008: 63%) of the group’s retirement benefit costs 
relate to defined contribution plans, which limit the group’s obligation to the 
contributions paid. the retirement benefit plans are funded by payments from 
the group’s companies and employees to funds that are independent of the 
group.  

the other plans are defined benefit plans, and a retirement benefit obligation is 
recognised in the statement of financial position based on an actuarial calcula-
tion of the present value at the end of the reporting period less the plan assets. 
for defined benefit plans, the group assumes the risk associated with future 
developments in interest rates, inflation, mortality and disability etc.

the retirement benefit plans in among other countries Switzerland, Norway, 
the united kingdom and hong kong have assets placed in independent  
pension funds. 

In 2007 and 2008, a number of changes to the plan in the united kingdom 
were agreed in order to reduce the net liability in the plan. In 2008, agree-
ments were settled regarding the contribution of payments in 2008-2010 
amounting to gbp 15m in the first year and decreasing in the following 
years. the employees contribute by means of increased payments or reduc-
tion of the retirement benefit in proportion to the final salary at retirement. 
the payment for 2008 amounted to gbp 15m and for 2009 gbp 11m. 
 
a number of plans, especially in germany, Sweden and Italy, are unfunded. 
for these plans the retirement benefit obligations amount to approximately  
17% (2008: 18%) of the total gross liability. 
 
the defined benefit plans typically guarantee the employees covered  
a retirement benefit based on the final salary at retirement. 

the group expects to contribute dkk 144m (2008: dkk 219m) to the plan 
assets in 2009.

dkk million 2009 2008

defined benefit plans are recognised in the statement of financial position as follows:
retirement benefit obligations and similar obligations 2,153 1,793
plan assets -2 -2

Net obligations 2,151 1,791

Specification of net obligations:
present value of funded plans 6,640 5,767
fair value of plan assets -5,823 -5,245

Net obligation for funded plans 817 522
present value of unfunded plans 1,334 1,269
assets not recognised due to asset ceiling - -

Net obligations recognised 2,151 1,791

Specification of total obligations:
present value of funded plans 6,640 5,767
present value of unfunded plans 1,334 1,269

total obligations 7,974 7,036

changes in obligations:
total obligations at 1 january 7,036 8,151
current service cost 133 139
Interest cost 342 340
actuarial gains (-) and losses (+) 613 -462
benefits paid -441 -433
curtailments and settlements -18 -49
employee contributions to pension scheme 16 -
transfer from other provisions 7 -
acquisition/disposal (-) of entities -7 91
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 293 -741

total obligations at 31 december 7,974 7,036

changes in plan assets:
fair value of assets at 1 january 5,245 6,234
expected return 270 308
actuarial gains (+) and losses (-) 231 -825
contributions to plans 203 273
benefits paid -339 -347
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 213 -398

fair value of assets at 31 december 5,823 5,245
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NOTe 25   retIremeNt beNefIt oblIgatIoNS aNd SImIlar oblIgatIoNS – coNtINued

2009 2008

range
weighted 

average range
weighted 

average

assumptions applied:
discount rate 2.0-5.9% 4.5% 1.3-6.4% 4.6%
expected return on plan assets 4.0-6.5% 4.6% 4.3-6.0% 4.6%
future salary increases 2.0-4.8% 3.1% 1.5-4.5% 2.6%
future retirement benefit increases 1.0-4.0% 2.3% 0.5-4.3% 1.6%

dkk million 2009 2008

recognised in the income statement:
current service cost 133 139
expected return on plan assets -270 -308
Interest cost on obligations 342 340
curtailments and settlements -18 -49

total recognised in the income statement 187 122

the cost is recognised in the income statement as follows:
cost of sales 19 16
Sales and distribution expenses 74 77
administrative expenses 29 2
Special items (restructuring) -7 -5

total staff costs, cf. note 12 115 90

financial income -270 -308
financial expenses 342 340

total 187 122

actuarial assumptions.   the actuarial assumptions underlying the calcula-
tions and valuations vary from country to country due to local economic 
conditions and labour market conditions. 
 

calculation of the expected return on plan assets is based on a low-risk in-
vestment in bonds in the relevant countries. the rate of return is increased if 
the plan assets comprise shares and properties, which despite the increased 
risk are expected to provide a higher rate of return than bonds.

2009 2008

dkk million % dkk million %

breakdown of plan assets:
Shares 1,936 33% 1,889 36%
bonds and other securities 2,505 44% 2,068 40%
real estate 1,012 17% 834 16%
cash and cash equivalents 370 6% 454 8%

total 5,823 100% 5,245 100%

plan assets do not include shares in or properties used by group companies.

dkk million 2009 2008

actual return on plan assets:
expected return 270 308
actuarial gains (+) and losses (-) 231 -825

actual return 501 -517
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change in tax rate for 2008 mainly relates to the reduction of the corporate 
tax rate in russia in 2009 from 24% to 20%. 
 

NOTe 25   retIremeNt beNefIt oblIgatIoNS aNd SImIlar oblIgatIoNS – coNtINued

NOTe 26   deferred tax aSSetS aNd deferred tax lIabIlItIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

deferred tax at 1 january, net 8,631 1,458
foreign exchange adjustments -323 -874
adjustments to previous years -41 -209
additions due to acquisition/disposal of entities, net -19 5,403
value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries - 4,588
recognised in other comprehensive income -82 -335
recognised in income statement 65 108
change in tax rate -26 -1,508

deferred tax at 31 december, net 8,205 8,631

Specified as follows:
deferred tax liabilities 9,688 9,885
deferred tax assets -1,483 -1,254

deferred tax at 31 december, net 8,205 8,631

dkk million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

five-year overview:
obligations 7,974 7,036 8,151 8,134 8,065
plan assets -5,823 -5,245 -6,234 -6,334 -6,105

deficit 2,151 1,791 1,917 1,800 1,960

experience adjustments to obligations -34 -69 -42 -15 -71
experience adjustments to plan assets -544 -323 -899 -366 -243

dkk million 2009 2008

recognised in other comprehensive income:
recognised at 1 january -704 -818

acquisition of entities - 18
actuarial gains/losses -382 -363
effect of asset ceiling - 317
foreign exchange adjustment of foreign entities -38 142

recognised in other comprehensive income during the period -420 114

recognised at 31 december -1,124 -704

of which accumulated actuarial gains/losses -1,356 -974
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NOTe 26   deferred tax aSSetS aNd deferred tax lIabIlItIeS – coNtINued

Specification of deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 december:

deferred tax assets deferred tax liabilities

dkk million 2009 2008 2009 2008

Intangible assets 92 174 7,560 8,837
property, plant and equipment 484 326 2,732 2,559
current assets 104 81 46 59
provisions and retirement benefit obligations 707 474 876 40
fair value adjustments 63 103 123 285
tax losses etc. 2,493 3,432 811 1,441

total before set-off 3,943 4,590 12,148 13,221
Set-off -2,460 -3,336 -2,460 -3,336

deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 december 1,483 1,254 9,688 9,885

expected to be used as follows:
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period 386 739 888 1,414
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 1,097 515 8,800 8,471

total 1,483 1,254 9,688 9,885

deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if the group has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax liabilities, and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the 
same legal tax entity/consolidation. 

of the total deferred tax assets recognised, dkk 2,103m (2008: dkk 3,016m) 
relates to tax loss carryforwards, the utilisation of which depends on future 
positive taxable income exceeding the realised deferred tax liabilities. 
 
tax assets of dkk 1,407m (2008: dkk 1,404m) were not recognised. these 
relate primarily to tax losses which are not expected to be utilised in the 

foreseeable future. tax losses that will not expire amount to dkk 1,069m 
(2008: dkk 707m). 

deferred tax on temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates amounts to dkk 0m (2008: dkk 0m). 
 
deferred tax of dkk 106m (2008: dkk 159m) has been recognised in respect of 
earn ings in the eastern europe region which are intended for distribution in the 
short term, as tax of 5% is payable on distributions. for other subsidiaries where 
distributable reserves are planned to be distributed, any distribution of earnings 
will not trigger a significant tax liability based on current tax legislation.

NOTe 27   provISIoNS

2009

dkk million restructuring other total

provisions at 1 january 2009 603 1,572 2,175
additional provisions recognised 300 592 892
disposal of entities -21 -5 -26
used during the year -282 -357 -639
reversal of unused provisions -13 -9 -22
transfers -59 20 -39
discounting 22 64 86
foreign exchange adjustments etc. 15 3 18

provisions at 31 december 2009 565 1,880 2,445

provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position as follows:
Non-current provisions 339 1,014 1,353
current provisions 226 866 1,092

total 565 1,880 2,445

   
   
 

restructuring provisions totalling dkk 565m (2008: dkk 603m) relate prima-
rily to restructurings in connection with the operational excellence programmes 
and restructurings at carlsberg danmark a/S, carlsberg Sverige ab, carlsberg 
deutschland gmbh, brasseries kronenbourg S.a. and carlsberg Italia S.p.a. 

these provisions have been calculated on the basis of detailed plans an-
nounced to the parties concerned, and relate mainly to termination benefits 
to employees made redundant.

other provisions totalling dkk 1,880m (2008: dkk 1,572m) relate primarily 
to profit sharing in france, onerous contracts, employee obligations other 
than retirement benefits, and ongoing disputes, lawsuits etc. 
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NOTe 28   other lIabIlItIeS etc.

dkk million 2009 2008

other liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position as follows:
Non-current liabilities 746 263
current liabilities 10,845 9,905

total 11,591 10,168

other liabilities by origin:
excise duties and vat payable 2,642 1,953
Staff costs payable 1,542 1,434
Interest payable 834 681
fair value of hedging instruments 2,485 2,729
liabilities related to the acquisition of entities 649 215
amounts owed to associates 2 2
deferred income 1,514 1,172
other 1,923 1,982

total 11,591 10,168

dkk 1,272m (2008: dkk 1,427m) of total non-current provisions falls due 
within five years from the end of the reporting period. 
 

2008

dkk million restructuring other total

provisions at 1 january 2008 263 480 743
acquisition of entities 236 885 1,121
value adjustment on step acquisition of subsidiaries - 3 3
additional provisions recognised 345 513 858
disposal of entities - -11 -11
used during the year -227 -183 -410
reversal of unused provisions - -17 -17
transfers 5 -74 -69
discounting 20 55 75
foreign exchange adjustments etc. -39 -79 -118

provisions at 31 december 2008 603 1,572 2,175

provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position as follows:
Non-current provisions 387 1,111 1,498
current provisions 216 461 677

total 603 1,572 2,175

NOTe 27   provISIoNS – coNtINued
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NOTe 29   caSh flowS

dkk million 2009 2008

adjustment for other non-cash items:
Share of profit after tax, associates -112 -81
gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net -90 -664
amortisation of on-trade loans etc. 467 141

total 265 -604

change in working capital:
Inventories 1,568 -68
receivables 1,014 987
trade payables and other liabilities 955 755
retirement benefit obligations and other liabilities related to operating activities before special items 147 -88
adjusted for unrealised foreign exchange gains/losses -9 -30

total 3,675 1,556

change in on-trade loans:
loans provided -1,104 -752
repayments 693 462

total -411 -290

change in financial receivables:
loans and other receivables -121 428
other - -255
repayments 23 254

total -98 427

Shareholders in carlsberg a/S:
Increase of share capital - 29,938
dividends to shareholders -534 -458
acquisition of treasury shares -19 -20
disposal of treasury shares 13 22

total -540 29,482

Non-controlling interests:
acquisition of non-controlling interests -286 -299
Non-controlling interests’ share of capital increase in subsidiaries 7 15
dividends to non-controlling interests -312 -265

total -591 -549

external financing:
proceeds from issue of bonds 9,931 -
debt institutions, long-term -19,901 24,522
debt institutions, short-term 1,116 -2,701
loans from associates 103 -712
financial lease liabilities -5 -205
other financing liabilities -106 247

total -8,862 21,151
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NOTe 30    acquISItIoN aNd dISpoSal of eNtItIeS 

2008

dkk million
acquired 

ownership interest acquisition date
main 

activity cost

Name of acquired entities:
activities in S&N, including: 28 april 2008 52,379

baltic beverages holding (bbh) ab 50.0% 28 april 2008 brewery -
brasseries kronenbourg 100.0% 28 april 2008 brewery -
mythos brewery 100.0% 28 april 2008 brewery -
other 17.5 -100.0% 28 april 2008 brewery -

baltika-baku llc 100.0% 25 august 2008 brewery 455

total 52,834

activities in S&N baltika-baku llc total

dkk million

carrying
amount prior
to acquisition

fair value at
acquisition 

carrying
amount prior
to acquisition

fair value at
acquisition 

carrying
amount prior
to acquisition

fair value at
acquisition 

Intangible assets 368 18,904 10 10 378 18,914
property, plant and equipment 7,212 10,624 90 99 7,302 10,723
Investments, excl. deferred tax 1,217 2,243 - - 1,217 2,243
Inventories 1,893 1,890 23 23 1,916 1,913
loans and receivables, current 4,431 3,540 35 35 4,466 3,575
cash and cash equivalents 1,340 1,452 32 32 1,372 1,484
assets classified as held for sale - 177 - - - 177
provisions, excl. deferred tax liabilities -910 -1,212 - - -910 -1,212
deferred tax assets and liabilities, net -213 -5,415 - 4 -213 -5,411
borrowings -6,217 -5,827 - - -6,217 -5,827
bank overdrafts -77 -92 - - -77 -92
trade payables and other payables -4,644 -4,632 -68 -68 -4,712 -4,700
liabilities associated with assets held for sale - -591 - - - -591

Net assets 4,400 21,061 122 135 4,522 21,196
Non-controlling interests -639 -2,382 - - -639 -2,382

equity, carlsberg's share 3,761 18,679 122 135 3,883 18,814
goodwill 33,700 320 34,020

cash consideration paid 52,379 455 52,834
cash and cash equivalents, acquired -1,452 -32 -1,484
bank overdrafts, acquired 92 - 92

cash outflow, net 51,019 423 51,442

elements of cash consideration paid:
cash 52,176 455 52,631
directly attributable cost 203 - 203

total 52,379 455 52,834

acquisition of entities.   the group has not completed any acquisitions of 
entities during 2009.       
   
the group acquired part of the activities in S&N in april 2008 and baltika-
baku llc in august 2008. the purchase price allocation of the fair value 
of identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in these acquisitions 
was completed in 2009. the final allocation of fair value has resulted in 
total net assets of dkk 21.2bn, a decline of dkk 0.2bn compared to the 
preliminary allocation at 31 december 2008, and total goodwill of dkk 
34.0bn, an increase of dkk 0.2bn. furthermore, there have been some re-

classifications between the individual statement of financial position items. 
the comparative figures and the specification below have been restated 
accordingly. as a consequence of the final allocation of the fair value, 
comparative figures have been restated with a net effect on consolidated 
profit of dkk -13m from dkk 3,206m to dkk 3,193m, and equity as of 
31 december 2008 has been reduced by dkk 850m from dkk 60,751m 
to dkk 59,901m, which primarily relates to foreign exhange adjustments 
of goodwill. further adjustments may be made to the purchase price for 
the acquisition of parts of S&N depending on the final allocation of debt 
according to agreement. 
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activities in S&N.   the above-stated figures for the acquisition of part of the 
activities in S&N comprise the acquired 50% of the carrying amount prior to 
the acquisition and the fair value of the acquired share at the acquisition date 
for the entities in the bbh group equivalent to the share that was acquired. 
       
the total acquisition effect on the statement of financial position, compris-
ing the fair value of acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities plus 
revaluation of the originally owned 50%, was specified in the 2008 consoli-
dated financial statements.      
    
the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N increased the carlsberg 
group’s operations and long-term growth opportunities. the acquisition was 
a result of carlsberg’s strategy of acquiring complete control over the most 
important operating activities. the acquisition comprised the remaining 50% 
of bbh, which operates in russia, the ukraine, the baltic region, kazakhstan, 
uzbekistan and belarus. also, complete ownership was acquired of brasseries 
kronenbourg and other french activities and mythos, greece, 17.5% of chong-
qing, china, and a 50% interest in the joint venture in vietnam.   
       
the acquisition is generating the following significant advantages:  
       
•	 	Complete	control	over	BBH	and	the	elimination	of	uncertainties	as	to	

long-term control over the asset and a considerable improvement in  
the carlsberg group’s long-term growth profile, including realisation  
of synergies.      
  

•	 	Complete	ownership	of	BBH	and	the	opportunity	for	the	Carlsberg	Group	
to take full advantage of the potential of the carlsberg and tuborg brands 
in bbh’s markets.      
  

•	 	Significant	exposure	to	growth	markets.	 	 	 	
    

•	 	The	acquisition	of	the	French	and	Greek	breweries	supports	the	Carlsberg	
group’s existing portfolio of leading market positions in europe, which 
increases capacity and provides the opportunity for synergies through the 
implementation of the carlsberg group’s excellence programmes.  
      

•	 	Increased	sales	volumes	provide	the	Carlsberg	Group	with	the	opportunity	
to generate significant synergies due to reduced indirect production over-
heads, implementation of best practice in the brewing industry and cost 
savings on purchases.      
  

•	 	The	acquisition	strengthens	the	Carlsberg	Group’s	existing	and	growing	
presence in asia through the acquisition of additional activities on the  
attractive chinese and vietnamese markets.     
    

assets held for sale at the acquisition date mainly comprise logistics entities 
in france following changes in logistics and distribution.    
      
goodwill represents a significant amount due to considerable synergies  
expected to be generated in the acquired entities, the intellectual capital 
represented by the acquired staff and the positive growth expectations for 
bbh. the synergies comprise cost savings from procurement and the excel-
lence programmes. also, goodwill reflects synergies in the form of increased 
sales through presence in a larger part of europe and asia, the opportunity 
to launch global and/or regional brands throughout the new organisation, 
synergies from research and development, and improved utilisation of the 
workforce and its intellectual capital.    
 

baltika-baku llc.   baltika-baku llc is the largest brewery in azerbaijan, 
providing a solid foundation for expanding the carlsberg group’s activities 
in eastern europe. baltika breweries is exporting beer to azerbaijan, which 
represents positive growth potential. goodwill represents the value of the 
workforce acquired and synergies in the expanded business.   
      
the acquired activities contributed positively to operating profit before 
special items for 2008 by approximately dkk 2,367m and to the profit for 
the year by approximately dkk 1,550m. No calculation was made of the 
estimated profit for the period january – december had the acquisition 
been completed at 1 january 2008, as this was not possible due to material 
differences in accounting policies in some of the acquired entities, which 
means that the effect of the difference prior to the acquisition cannot be 
determined.       
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NOTe 31   SpecIfIcatIoN of INveSted capItal

dkk million 2009 2008

Intangible assets 208 3
property, plant and equipment 135 286
financial assets, non-current 28 2
Inventories 25 101
receivables 456 258
cash and cash equivalents 87 253
provisions -26 -11
deferred tax liabilities, net -19 -8
borrowings -42 -254
trade payables and other liabilities etc. -216 -264

Net assets 636 366
Non-controlling interests - 6
Interest in disposed entity retained by carlsberg -4 -

equity, carlsberg’s share 632 372
recycling of cumulative exchange differences 11 -55
directly attributable cost -1 167
gains/losses – recognised under special items 49 -232
gains/losses – recognised under financial items -41 -
transferred to investments in associates -475 -

cash consideration received 175 252
cash and cash equivalents, disposed of -87 -253

cash inflow, net 88 -1

dkk million 2009 2008

acquisition and disposal of entities, net:
acquisitions, cash outflow - -51,437
disposals, cash inflow (2009: includes disposal of associates) 88 -1

Net 88 -51,438

dkk million 2009 2008
Invested capital is calculated as follows:
total assets 134,515 142,639

less:
deferred tax assets -1,483 -1,254
loans to associates -36 -6
Interest income receivable, fair value of hedging instruments and financial receivables -342 -1,470
Securities (current and non-current) -111 -125
cash and cash equivalents -2,734 -2,857
assets held for sale -388 -162

total assets included 129,421 136,765

trade payables -7,929 -8,009
deposits on returnable packaging -1,361 -1,455
provisions, excluding restructuring -1,880 -1,572
corporation tax -411 -279
deferred income -1,514 -1,172
financial lease liabilities, included in borrowings -30 -47
other liabilities, excluding deferred income, interest payable and fair value of hedging instruments -6,758 -5,588

total liabilities offset -19,883 -18,122

total invested capital 109,538 118,643

disposal of entities.   businesses disposed of in 2009 comprise the fighter 
brand activities and braunschweig brauerei, germany, göttsche logistical 
activities in germany, which have been contributed in kind to an associate, 
and kronenbourg vietnam limited, vietnam.

the entity disposed of in 2008 was türk tuborg.
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dkk million 2009 2008

Net interest-bearing debt is calculated as follows:
Non-current borrowings 36,075 43,230
current borrowings 3,322 5,291

gross interest-bearing debt 39,397 48,521

cash and cash equivalents -2,734 -2,857
loans to associates -36 -6
on-trade loans -2,143 -2,278
Non-interest-bearing portion 1,368 1,403
other receivables -1,533 -2,032
Non-interest-bearing portion 1,360 1,405

Net interest-bearing debt 35,679 44,156

changes in net interest-bearing debt:
Net interest-bearing debt at 1 january 44,156 19,726

cash flow from operating activities -13,631 -7,812
cash flow from investing activities, excl. acquisition of entities, net 3,177 5,715
cash flow from acquisition of entities, net -95 51,438
dividends to shareholders and non-controlling interests 846 723
acquisition of non-controlling interests 286 299
acquisition/disposal of treasury shares 6 -2
acquired net interest-bearing debt from acquisition/disposal of entities 45 4,015
change in interest-bearing lending - 140
proceeds from capital increase, net - -29,938
effect of currency translation 562 -226
other 327 78

total change -8,477 24,430

Net interest-bearing debt at 31 december 35,679 44,156

NOTe 33   INveStmeNtS IN proportIoNally coNSolIdated eNtItIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

revenue 2,593 5,538
total costs -2,228 -4,484

operating profit before special items 365 1,054

consolidated profit 225 678

Non-current assets 2,477 2,505
current assets 914 980
Non-current liabilities -625 -813
current liabilities -1,270 -1,055

Net assets 1,496 1,617

free cash flow 250 -563

Net cash flow 82 -469

cash and cash equivalents, year-end 75 6

contingent liabilities in joint ventures 135 152

capital commitments in joint ventures 15 49

the amounts shown below represent the group’s share of the assets and 
liabilities, revenue and profit of proportionally consolidated entities, as 
shown in the overview of group companies. these amounts are recognised 

in the consolidated statement of financial position, including goodwill, and 
in the income statement. 

the decrease in key figures is attributable to the bbh group, which was recog-
nised as a proportionally consolidated entity until the acquisition of part of the 
activities in S&N and as a subsidiary from 28 april 2008. 

accordingly, the 2008 figures included 4 months’ activity from the bbh group 
proportionally consolidated in the income statement and cash flows.
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as a result of the carlsberg group’s activities, the group’s profit, debt and 
equity are exposed to a variety of financial risks, primarily relating to foreign 
exchange risk and interest rate risk. 

these risks, the possible impact on the carlsberg group and the steps taken 
to eliminate or mitigate the risks are described below.

the group’s financial risks are managed centrally by group treasury in 
accordance with written principles approved by the Supervisory board, pri-
marily through currency and interest rate instruments and, to a lesser extent, 
raw material contracts. 

Foreign exchange risk
 
as an international business the carlsberg group is exposed to foreign ex-
change risks from currency translation, as the predominant part of revenue 
and earnings originates from foreign entities and is translated into dkk. 
the group is exposed mainly to the following currencies: rub, eur, gbp, 
chf, Nok, Sek, plN and uah. there is also some exposure to a number 
of asian currencies, which in total represent 5-10% of the group’s operat-
ing profit. furthermore, a currency risk exists relating to cash flows from 
operations in currencies other than loan currencies. 

the carlsberg group is exposed to fluctuations in eur/dkk. however, due 
to denmark’s fixed exchange rate regime, where the dkk is pegged to the 
eur, the foreign exchange risk is considered insignificant. 

the carlsberg group has a foreign exchange risk on statement of financial po-
sition items, partly in terms of translation of debt denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currency for the relevant group entity, and partly in 
terms of translation of net investments in entities with a functional currency 
other than dkk. the former risk affects operating profit. however, where debt 
is classified as hedging of net investments in foreign subsidiaries, fair value 
adjustments are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Impact on operating profit.   as the carlsberg group has extensive operations 
outside denmark, developments in exchange rates between dkk and the 
functional currencies of subsidiaries have a significant impact on the carlsberg 
group’s operating profit measured in dkk. operating profit has been weak-
ened as a result of a decrease in the average rub/dkk rate (-17% compared 

to 2008), gbp/dkk rate (-11% compared to 2008), Nok/dkk rate (-6% 
compared to 2008), plN/dkk rate (-19% compared to 2008), uah/dkk rate 
(-29% compared to 2008) and Sek/dkk rate (-10% compared to 2008). the 
average chf/dkk rate had a positive impact (5% higher than 2008). 
 
the carlsberg group has chosen not to hedge the translation of revenue or 
earnings in foreign currencies, but does in certain cases hedge specific cash 
flows such as dividends to be received in foreign currencies.  
 
the carlsberg group is exposed to transaction risks to a lesser degree. It is 
therefore group policy to hedge future contractual cash flows in currencies 
other than the functional currency of the entities for a one-year period. this 
policy applies to Northern & western europe, excluding the baltics and the 
balkans. hedging is carried out when budgets for the following year are 
being prepared, effectively hedging the entities’ ebIt in local currency. Since 
a major part of the costs in foreign currency is in eur, this will not constitute 
a risk at group level. however, at group level these hedges are effectively an 
economic hedge of (parts of) net revenue in the relevant currency. 
 
Impact from eastern europe.   following the acquisition in 2008 of the 50% 
of bbh that carlsberg did not already own, the impact on carlsberg’s oper-
ating profit from entities in eastern europe, and especially baltika breweries, 
has increased. the currency risk in the entities in eastern europe is managed 
differently from carlsberg’s operations in main parts of the rest of the group. 
the background to this is the excessive cost of hedging these currencies over 
a longer period of time. 

with regard to transaction risks, since 2006 it has been the policy for baltika 
breweries to reduce the financial risk measured in rub by balan cing expenses 
in foreign currency. this means that roughly 55% of the total foreign cost base 
has been denominated in uSd and 45% in eur, thus neutralising the effect  
of changes in the uSd vis-à-vis the eur, which proved an effective hedge  
for as long as the russian central bank maintained a fixed currency against 
the basket (consisting of 55% uSd and 45% eur). In the last part of 2008, 
the russian central bank made a devaluation against the basket on several 
occasions. the devaluation continued at the beginning of 2009, but was 
reversed to some extent in the second quarter of 2009, and since the summer 
of 2009 the rub has been relatively stable against the dkk. devaluation  
and depreciation of the rub have affected and will continue to affect operat-
ing profit measured in both dkk and rub. 

Impact on net finance costs.   the main principle for funding currency in sub-
sidiaries is that loans and borrowings should be in local currency or hedged 
to local currency to avoid foreign exchange risk. however, in some group 
entities debt is denominated in a currency other than the group entity’s 
functional currency without the foreign exchange risk being hedged. this 
applies primarily to group entities in eastern europe, and is based on an  

assessment of the alternative cost of financing the entity in the local 
currency. for the countries concerned, the interest rate level in the local cur-
rency, and thus the additional cost of financing in local currency, will be high 
enough to justify a foreign exchange risk – in some countries financing in 
local currency is not available at all. at the end of 2009, for eur and uSd 
loans in eastern europe, a 10% increase in the following cross rates would 

Distribution 
of revenue 2009

24%
rub

24%
eur

12%
dkk

8%
gbp

6%
chf

4%
Sek

4%
Nok

3%
plN

3%
uah

12%
other

Distribution 
of revenue 2008

27%
rub

19%
eur

11%
dkk

8%
gbp

5%
chf

5%   
Sek

4%
Nok

4%
plN

4%
uah

13%
other
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impact financial items as follows: uSd/uah (dkk -41m), uSd/kZt (dkk 
-51m) and eur/uZS (dkk -30m). for uSd deposits, a 10% increase in uSd/
rub would have a positive impact of dkk 48m. baltika breweries was in a 
net cash position by the end of 2009.  
 
In 2009, the group incurred net losses on foreign exchange and made fair 
value adjustments of financial instruments of dkk 501m (2008: losses of 
dkk 802m). the main source for the losses in both 2008 and 2009 was 
uSd- and eur-denominated debt in a number of group companies in  
eastern europe. 

In 2008 this applied in particular to baltika breweries in russia and Sla-
vutich in the ukraine, as both the rub and uah came under pressure in 
the fourth quarter of 2008. In the first quarter of 2009, the rub and uah 
depreciated further against the funding currencies, and the uZS and kZt 
(the functional currencies of uzbekistan and kazakhstan) also came under 
pressure against the funding currencies (eur and uSd respectively). 

Impact on statement of financial position and equity.   the carlsberg group 
holds a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries for which the translation 
of equity to dkk is exposed to foreign exchange risks. the group hedges part 
of this foreign exchange exposure by taking up borrowings denominated in 
the relevant currencies or by entering into forward exchange contracts. this 
applies to net investments in Nok, chf, Sek, eur, rub, plN, gbp, cNy, 
hkd and myr. the basis for hedging is reviewed annually, and the two 
parameters, risk reduction and cost, are balanced. 

changing foreign exchange rates will also affect the level of debt, as funding 
is obtained in a number of currencies (cf. the table in the section on interest 
rate risk). In 2009, the net interest-bearing debt was increased by dkk 
562m (2008: decreased by dkk 228m) due to foreign exchange rates. the 
primary impact derives from net debt in gbp: gbp/dkk appreciated from 
7.65 at the end of 2008 to 8.23 at the end of 2009. 

the carlsberg group’s net investment in foreign currencies (including loans 
granted to subsidiaries as an addition to the net investment) has been great-
ly influenced by the acquisition of the remaining 50% of bbh. although this 
transaction was completed in 2008, the ppa (purchase price allocation) was 
not finalised until 2009.

for 2009 the total losses for carlsberg a/S’s shareholders amounted to dkk 
3,600m (2008: dkk 6,454m) on net investments, loans granted to subsidi-
aries as an addition to the net investment and net investment hedges. the 
losses have primarily been incurred in the eastern european currencies rub 
and uah. “other” included losses in kZt and byr of dkk 132m.

the impact on the equity is included in other comprehensive income. 
 
the most significant net risk relates to foreign exchange adjustment of 
equity in rub, which has only been hedged to some extent. 

foreign exchange adjustment of the net investment in 2008 in “other” 
relates to various eastern european and asian currencies, and Nok.  

the total foreign exchange risk is stated at 31 december 2009. If rub/dkk, 
uah/dkk and ltl/dkk had been 10% lower (higher) at 31 december 2009, 
the hypothetical impact on equity would have been dkk -5,338m (dkk 
5,338m), dkk -186m (dkk 186m) and dkk -217m (dkk 217m) respectively 
(31 december 2008: dkk -5,310 (dkk 5,310m), dkk -186m (dkk 186m) and 
dkk -180m (dkk 180m)).
 

Interest rate risk

the most significant interest rate risk in the carlsberg group relates to bor-
rowings. the management objective is for duration measured in years to be 
between one and five years.
 
the group’s loan portfolio consists of listed bonds, bilateral loan agreements 
and syndicated credit facilities. at 31 december 2009, gross debt (non-
current and current borrowings) amounted to dkk 39,397m (2008: dkk 
48,521m). after deducting cash and cash equivalents, net debt was dkk 
36,663m (2008: dkk 45,664m), a decrease of dkk 9,001m. 
 
Interest rate risks are mainly managed using interest rate swaps and fixed-
rate bonds. 

a breakdown of the gross debt, including the financial instruments used to 
manage foreign exchange and interest rate risks, is provided in note 24.                 
 
at year-end, 62% of the net loan portfolio consisted of fixed-rate loans 
with rates fixed for more than one year (2008: 57%). It is estimated that an 
interest rate rise of 1 percentage point would lead to an increase in annual 
interest expenses of dkk 118m (2008: dkk 197m). the calculation assumes 
a parallel shift in the relevant yield curves and 100% effective hedging of 
changes in the yield curve. 

at the end of 2009, the duration of the net loan portfolio was 2.3 years 
(2008: 1.9 years) and in value terms amounted to dkk 850m (2008: 
dkk 849m). accordingly, the effect of a 1 percentage point increase in 
interest rates would lead to a financial gain of dkk 850m. however, since 
only interest rate swaps, and not fixed-interest borrowing, are marked-
to-market, only the duration contained in financial instruments will affect 
equity. It is estimated that dkk 425m (2008: dkk 625m) of the duration 
is contained in interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, 
meaning that the impact from changes in interest rates will be recognised 
in other comprehensive income. the remaining duration is borrowing with 
fixed interest – primarily the three issued bonds described in note 24. If 
the market interest rates had been 1 percentage point higher (lower) at 
31 december 2009, shareholders’ equity would have been dkk 425m (31 
december 2008: dkk 625m) higher (lower).  

the recognised impact from interest rate derivatives is disclosed in note 35. 
the sensitivity analysis is based on the financial instruments recognised at 
31 december 2009 (31 december 2008).  

carlsberg’s exposure to an increase in short-term interest rates is primarily 
in eur and uSd, and secondarily dkk. the exposure to medium- and 
long-term interest rates is primarily in eur. the table below shows the 
breakdown of currencies and interest rate fixing for the net debt.  
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2009

Net financial debt before swaps Next repricing

dkk million 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-

chf 26 126 -100 - - - -
dkk 1,971 1,581 - - - 5 385
eur 25,326 9,829 -112 66 7,517 7,441 3,005
gbp 6,065 -47 2,045 - 1,647 - -
Nok -22 -22 - - - - -
plN 30 24 2 2 2 - -
rub -817 -817 - - - - -
Sek -16 -16 - - - - -
uSd 4,594 3,892 283 271 102 46 -
other -494 -504 4 6 - - -

total 36,663 14,046 2,122 345 9,268 7,492 3,390

2008

Net financial debt before swaps Next repricing

dkk million 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014-

chf 1,861 1,861 - - - - -
dkk 6,358 5,981 - - - - 377
eur 33,715 12,079 11,184 2 1 7,452 2,997
gbp 3,068 -358 - 1,895 - 1,531 -
Nok -11 -11 - - - - -
plN 134 125 2 2 2 2 1
rub -173 -173 - - - - -
Sek -62 -62 - - - - -
uSd 1,561 1,156 307 98 - - -
other -787 -863 19 24 19 14 -

total 45,664 19,735 11,512 2,021 22 8,999 3,375

Distribution of gross  
financial debt 2008

Distribution of gross  
financial debt 2009

77%
long-term
bank  
borrowings

1%
other  
long-term 
funding

5%
Short-term
bank  
borrowing

6%
other
short-term 
funding

7%
long-term 
bonds

4%
long-term  
mortgages

34%
long-term
bonds

5%
long-term
mortgages

50%
long-term
bank  
borrowings

1%
other
long-term 
funding

8%
Short-term 
bank
borrowing

2%
other  
short-term  
funding
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the unused committed non-current credit facilities of dkk 6,060m are net 
of non-current and current borrowings, and therefore dkk 3,322m (the 
current borrowing) lower than the unutilised long-term committed credit 
facilities of dkk 9,382m. 
 

the major long-term committed credit facilities include financial covenants 
with reference to the ratio between net debt and ebItda. the management 
monitors this ratio, and at 31 december 2009 there was sufficient headroom 
below the ratio.

carlsberg applies the formula below in the monitoring of credit resources 
available: 

2009

total non-current committed loans and credit facilities 45,457
total current and non-current borrowings -39,397

unused committed non-current credit facilities 6,060
cash and cash equivalents 2,734

credit resources available 8,794

raw material risk  

raw material risks are associated in particular with purchasing of cans 
(aluminium), malt (barley) and energy. management of both raw material 
risks and foreign exchange risks is coordinated centrally. the aim of the risk 
management process with respect to raw materials is to ensure stable and 
predictable raw material prices in the long term, and to avoid capital and 
liquidity being tied up unnecessarily.

as the underlying markets for the specified categories of raw materials vary, 
so does the way in which they are hedged against price increases. the most 
common form of hedging is fixed-price agreements in local currencies with 
suppliers.
 
to hedge the implicit risk of rising aluminium prices associated with the 
purchase of cans, carlsberg’s purchase price under the majority of purchase 
agreements is variable and based on the global market price of aluminium  
(london metal exchange, lme). carlsberg is thus able to hedge the 
underlying aluminium price risk. the total volume of aluminium purchased 
via financial instruments was approximately 57,000 tonnes at the end of 
2009 (2008: 80,000 tonnes). based on this volume, and assuming 100% 
efficiency, a 10% increase (decrease) in aluminium prices would impact 
equity positively (negatively) by dkk 65m (2008: dkk 75m). fair values 
are specified in note 35.

for a number of entities, purchases of raw materials such as malt and hops 
are made in a currency other than the functional currency. It is group policy 
for Northern & western europe to secure delivery for the coming budget 
year, and the exposure for 2010 was thus hedged in spring 2009.  
 
for eastern europe, hedging of the foreign exchange risk has not been made 
for 2010, as forward prices for the currencies contained an implicit expecta-
tion of devaluation – and thereby cost of hedging – which was higher than 
carlsberg’s estimate of the likely development. 

Capital structure and management

management’s strategy and overall goal are to ensure a continued develop-
ment and strengthening of the group’s capital structure which supports 
long-term profitable growth and a solid increase in key earnings and state-
ment of financial position ratios. In 2006 the carlsberg group was awarded 
investment-grade ratings by moody’s Investor Service and fitch ratings.  
the rating was reaffirmed in may 2009. 

carlsberg a/S’s share capital is divided into two classes (a shares and b 
shares). combined with the carlsberg foundation’s position as majority 
shareholder (in terms of control), management considers that this division  
will remain advantageous for all of the company’s shareholders, as 

Credit risk

credit risk is the risk of a counterparty failing to meet its contractual obliga-
tions and so inflicting a loss on the carlsberg group. group policy is that fi-
nancial transactions may be entered into only with financial institutions with 
a high credit rating. the credit exposure on financial institutions is effectively 
managed at two levels. carlsberg primarily enters into financial instruments 
and transactions with financial institutions that are the group’s relationship 
banks, i.e. extending loans to the group. In most cases, carlsberg will be in 
a net debt position with its relationship banks. furthermore, group treasury 
monitors the group’s gross credit exposure to banks, and operates with 
individual limits on banks based on rating, level of government support and 
access to netting of asset and liabilities. 
 
the carlsberg group grants loans to the on-trade in certain countries. the 
individual group entities monitor and control these loans as well as ordinary 
trade credit in accordance with central guidelines. It is estimated that the 
provisions made, cf. note 19, are sufficient to cover expected losses. 
 
developments of importance to the on-trade may increase the credit risk 
for groups of customers in a country/market. Such developments include 
changes in local legislation, which may have an adverse effect on the earn-
ings in the industry in general, and are taken into consideration when write-
downs for bad debt losses are made. the credit risk is therefore assessed to 
be reflected in the carrying amount. 

cash and cash equivalents are not associated with any significant credit risks.
 
the maximum credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of the financial 
assets. 

liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk of the carlsberg group failing to meet its contractual 
obligations due to insufficient liquidity. carlsberg’s policy is for funding and 
liquidity to be managed centrally. It is therefore group treasury’s task to 
ensure effective liquidity management, which primarily involves obtaining 
sufficient committed credit facilities to ensure adequate financial resources, 
and to some extent tapping a diversity of funding sources. at 31 december 
2009, carlsberg had unutilised long-term committed credit facilities of dkk 
9,382m (2008: dkk 8,866m). 
 
for day-to-day liquidity management, the group uses cash pools, covering 
most of Northern & western europe, or intra-group loans between group 
treasury and subsidiaries. as a result of withholding tax and local legisla-
tion, the majority-owned entities in eastern europe have their own credit 
facilities and borrowings from banks, as is also the case for the joint venture 
in portugal (unicer-bebidas). 
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NOTe 34   fINaNcIal rISkS – coNtINued

No changes were made to the group’s guidelines for control of capital struc-
ture and management in 2009. 
 
 
 

committed non-current credit facilities at 31 december:

dkk million 2009

1-2 years 5,813
2-3 years 25,048
3-4 years 1,875
4-5 years 7,525
  >5 years 5,196

total 45,457

current borrowings 3,322
Non-current borrowings 36,075

total 39,397

the fair value of financial derivatives, and in most cases also non-derivative 
financial instruments, is calculated on the basis of observable market data 
using generally accepted methods. both external valuation reports and 
internally calculated fair values based on discounting of cash flows of finan-
cial derivatives are used. where internally calculated values are used, these 
are compared to external market values on a quarterly basis.

Fair value hedges and financial derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments (economic hedges) 

fair value hedges and economic hedges not designated in a fair value 
hedge relationship are primarily exchange rate instruments used to swap 
the currency of borrowings and other financial instruments. they are used 
in the daily liquidity and risk management process as well as in the loan 
portfolio. 
 

changes in the fair value of financial instruments used as fair value hedges 
and derivatives not designated as hedging instruments (economic hedges) are 
recognised in the income statement. the non-designated instruments are pri-
marily hedges of financial risks relating to borrowings. financial risks primarily 
comprise the foreign exchange risk on borrowings. 

the only fair value adjustments of designated fair value hedge relation-
ships are a cross-currency swap of a gbp 300m bond issue with fixed 
interest that has been swapped to floating eur, and two swaps hedging 
two fixed-rate mortgage loans. In 2009 dkk -109m (2008: dkk -7m) 
arising from the change in fair value of financial instruments designated as 
the hedged item in a fair value hedge was recognised in the income state-
ment. the fair value adjustment of the loan was dkk +87m (2008: dkk 
+7m). In all three hedging relationships, the fair value adjustment relates to 
changes in the market risk factor (interest and foreign exchange rates) and 
not to credit risk. 

this structure enables and supports the long-term development of the 
carlsberg group.

management regularly assesses whether the group’s capital structure is in 
the interests of the group and its shareholders. management assesses total 
committed credit facilities, expected future cash flows and the net debt ratio 

as well as relevant bank covenants, which are mainly related to the afore-
mentioned key figures. at 31 december 2009, the carlsberg group had net 
interest-bearing debt totalling dkk 35,679m (2008: dkk 44,156m). the credit 
resources available and the access to unused committed credit facilities are 
considered reasonable in light of the group’s current needs in terms of finan-
cial flexibility.  

NOTe 35   fINaNcIal INStrumeNtS

2009 2008

dkk million
fair value adjustment 

recognised in income statement fair value
fair value adjustment 

recognised in income statement fair value

Interest rate instruments -10 - 28 2
exchange rate instruments 97 -1,111 533 -1,026
Ineffective portion of hedge -7 -7 -5 -5

total 80 -1,118 556 -1,029
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NOTe 35   fINaNcIal INStrumeNtS – coNtINued

value adjustments of fair value hedges in the financial year are recognised 
in the income statement. the adjustments are included in financial income 
and financial expenses (note 8). In 2009 financial income amounted to dkk 
80m (2008: dkk 556m). 

the fair value adjustment in 2008 is primarily due to the gbp 250m cross-
currency swap, which is a hedge of the gbp 250m bond issue. the fair value 
adjustment is related to the inefficient portion of interest rate hedges. the 
total ineffective portion is a loss of dkk 7m (2008: dkk 5m). 

the value of fair value hedges recognised at 31 december amounted to dkk 
-1,118m (2008: dkk -1,029m). the recognition of the fair value hedges in the 
consolidated financial statements is specified in a separate table below. 

Cash flow hedges   

cash flow hedges are primarily used on interest rate swaps where the 
hedged item is the underlying (floating rate) borrowing, and on aluminium 
hedges where the hedged item is aluminium cans, used in a number of 
group entities in Northern & western europe and eastern europe. 
 

fair value adjustments on cash flow hedges in the financial year are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and amounted to dkk 139m 
(2008: dkk -2,011m). the adjustments are included in financial income and 
financial expenses (note 8). 
 
the fair value of cash flow hedges recognised at 31 december amounted to 
dkk -1,076m (2008: dkk -1,368m). the recognition of cash flow hedges in 
the consolidated financial statements is summarised in a separate table. 
 
 
 
 
 

the impact on other comprehensive income from exchange rate instruments 
relates to hedges of group entities’ purchases in currencies other than their 
functional currencies. the impact on other comprehensive income from 
other instruments relates to hedges of group entities’ exposure to changes in 
aluminium prices. 

1 these eur interest rate swaps were entered into during 2008 following 
the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N and the subsequent increase 
in debt.

main financial instruments – overview

dkk million maturity purpose

Instrument:
eur 500m interest rate swap 2010 Swap of borrowing with 1 month eurIbor to fixed
eur 1,000m interest rate swap1 2010 Swap of borrowing with 1 month eurIbor to fixed
eur 1,000m interest rate swap1 2013 Swap of borrowing with 1 month eurIbor to fixed
eur 400m interest rate swap1 2015 Swap of borrowing with 1 month eurIbor to fixed
gbp 250m currency swap 2011 Swap of fixed gbp interest to fixed dkk interest
aluminium 2010-2012 fixing of aluminium risk related to purchase of cans

cash flow hedges 2009 2008

dkk million

fair value adjustment  
recognised in other  

comprehensive income fair value
expected  

recognition

fair value adjustment  
recognised in other  

comprehensive income fair value
expected  

recognition

Interest rate instruments -118 -1,130 2010-2015 -998 -1,102 2009-2015
exchange rate instruments -88 -25 2010 -832 - -
other instruments 345 79 2010-2012 -181 -266 2009-2012

total 139 -1,076 -2,011 -1,368
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NOTe 35   fINaNcIal INStrumeNtS – coNtINued

Hedging of net investments in foreign subsidiaries

a change in the fair value of financial instruments (both derivatives and debt 
instruments) used to hedge the foreign exchange risk associated with invest-
ments in foreign currency is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
where the fair value adjustments do not exceed the value adjustments of 
the investment, the adjustments of the financial instruments are recognised 

in other comprehensive income; otherwise the fair value adjustments are 
recognised in the income statement. 
 
In addition, loans classified as additions to net investments have been 
granted to subsidiaries. foreign exchange adjustments of these loans are 
recognised in other comprehensive income in the same line as the gains/
losses on the hedges of net investments. 

fair value adjustments of net investment hedges in the financial year are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and amounted to dkk -116m 
(2008: dkk 459m). the adjustments are included in financial income and 
financial expenses (note 8). 
 

the fair value of net investment hedges recognised at 31 december amount-
ed to dkk -20m (2008: dkk 799m). the recognition of the fair values in the 
consolidated financial statements is summarised in a separate table. 

hedging of net investments 2009 2008

dkk million

fair value adjustment  
recognised in other  

comprehensive income fair value

fair value adjustment  
recognised in other  

comprehensive income fair value

exchange rate instruments -116 -20 459 799

total -116 -20 459 799

2009 2008

dkk million

hedging of 
investment, 

amount 
in currency

addition to 
net investment, 

amount in 
currency

total adjustment  
to other  

comprehensive 
income

Income
statement

hedging of 
investment, 

amount 
in currency

addition to 
net investment, 

amount in 
currency

total adjustment  
to other  

comprehensive 
income

Income
statement

Sek -9,877 5,787 -172 - -9,282 5,424 542 -
Nok -750 3,182 340 - -700 3,200 -450 -
chf -460 - -7 - -385 - -188 -
gbp -70 - 1 - - - - -
myr -450 - 10 - -450 - 2 -
eur -398 635 7 - -898 5,119 -70 -
rub -2,857 - -236 - -7,644 - 422 -
plN -820 - -29 - -740 - 183 -
cNy -1,400 - 4 - - - - -
hkd -500 - -9 - - - - -
eek - 1,152 -1 - - 1,538 - -
lvl - - -24 - -9 - 18 -

total -116 - 459 -
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financial liabilities 2009

dkk million
contractual
cash flows

maturity
< 1 year

maturity
> 1 year

< 5 years
maturity

> 5 years
carrying
amount

derivative financial instruments:
derivative financial instruments, payables 2,257 549 1,471 237 2,485

Non-derivative financial instruments:
financial debt, gross 39,605 3,322 31,029 5,254 39,397
Interest expense 5,559 1,340 3,640 579 N/a
trade payables and deposits on returnable packaging 9,290 9,290 - - 9,290
liabilities related to the acquisition of entities 649 127 - 522 649
financial liabilities associated with assets held for sale 51 51 - - 51

Non-derivative financial instruments, total 55,154 14,130 34,669 6,355 49,387

financial liabilities, total 57,411 14,679 36,140 6,592 N/a

derivative financial instruments, receivables -249 -147 -102 - -271

liquidity risk  

recognition of financial instruments – summary
fair values of financial instruments are recognised depending on the nature of the hedge.

dkk million 2009 2008

fair value presented in the previous table:
fair value/economic hedges -1,118 -1,029
cash flow hedges -1,076 -1,368
Net investment hedges -20 799

total -2,214 -1,598

presentation in notes to the consolidated financial statements:
receivables, cf. note 19 271 1,131
other liabilities, cf. note 28 -2,485 -2,729

total -2,214 -1,598
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derivative financial instruments and the borrowings referred to in the section 
above on fair value hedges are held at fair value, while other items are held 
at amortised cost. 

all items are stated at their notional amounts. derivative financial instru-
ments payable and receivable are presented gross. derivative financial 
instruments are in general traded within the group’s relationship banks, cf. 
the credit risk section in note 34. the notional amount/contractual cash flow 
of the financial debt is dkk 208m higher (2008: dkk 196m) than the carry-
ing amount. the difference between the notional amount and the carrying 
amount is a cost that has been capitalised and is amortised over the dura-

tion of the borrowings, and the difference between the notional amount of 
the bond and the two mortgages which are carried at fair value. the interest 
expense is the contractual cash flows expected on issued bonds, the part of 
bank borrowing that has been swapped and mortgages (all excluding swaps 
but including margin). the expected cash flows from the swaps related to 
the borrowings are included in the contractual cash flow for the derivative 
financial instrument. It should be noted that the cash flows regarding the 
interest expense are estimated cash flows based on the notional amount of 
the above-mentioned borrowings and forward interest rates at year-ends 
2009 and 2008. 

financial liabilities 2008

dkk million
contractual
cash flows

maturity
< 1 year

maturity
> 1 year

< 5 years
maturity

> 5 years
carrying
amount

derivative financial instruments:
derivative financial instruments, payables 2,941 711 2,127 103 2,729

Non-derivative financial instruments:
financial debt, gross 48,717 5,291 40,546 2,880 48,521
Interest expense 4,648 1,222 2,857 569 N/a
trade payables and deposits on returnable packaging 9,466 9,466 - - 9,466
liabilities related to the acquisition of entities 215 - 215 - 215
financial liabilities associated with assets held for sale 453 453 - - 453

Non-derivative financial instruments, total 63,499 16,432 43,618 3,449 N/a

financial liabilities, total 66,440 17,143 45,745 3,552 N/a

derivative financial instruments, receivables -750 -705 -45 - -1,131

NOTe 35   fINaNcIal INStrumeNtS – coNtINued

carlsberg has no financial instruments measured at fair value at level 1 
(quoted prices) or at level 3 (non-observable data). 

the fair value of all derivatives calculated internally (whether designated 
as fair value or economic hedges, cash flow hedges or net investment 
hedges) is calculated by: a) estimating the notional future cash flows using 

observable market data such as yield curves and the aluminium forward 
curve; b) discounting the estimated and fixed cash flow to present value; c) 
converting the amounts in foreign currency into the functional currency at 
the end-of-period foreign exchange rate. the fair value of the financial net 
debt is calculated using the same methodology as for derivatives – using 
both externally and internally generated yield curves.  

fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value  
in the statement of financial position 2009 2008

dkk million level 2 – observable data level 2 – observable data

financial assets:
fair value hedges 30 243
cash flow hedges 79 -
Net investment hedges 162 888

total 271 1,131

financial liabilities:
financial debt at fair value 2,803 361
fair value and economic hedges 1,148 1,272
cash flow hedges 1,155 1,368
Net investment hedges 182 89

total 5,288 3,090
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NOTe 37   coNtINgeNt lIabIlItIeS aNd other commItmeNtS

the carlsberg group has issued guarantees for loans etc. raised by joint 
ventures (non-consolidated share of loan) of dkk 79m (2008: dkk 125m) 
and for loans etc. raised by third parties (non-consolidated entities) of dkk 
835m (2008: dkk 886m). 

carlsberg a/S is jointly registered for danish vat and excise duties with 
carlsberg breweries a/S, carlsberg danmark a/S and various other minor 
danish subsidiaries, and is jointly and severally liable for payment of vat 
and excise duties. 
 
carlsberg a/S and the other companies covered by the danish joint taxation 
scheme are jointly and severally liable for payment of corporation tax for 
2004 and previous tax years. 
 

the carlsberg group is party to certain lawsuits, disputes etc. of various 
sizes. In management’s opinion, apart from as recognised in the statement 
of financial position or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, 
the outcome of these lawsuits, disputes etc. will not have a material nega-
tive effect on the company’s or the group’s financial position. 
 
certain guarantees etc. are issued in connection with disposal of entities and 
activities etc. other than as recognised in the statement of financial position 
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, these guarantees etc. 
will not have a material effect on the group’s financial position. 

contractual commitments.   the carlsberg group has entered into service 
contracts of various lengths in respect of sales, logistics and It. costs related 
to the contracts are recognised as the services are received. 

capital commitments

dkk million 2009 2008

capital commitments which at the end of the reporting period are agreed to  
be made at a later date and are therefore not recognised in the consolidated  
financial statements: 
Intangible assets 9 7
property, plant and equipment and construction contracts 145 490

total 154 497

NOTe 36   related party dIScloSureS

related parties exercising control.   the carlsberg foundation, h.c. andersens 
boulevard 35, 1553 copenhagen v, denmark, holds 30.3% of the shares and 
72.9% of the voting power in carlsberg a/S, excluding treasury shares. the 
foundation participated in the capital increase in june 2008. apart from this 
and dividends and grants, cf. note 6, no transactions were carried out with the 
carlsberg foundation during the year.
 
 
 

related parties exercising significant influence.   the group was not involved 
in any transactions during the year with major shareholders, members of 
the Supervisory board, members of the executive board, other executive 
employees, or companies outside the carlsberg group in which these parties 
have significant influence.  
 
 
 
 

the decrease in key figures is attributable to the bbh group, which was 
recognised as a proportionally consolidated entity until the acquisition and 
as a subsidiary as at 28 april 2008. accordingly, the 2008 figures included 

four months’ activity from the bbh group proportionally consolidated in the 
income statement. 

associates

dkk million 2009 2008

the income statement and statement of financial position include  
the following transactions with associates:
revenue 218 462
cost of sales 291 386
loans 34 7
borrowings -193 27
receivables from the sale of goods and services 49 78
trade payables 12 114

No losses on loans to or receivables from associates were recognised  
or provided for in either 2009 or 2008.  

proportionally consolidated entities

dkk million 2009 2008

the income statement and statement of financial position include  
the following transactions with proportionally consolidated entities:
revenue 10 34
costs 4 4
Interest income - 7
Interest expenses - 13
receivables 17 23
trade payables and other liabilities etc. - 1
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NOTe 38   operatINg leaSe lIabIlItIeS

2009

dkk million
land and
buildings

plant and
machinery

fixtures and fittings, 
other plant and 

equipment

Non-current 
assets under 
construction total

future lease payments:
within one year 127 12 294 - 433
between one and five years 963 19 434 - 1,416
after more than five years 209 - 25 - 234

total 1,299 31 753 - 2,083

2008

dkk million
land and
buildings

plant and
machinery

fixtures and fittings, 
other plant and 

equipment

Non-current 
assets under 
construction total

future lease payments:
within one year 149 41 584 - 774
between one and five years 272 49 1,249 2 1,572
after more than five years 265 - 40 - 305

total 686 90 1,873 2 2,651

dkk million 2009 2008

operating lease recognised in the income statement 463 677

expected future income under non-cancellable subleases (matures within 10 years) 105 123

the carlsberg group has entered into operating leases relating primarily to 
properties, It equipment and transport equipment (cars, trucks and forklifts). 
these leases contain no special purchase rights etc. 
 

 

NOTe 39   eveNtS after the reportINg perIod

other than the events recognised or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements, no events have occurred after the reporting period of importance 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

NOTe 40   accouNtINg polIcIeS

the 2009 consolidated financial statements of the carlsberg group have 
been prepared in accordance with International financial reporting Stand-
ards (IfrS) as adopted by the eu and additional danish disclosure require-
ments for annual reports, cf. the statutory order pursuant to the danish 
financial Statements act. 

In addition, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
compliance with the International financial reporting Standards (IfrS) 
issued by the IaSb.

the consolidated financial statements are presented in danish kroner (dkk 
million), which is the parent company’s functional currency.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for the following assets and liabilities, which are meas-
ured at fair value: derivative financial instruments, financial instruments  

in the trading portfolio and financial instruments classified as available  
for sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are meas-
ured at the lower of the carrying amount before the changed classification 
and fair value less costs to sell.

the accounting policies set out below have been used consistently in 
respect of the financial year and the comparative figures. the purchase price 
allocation of the fair value of identified assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities in the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N was completed in 
april 2009 and for the acquisition of baltika-baku llc in august 2009. the 
comparative figures for 2008 have been restated accordingly in accordance 
with IfrS 3 requirements as further described in note 30, acquisition and 
disposal of entities. 
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NOTe 40   accouNtINg polIcIeS – coNtINued

New International Financial reporting standards and Interpretations

with effect from 1 january 2009 the following IfrSs and Interpretations 
were implemented which did not affect the consolidated financial state-
ments 2009 materially:

•		IFRS	8	“Operating	Segments”.	The	Standard	only	affected	the	financial	
disclosures for the group’s segments. the Standard did not affect the 
group’s segmentation, which was already in compliance with the Standard, 
or recognition and measurement in the consolidated financial statements.

•		IFRS	2	“Share-based	Payment:	Vesting	conditions	and	Cancellations”.	
•		IAS	23	“Borrowing	Costs”.	The	Standard	requires	that	borrowing	costs	are	

included in the cost of qualifying assets (intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment) that take a substantial period of time to get ready 
for use or sale. the Standard only applies to assets where development 
commences on or after 1 january 2009. the Standard affects building, 
repairs and maintenance of large production plants and breweries. capital-
ised borrowing costs incurred in 2009 were insignificant.

•		IAS	1	“Presentation	of	Financial	Statements”	describes	the	presentation	of	
financial statements and changes the presentation of the primary financial 
statements in the consolidated financial statements for 2009. 

•		IFRIC	13	“Customer	Loyalty	Programmes”	regarding	customer	loyalty	
programmes. 

•		Amendments	to	IAS	1	and	IAS	32	“Puttable	Financial	Instruments	and	
obligations arising on liquidation”.  

•		Amendments	to	IFRS	1	and	IAS	27	“Cost	of	an	investment	in	a	Subsidiary,	
jointly controlled entity or associate”.

•		Amendments	to	IFRS	7	“Improving	disclosures	about	Financial	Invest-
ments” which have changed the disclosures in the notes.

•		Improvements	to	IFRSs	issued	in	May	2008.
•	IFRIC	15	“Agreements	for	the	Construction	of	Real	Estate”.	
•	IFRIC	16	“Hedges	of	a	Net	Investment	in	a	Foreign	Operation”.	
•	IFRIC	17	“Distribution	of	Non-cash	Assets	to	Owners”.	

the IaSb has issued the following new and amended Standards and Interpre-
tations, which have been adopted by the eu but are not yet mandatory for 
the preparation of the carlsberg group’s consolidated financial statements: 

•		IFRS	3	“Business	Combinations”	and	IAS	27	“Consolidated	and	Separate	
financial Statements”. 

•	Amendments	to	IAS	39	and	IFRIC	9.

the new and amended Standards and Interpretations are effective for  
financial years beginning on or after 1 july 2009 and will be adopted by  
the carlsberg group as of the financial year 2010.

In addition, the following new or amended Standards and Interpretations of rel-
evance to the carlsberg group have been issued but not yet adopted by the eu:

•		Improvements	to	IFRS	issued	in	April	2009.	
•		IFRS	9	“Financial	Instruments”	issued	November	2009.	The	Standard	is	

effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 january 2013. 

the new and amended Standards and Interpretations are not mandatory for 
the financial reporting for 2009. the carlsberg group expects to adopt the 
Standards and Interpretations when they become mandatory.

the accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are consistent with those of last year.

Consolidated financial statements

the consolidated financial statements comprise the parent company 
carlsberg a/S and subsidiaries in which carlsberg a/S has control, i.e. the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies. control is obtained 
when carlsberg a/S directly or indirectly owns or controls more than 50%  
of the voting rights in the subsidiary or has control in some other way. 

entities over which the group exercises a significant influence, but which it 
does not control, are considered associates. Significant influence is generally 
obtained by direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 20% of 

the voting rights but less than 50%. when assessing whether carlsberg a/S 
exercises control or significant influence, potential voting rights exercisable 
at the end of the reporting period are taken into account.

entities which by agreement are managed jointly with one or more other 
parties (joint ventures) are consolidated proportionally, and the individual 
accounting entries are recognised in proportion to the ownership share.

a group chart is included in note 41.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared as a consoli-
dation of the financial statements of the parent company, subsidiaries 
and proportionally consolidated entities prepared according to the group 
accounting policies. on consolidation, intra-group income and expenses, 
shareholdings etc., intra-group balances and dividends, and realised and un-
realised gains on intra-group transactions are eliminated. unrealised gains 
on transactions with associates and proportionally consolidated entities 
are eliminated in proportion to the group’s ownership share of the entity. 
unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains to the 
extent that impairment has not taken place.

Investments in subsidiaries and proportionally consolidated entities are set off 
against the proportionate share of the subsidiaries’ fair value of identifiable 
net assets, including recognised contingent liabilities, at the acquisition date.

the accounting items of subsidiaries are included in full in the consolidated 
financial statements. Non-controlling interests’ share of the profit/loss for the 
year and of the equity of subsidiaries which are not wholly owned is included 
in the group’s profit/loss and equity respectively, but is disclosed separately.

business combinations. entities acquired or formed during the year are 
re cognised in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisi-
tion or formation. entities which are disposed of or wound up are recognised 
in the consolidated income statement until the date of disposal or winding-
up. the comparative figures are not restated for entities acquired, disposed 
of or wound up. discontinued operations are presented separately, cf. below. 

for acquisitions of new subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates the acqui-
sition method is used. the acquired entities’ identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Iden-
tifiable intangible assets are recognised if they are separable or arise from a 
contractual right, and the fair value can be reliably measured. deferred tax 
on revaluations is recognised.

the acquisition date is the date when the carlsberg group effectively obtains 
control of the acquired subsidiary, enters the management of the joint 
venture or obtains significant influence over the associate.

for business combinations made on 1 january 2004 or later, any excess of 
the cost over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contin-
gent liabilities acquired (goodwill) is recognised as goodwill under intangible 
assets. goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. the 
first impairment test is performed before the end of the acquisition year. 
upon acquisition, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units, which 
subsequently form the basis for the impairment test.

the cost of a business combination comprises the fair value of the consid-
eration agreed upon and costs directly attributable to the acquisition. when 
a business combination agreement provides for an adjustment to the cost of 
the combination contingent on future events, the amount of that adjustment 
is included in the cost of the combination if the event is probable and the 
adjustment can be measured reliably.

goodwill and fair value adjustments in connection with the acquisition of a 
foreign entity with a functional currency other than the presentation currency 
used in the carlsberg group are treated as assets and liabilities belonging to 
the foreign entity and translated into the foreign entity’s functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the transaction date. Negative differences (negative 
goodwill) are recognised in the income statement at the acquisition date.

If uncertainties regarding measurement of acquired identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities exist at the acquisition date, initial recognition will take 
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NOTe 40   accouNtINg polIcIeS – coNtINued

place on the basis of preliminary fair values. If identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities are subsequently determined to have a different fair value 
at the acquisition date from that first assumed, goodwill is adjusted up until 
12 months after the acquisition. the effect of the adjustments is recognised 
in the opening balance of equity and the comparative figures are restated 
accordingly. Subsequently, goodwill is only adjusted as a result of changes in 
estimates of contingent purchase considerations, except in cases of material er-
ror. however, subsequent realisation of the acquired entity’s deferred tax assets 
not recognised at the acquisition date will require recognition of the tax benefit 
in the income statement and simultaneous write-down of the carrying amount 
of goodwill to the amount which would have been recognised if the deferred 
tax asset had been recognised as an identifiable asset at the acquisition date.

when a business combination is achieved in stages (step acquisition), each 
significant transaction is accounted for separately to determine the cost and 
fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, 
including any goodwill.

the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired may differ at the various acquisition dates. when a transaction in 
a step acquisition results in control, previously acquired interests in identifi-
able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities associated with existing 
ownership interests are remeasured at fair value at the acquisition date. 
the remeasurement is accounted for as a revaluation and recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

for business combinations made prior to 1 january 2004, the account-
ing classification is maintained according to the former accounting policies, 
except that trademarks are now presented in a separate line in the statement 
of financial position. accordingly, goodwill is recognised on the basis of the 
cost recognised in accordance with the former policies (the danish financial 
Statements act and danish accounting Standards) less amortisation and 
impairment losses up until 31 december 2003. goodwill is not amortised after 
1 january 2004. the accounting treatment of business combinations prior to  
1 january 2004 was not changed in connection with the opening balance at  
1 january 2004.

gains or losses on the disposal or winding-up of subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates are stated as the difference between the sales amount and 
the carrying amount of net assets, including goodwill at the date of disposal 
or winding-up, foreign exchange adjustments recognised in other compre-
hensive income and costs to sell or winding-up expenses. gains or losses on 
disposal or winding-up of subsidiaries are recognised in the income state-
ment under Special items, whereas gains or losses on disposal or winding-up 
of associates are recognised as financial income or financial expenses.

on disposal of entities acquired prior to 1 january 2002 where goodwill 
was written off in equity in accordance with the former accounting policies 
and where, in accordance with the exemption in IfrS 1, goodwill is not 
recognised in the statement of financial position, the goodwill written off 
is recognised at a carrying amount of dkk 0 in determining any gains and 
losses on the disposal of the entity.

acquisition and disposal of non-controlling interests.   on acquisition of 
non-controlling interests (i.e. subsequent to the carlsberg group obtaining 
control) acquired net assets are not revalued at fair value. the difference 
between the cost and the carrying amount of acquired non-controlling 
interests at the acquisition date is recognised as goodwill.

on disposal of non-controlling interests, the difference between the sales 
amount and the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests is deducted 
proportionally from the carrying amount of goodwill.

foreign currency translation.   for each of the reporting entities in the 
group, a functional currency is determined. the functional currency is the 
primary currency used for the reporting entity’s operations. transactions 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are considered 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

on initial recognition, transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates at the transac-

tion date. foreign exchange differences arising between the exchange rates 
at the transaction date and at the date of payment are recognised in the 
income statement as financial income or financial expenses. 

receivables, payables and other monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting 
period. the difference between the exchange rates at the end of the report-
ing period and at the date at which the receivable or payable arose or the 
exchange rate in the latest consolidated financial statements is recognised in 
the income statement as financial income or financial expenses.

on recognition in the consolidated financial statements of entities with a 
functional currency other than the presentation currency of carlsberg a/S 
(dkk), the income statements and statement of cash flows are trans-
lated at the exchange rates at the transaction date and the statement of 
financial position items are translated at the exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period. an average exchange rate for the month is used as 
the exchange rate at the transaction date to the extent that this does not 
significantly deviate from the exchange rate at the transaction date. foreign 
exchange differences arising on translation of the opening balance of equity 
of foreign entities at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period 
and on translation of the income statements from the exchange rates at the 
transaction date to the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and attributed to a separate 
translation reserve in equity.

foreign exchange adjustment of balances with foreign entities which are 
considered part of the investment in the entity is recognised in the consol idated 
financial statements in other comprehensive income if the balance is denomi-
nated in the functional currency of the parent company or the foreign entity. 
correspondingly, foreign exchange gains and losses on the part of loans and 
derivative financial instruments which are designated as hedges of investments 
in foreign entities with a functional currency different from that of carlsberg 
a/S and which effectively hedge against corresponding foreign exchange gains 
and losses on the investment in the entity are also recognised in other compre-
hensive income and attributed to a separate translation reserve in equity.

on recognition in the consolidated financial statements of associates with a 
functional currency other than the presentation currency of carlsberg a/S, the 
share of profit/loss for the year is translated at average exchange rates and 
the share of equity, including goodwill, is translated at the exchange rates at 
the end of the reporting period. foreign exchange differences arising on the 
translation of the share of the opening balance of equity of foreign associates 
at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, and on translation 
of the share of profit/loss for the year from average exchange rates to the 
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, are recognised in other com-
prehensive income and attributed to a separate translation reserve in equity.

on complete or partial disposal of a foreign entity or on repayment of bal-
ances which constitute part of the net investment in the foreign entity, the 
share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in 
other comprehensive income relating to that foreign entity is recognised in 
the income statement when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

prior to translation of the financial statements of foreign entities in countries 
with hyperinflation, the financial statements (including comparative figures)  
are inflation-adjusted for changes in purchasing power in the local currency. 
Inflation adjustment is based on relevant price indexes at the end of the  
reporting period.

derivative financial instruments.   derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value on the 
trade date and subsequently measured at fair value. attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in the income statement. 

the fair values of derivative financial instruments are included in other 
receivables and other payables, and positive and negative values are offset 
only made when the group has the right and the intention to settle several 
financial instruments net. fair values of derivative financial instruments are 
computed on the basis of current market data and generally accepted valua-
tion methods.
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changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as 
and qualifying for recognition as a fair value hedge of recognised assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the income statement, together with changes in the 
value of the hedged asset or liability with respect to the hedged portion. except 
for foreign currency hedges, hedging of future cash flows according to a firm 
agreement is treated as a fair value hedge of a recognised asset or liability.

changes in the portion of the fair value of derivative financial instruments 
designated as and qualifying as a cash flow hedge and which effectively 
hedge changes in the value of the hedged item are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. when the hedged transaction results in gains or 
losses, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are transferred to the same item as the hedged item when the hedged 
risk impacts the income statement. when the hedged item is a non-
financial asset, the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is 
transferred to the carrying amount of the asset when the non-financial 
asset is recognised. 

derivatives designated as and qualifying for recognition as a cash flow 
hedge of financial investments are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. on complete or partial disposal of the financial investment, the 
portion of the hedging instrument that is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and relates to that financial investment is recognised in the income 
statement when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

for derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge account-
ing, changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement as financial 
income or financial expenses.

changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments used to hedge 
net investments in foreign subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates and 
which effectively hedge currency fluctuations in these entities are recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements in other comprehensive income and 
attributed to a separate translation reserve in equity.

embedded derivatives are recognised separately from the host contract 
and measured at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are 
not closely related to those of the host contract, as a separate instrument 
with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative, and the 
entire combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit 
and loss. Separated embedded derivatives are subsequently measured at 
fair value. 

Income statement

revenue.   revenue from the sale of finished goods and goods for resale is 
recognised in the income statement provided that transfer of all significant 
risk and rewards to the buyer has taken place and that the income can be 
reliably measured and is expected to be received.

royalty and licence fees are recognised when earned according to the terms 
of the licence agreements.

revenue is measured excl. vat and duties, including excise duties on beer 
and soft drinks, and discounts.

cost of sales.   cost of sales comprises costs incurred in generating the 
revenue for the year and development costs. Such costs include direct and 
indirect costs for raw materials and consumables, wages and salaries, rent 
and leases, and depreciation of production plant and returnable packaging.

Sales and distribution expenses.   costs incurred in distributing goods sold 
during the year and in conducting sales campaigns etc. during the year are 
recognised as distribution expenses. also included are costs relating to sales 
staff, sponsorships, advertising and in-store display expenses, as well as 
depreciation and impairment of sales equipment.

administrative expenses.   administrative expenses comprise expenses 
incurred during the year for management and administration, including 
expenses for administrative staff, office premises and office expenses, and 
depreciation and write-downs for bad debt losses.

other operating income and expenses.   other operating income and costs 
comprise items secondary to the principal activities of the entities, including 
income and expenses relating to rental properties and construction contracts 
(real estate projects) and gains and losses on the disposal of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment. gains and losses on the disposal 
of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are determined as 
the sales price less selling costs and the carrying amount at the disposal 
date. also included in this item is the effective interest rate on on-trade loans 
calculated on the basis of amortised cost, expenses relating to the research 
activities in denmark and france, and funding from the carlsberg founda-
tion for the operation of the carlsberg laboratory.

revenue on construction contracts (real estate projects) which are specific-
ally negotiated is recognised as the work is carried out, corresponding to the 
selling price of work performed during the year (the percentage of comple-
tion method). revenue is recognised when total income and expenses on a 
construction contract as well as the stage of completion at the end of the 
reporting period can be determined reliably, and when it is probable that 
the economic benefits, including payments, will be received by the group. 
on disposal of real estate projects which are not specifically negotiated, the 
gain is recognised at the disposal date (the sales method).

profit on real estate projects is recognised net under other operating income. 
revenue and expenses relating to construction contracts which are specific-
ally negotiated are disclosed in the notes.

government grants.   government grants relate to grants and funding for 
r&d activities, investment grants, etc.

grants for r&d activities which are recognised directly in the income state-
ment are recognised as other operating income.

grants for the acquisition of assets and development projects are recognised 
in the statement of financial position as deferred income and transferred to 
other operating income in the income statement as the assets for which the 
grants were awarded are amortised.

operating profit before special items.   operating profit before special items is 
an important financial ratio for year-to-year comparison and for comparison 
of companies in the brewing industry.

Special items.   Special items include significant income and costs of a 
special nature in terms of the group’s revenue-generating operating activ-
ities, such as the cost of extensive structuring of processes and fundamental 
structural adjustments, as well as any gains or losses arising from disposals 
in this connection which have a material effect over a given period. this 
item also includes significant non-recurring items, including impairment of 
goodwill and gains and losses on the disposal of activities.

these items are shown separately in order to give a more true and fair view 
of the group’s operating profit.

profits/losses from investments in associates.   the proportionate share of 
the results of associates after tax is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement after elimination of the proportionate share of unrealised intra-
group profits/losses.

financial income and expenses.   financial income and expenses comprise 
interest income and expenses, gains and losses on securities and impairment 
of securities, payables and transactions denominated in foreign currencies, 
amortisation of financial assets (other than loans to customers in the on-
trade, which are included in other operating income) and liabilities, including 
defined benefit retirement benefit plans, surcharges and refunds under 
the on account tax scheme etc. realised and unrealised gains and losses 
on derivative financial instruments which are not designated as hedging 
arrangements and the ineffective portion of those designated as hedging 
arrangements are also included.

borrowing costs on specific or general borrowings which are directly attribut-
able to the development or construction of a qualifying asset are included in 
the cost of that asset. 
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tax on profit/loss for the year.   tax for the year comprises current tax 
and changes in deferred tax for the year, including changes as a result of 
a change in the tax rate. the tax expense relating to the profit/loss for the 
year is recognised in the income statement, and the tax expense relating to 
other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
carlsberg a/S is subject to the danish rules on mandatory joint taxation of 
the carlsberg group’s danish companies. danish subsidiaries are included in 
the joint taxation from the date when they are included in the consolidated 
financial statements and up to the date when they are excluded from the 
consolidation.

carlsberg a/S is the administrative company under the joint taxation scheme 
and accordingly pays all income taxes to the tax authorities. the jointly 
taxed danish companies are taxed under the on-account tax scheme.

on payment of joint taxation contributions, the current danish corporation 
tax is allocated between the danish jointly taxed companies in proportion 
to their taxable income. companies with tax losses receive joint taxation 
contributions from other companies that have used the tax losses to reduce 
their own taxable profit (full absorption).

If the carlsberg group obtains a tax deduction on computation of the 
tax able income in denmark or in foreign jurisdictions as a result of 
share-based payment programmes, the tax effect of the programmes is 
recognised in tax on the profit/loss for the year. however, if the total tax 
deduction exceeds the total tax expense, the tax benefit for the excess 
deduction is recognised in other comprehensive income.

statement of financial position

Intangible assets
Goodwill.   goodwill is initially recognised in the statement of financial 
position at cost as described under “business combinations”. Subsequently, 
goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. goodwill 
is not amortised. 

the carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash-generating 
units at the acquisition date. Identification of cash-generating units is based 
on the management structure and internal financial control.

Other intangible assets.   research costs are recognised in the income state-
ment as they are incurred. development costs are recognised as intangible 
assets if the costs are expected to generate future economic benefits.

costs for development and implementation of substantial It systems are 
capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful life. cost comprises 
the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
and installation until the date when the asset is available for use. the cost 
of self-constructed assets comprises direct and indirect costs of software, 
licences, components, subcontractors, wages and salaries and capitalised 
borrowing costs on specific or general borrowing attributable to the con-
struction of the asset.

trademarks and customer agreements/portfolios acquired in connection 
with business combinations are recognised at cost and amortised over their 
expected useful life. trademarks with an indefinite useful life are not amor-
tised but impairment-tested at least annually.

co2 emission rights are measured at cost at the date of allocation (i.e. 
normally dkk 0), while acquired rights are measured at cost. acquired rights 
are amortised over the production period during which they are expected to 
be utilised. a liability is recognised (at fair value) only if actual emissions of 
co2 exceed allocated levels based on the holding of rights.

other intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses.

amortisation is carried out systematically over the expected useful lives of 
the assets. the expected useful lives are as follows:

Trademarks with finite useful lives
useful life, normally maximum 20 years
software etc. 
3-5 years
Delivery rights
depending on contract; if no contract term has been agreed, normally not 
exceeding 5 years 
Customer agreements/relationships
depending on contract with the customer; when no contract exists,  
normally not exceeding 20 years

the useful life is reassessed annually. when changing the amortisation 
period due to a change in the useful life, the effect on the amortisation is 
recognised prospectively as a change in accounting estimates.

amortisation is recognised in the income statement under cost of sales, 
sales and distribution costs and administrative expenses to the extent that 
amortisation is not included in the cost of self-constructed assets. 

Impairment losses of a non-recurring nature are recognised in the income 
statement under special items.

tangible assets
Property, plant and equipment.   land and buildings, plant and machinery, 
and fixtures and fittings, other plant and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

cost comprises the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition until the date when the asset is available for use. the cost of self-
constructed assets comprises direct and indirect costs of materials, compo-
nents, subsuppliers, wages and salaries and capitalised borrowing costs on 
specific or general borrowing attributable to the construction of the asset. the 
present value of estimated liabilities related to dismantling and removing the 
asset and restoring the site on which the asset is located is added to the cost of 
self-constructed assets if the liabilities are provided for. where individual com-
ponents of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as separate items, which are depreciated separately.

the cost of assets held under finance leases is stated at the lower of fair 
value of the assets and the present value of the future minimum lease pay-
ments. for the calculation of the net present value, the interest rate implicit 
in the lease or an approximation thereof is used as the discount rate.

Subsequent costs, e.g. in connection with replacement of components of 
property, plant and equipment, are recognised in the carrying amount of the 
asset if it is probable that the costs will result in future economic benefits for 
the group. the replaced components are derecognised in the statement of fi-
nancial position and recognised as an expense in the income statement. costs 
incurred for ordinary repairs and maintenance are recognised in the income 
statement as incurred.

property, plant and equipment, including assets held under finance leases, 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the 
assets. the expected useful lives are as follows:

buildings 20-40 years
technical installations 15 years
brewery equipment 15 years
filling and bottling equipment 8-15 years
technical installations in warehouses 8 years
on-trade and distribution equipment 5 years
fixtures and fittings, other plant and equipment 5-8 years
returnable packaging 3-10 years
hardware 3 years

land is not depreciated.
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the basis of depreciation is calculated on the basis of the cost less the 
residual value and impairment losses. the residual value is determined at 
the acquisition date and reassessed annually. If the residual value exceeds 
the carrying amount, depreciation is discontinued.

when changing the depreciation period or the residual value, the effect 
on the depreciation is recognised prospectively as a change in accounting 
estimates.

depreciation and minor impairment losses are recognised in the income 
statement under cost of sales, sales and distribution costs and administra-
tive expenses to the extent that depreciation is not included in the cost of 
self-constructed assets. 

Significant impairment losses of a non-recurring nature are recognised in the 
income statement under special items.

Investments in associates.   Investments in associates are recognised accor d ing 
to the equity method and measured at the proportionate share of the entities’ 
net asset values calculated in accordance with the group’s accoun ting policies 
minus or plus the proportionate share of unrealised intra-group profits and 
losses and plus the carrying amount of goodwill.

Investments in associates with negative net asset values are measured at 
dkk 0. If the group has a legal or constructive obligation to cover a deficit 
in the associate, the deficit is recognised under provisions.

any amounts owed by associates are written down to the extent that the 
amount owed is deemed irrecoverable.

on acquisition of investments in associates, the acquisition method is used,  
cf. the description under business combinations.

Inventories.   Inventories are measured at the lower of weighted average cost 
and net realisable value.

goods for resale and raw materials and consumables are measured at cost, 
comprising purchase price and delivery costs. 

finished goods and work in progress are measured at cost, comprising the 
cost of raw materials, consumables, direct wages and salaries and indirect 
production overheads. Indirect production overheads comprise indirect 
materials and wages and salaries, and maintenance and depreciation of 
production machinery, buildings and equipment, and production administra-
tion and management.

the net realisable value of inventories is calculated as the sales amount less 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale, and is deter-
mined taking into account marketability, obsolescence and development in 
expected sales price.

Receivables.   receivables are measured at amortised cost less impairment 
losses. receivables are written down for bad debt losses on the basis of cus-
tomers’ anticipated ability to pay and expectations of any changes to this 
ability, taking into account historical payment patterns, terms of payment, 
customer segment, creditworthiness and prevailing market conditions in the 
individual markets.

objective indication of impairment is assessed for a portfolio of receivables 
when no objective indication of individual impairment losses exists. the 
portfolios are based on on-trade and off-trade customers and on-trade 
receivables and on-trade loans. the objective indications used for portfolios 
are based on historical experiences and actual market developments.

Impairment losses are calculated as the difference between carrying amount 
and net realisable value, including the expected net realisable value of any 
collateral provided. 

as regards loans to the on-trade, any difference between present value and 
the nominal amount at the loan date is treated as a prepaid discount to the 
customer, which is recognised in the income statement in accordance with 
the terms of the agreement. the market interest rate is used as the discount 

rate, corresponding to the money market rate based on the maturity of 
the loan with the addition of a risk premium. the effective interest rate on 
these loans is recognised in other operating income, and the amortisation 
of the difference between the discount rate and the effective interest rate is 
included as a discount in revenue.

Construction contracts.   construction contracts (real estate projects) are 
measured at the contract revenue of the work performed less progress bill-
ings and anticipated losses.

the contract revenue is measured by reference to the percentage of comple-
tion at the end of the reporting period and total expected revenue from the 
contract. the percentage of completion is determined on the basis of an 
assessment of the work performed, which is measured as the proportion of 
contract costs incurred for work performed relative to the total estimated 
contract costs.

when it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed the total 
contract revenue, the anticipated loss on the contract is recognised as an ex-
pense immediately. the selling price of construction contracts is recognised 
under other receivables and disclosed in the notes.

Prepayments.   prepayments comprise costs incurred concerning subsequent 
financial years, including in particular sponsorship and marketing costs. 
prepayments are measured at cost.

Securities.   Shares not classified as investments in subsidiaries or associates 
and bonds are classified as securities available for sale. Such securities are 
recognised at the trade date. upon initial recognition securities are measured 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and are subse-
quently measured at fair value corresponding to the market price of quoted 
securities and, for unquoted securities, an estimated fair value computed on 
the basis of market data and generally accepted valuation methods. unreal-
ised value adjustments are recognised in other comprehensive income except 
for impairment losses and foreign exchange adjustments of bonds denomi-
nated in foreign currencies, which are recognised in the income statement 
as financial income or financial expenses. on realisation, the accumulated 
value adjustment recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred  
to the income statement.

Securities available for sale are classified as current and non-current on the 
basis of management’s selling plans. the group has no securities classified 
as a trading portfolio.

Impairment of assets.   goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives 
are subject to an annual impairment test, initially before the end of the 
acquisition year.

the carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment, together with the 
other non-current assets in the cash-generating unit to which goodwill is 
allocated, and written down to the recoverable amount through the income 
statement if the carrying amount is higher. the recoverable amount is 
generally calculated as the present value of expected future net cash flows 
(value in use) from the entity or activity (cash-generating unit) to which the 
goodwill is allocated. Impairment of goodwill is recognised under special 
items in the income statement.

the carrying amount of trademarks with indefinite useful lives is subject to 
an impairment test and written down to the recoverable amount through the 
income statement if the carrying amount is higher. the recoverable amount 
is generally calculated as the present value of expected future net cash 
flows from the trademark in the form of royalties (the relief from royalty 
method). Impairment of trademarks is recognised under special items in the 
income statement. 

the carrying amount of other non-current assets is subject to an annual test 
for indications of impairment. when there is an indication that assets may 
be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. the recover-
able amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less expected costs to sell 
and its value in use. value in use is the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset or the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.
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an impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its 
cash-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset or the 
cash-generating unit. minor impairment losses are recognised in the income 
statement under cost of sales, sales and distribution costs, administrative ex-
penses and other operating costs. Significant impairment losses and impair-
ment losses arising on extensive structuring of processes and fundamental 
structural adjustments are recognised under special items.

Impairment of goodwill is not reversed. Impairment of other assets is 
reversed only to the extent of changes in the assumptions and estimates 
underlying the impairment calculation. Impairment is only reversed to the 
extent that the asset’s new carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount of the asset after amortisation had the asset not been impaired. 

deferred tax assets are subject to annual impairment tests and are recog-
nised only to the extent that it is probable that the assets will be utilised.

equity
Translation reserve.   the translation reserve in the consolidated financial 
statements comprises foreign exchange adjustments arising on translation 
of financial statements of foreign entities from their functional currencies 
into the presentation currency used by carlsberg a/S (dkk), balances con-
sidered to be part of the total net investment in foreign entities, and financial 
instruments used to hedge net investments in foreign entities. 

on full or partial realisation of the net investment, the foreign exchange 
adjustments are recognised in the income statement in the same item as the 
gain/loss.

the translation reserve was recognised at zero at 1 january 2004 in accord-
ance with IfrS 1.

Fair value adjustments.   fair value adjustments comprise changes in the 
fair value of hedging transactions that qualify for recognition as cash flow 
hedges and where the hedged transaction has not yet been realised. fair 
value adjustments also comprise a reserve for securities available for sale.

Proposed dividends.   proposed dividends are recognised as a liability at the 
date when they are adopted at the annual general meeting (declaration 
date). the dividend recommended by the Supervisory board and therefore 
expected to be paid for the year is disclosed in connection to the statement 
of changes in equity.

Interim dividends are recognised as a financial liability at the date when the 
decision to pay interim dividends is made.

Treasury shares.   cost of acquisition, consideration received and dividends 
received from treasury shares are recognised directly as retained earnings 
in equity. capital reductions from the cancellation of treasury shares are 
deducted from the share capital at an amount corresponding to the nominal 
value of the shares.

proceeds from the sale of treasury shares are recognised directly in equity.

Share-based payment.   the value of services received in exchange for 
granted options is measured at the fair value of the options granted. 

the share option programme for the executive board and other key employ-
ees in the group is an equity-settled scheme. the share options are meas-
ured at fair value at the grant date and recognised in the income statement 
under staff costs over the vesting period.

other key employees in the group who participate in the long-term incentive 
programme choose between share-based payment and cash settlement. 
the share options are measured at fair value at the grant date and recog-
nised in the income statement under staff costs over the vesting period. the 
value of the long-term incentive programme is calculated as a percentage 
of the employee’s yearly salary. If the employee chooses to receive share 
options under the long-term incentive programme, the number of share 
options is determined based on the employee’s salary and the fair value of 
a share option. 

on initial recognition of the share options, an estimate is made of the 
number of options expected to vest, cf. the service condition for each pro-
gramme. that estimate is subsequently revised for changes in the number of 
options expected to vest. accordingly, recognition is based on the number of 
options that ultimately vested.

the fair value of granted share options is estimated using the black-Scholes 
call option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 
which the options were granted.

Employee benefits.   wages and salaries, social security contributions, paid 
leave and sick leave, bonuses and other employee benefits are recognised 
in the financial year in which the employee renders the related service. this 
includes the payment to other key employees in the group who participate 
in the long-term incentive programme and choose cash settlement. the cost 
is provided for over the vesting period of the programme and according to 
the service conditions and included in staff costs and provisions. 

Retirement benefit obligations and similar obligations.   the group has 
entered into retirement benefit schemes and similar arrangements with the 
majority of the group’s employees.

contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in the income 
statement in the period to which they relate and any contributions outstan d-
ing are recognised in the statement of financial position as other payables.

for all significant defined benefit plans an annual actuarial calculation is 
made of the present value of future benefits under the defined benefit plan. 
the present value is determined on the basis of assumptions about the 
future development in variables such as salary levels, interest rates, inflation 
and mortality. the present value is determined only for benefits earned by 
employees from their employment with the group. the actuarial present 
value less the fair value of any plan assets is recognised in the statement of 
financial position under retirement benefit obligations.

pension costs for the year are recognised in the income statement based on 
actuarial estimates and financial expectations at the beginning of the year. 
any difference between the expected development in pension plan assets 
and liabilities and realised amounts determined at year-end constitutes 
actuarial gains or losses and is recognised in other comprehensive income.

If changes in benefits relating to services rendered by employees in previ-
ous years result in changes in the actuarial present value, the changes are 
recognised as historical costs. historical costs are recognised immediately, 
provided employees have already earned the changed benefits. If employ-
ees have not earned the benefits, the historical costs are recognised in the 
income statement over the period in which the changed benefits are earned 
by the employees.

If a retirement benefit plan constitutes a net asset, the asset is only recog-
nised if it offsets future refunds from the plan or will lead to reduced future 
payments to the plan. 

Interest on retirement benefit obligations and the expected return on plan 
assets are recognised under financial income or financial expenses.

realised gains and losses on the adjustment of retirement benefit obliga-
tions as a result of large-scale termination of jobs in connection with restruc-
turing are recognised in the income statement under special items.

realised gains and losses on the curtailment or settlement of retirement 
benefit plans are recognised in the income statement.

Corporation tax and deferred tax.   current tax payable and receivable is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as tax computed on the 
taxable income for the year, adjusted for tax on the taxable income of prior 
years and for tax paid on account.

deferred tax on all temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
the tax base of assets and liabilities is measured using the balance sheet 
liability method. however, deferred tax is not recognised on temporary differ-
ences relating to goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes or on office 
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premises and other items where temporary differences, apart from business 
combinations, arise at the acquisition date without affecting either profit/loss 
for the year or taxable income. where alternative tax rules can be applied to 
determine the tax base, deferred tax is measured based on management’s 
planned use of the asset or settlement of the liability.

If specific dividend plans exist for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
in countries levying withholding tax on distributions, deferred tax is recog-
nised on expected dividend payments.

deferred tax assets, including the tax base of tax loss carryforwards, are 
recognised under other non-current assets at the expected value of their 
utilisation, either as a set-off against tax on future income or as a set-off 
against deferred tax liabilities in the same legal tax entity and jurisdiction.

deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset if the entity has a legally en-
forceable right to offset current tax liabilities and tax assets or intends either 
to settle current tax liabilities and tax assets on a net basis or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

adjustment is made to deferred tax resulting from elimination of unrealised 
intra-group profits and losses.

deferred tax is measured according to the tax rules and at the tax rates 
applicable in the respective countries at the end of the reporting period 
when the deferred tax is expected to crystallise as current tax. the change 
in deferred tax as a result of changes in tax rates is recognised in the in-
come statement. changes to deferred tax recognised in other comprehen-
sive income are, however, recognised in other comprehensive income.

Provisions.   provisions, including warranty provisions, are recognised when, as 
a result of events arising before or at the end of the reporting period, the group 
has a legal or a constructive obligation and it is probable that there may be 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits to settle the obligation. 
other provisions are discounted if the effect is material to the measurement 
of the liability. the carlsberg group’s average borrowing rate is used as the 
discount rate.

restructuring costs are recognised under liabilities when a detailed, formal 
restructuring plan has been announced to the persons affected no later than 
at the end of the reporting period. on acquisition of entities, restructuring 
provisions in the acquiree are only included in the opening balance when the 
acquiree has a restructuring liability at the acquisition date.

a provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the benefits expected 
to be derived by the group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable 
costs of meeting its obligations under the contract.

when the group has a legal obligation to dismantle or remove an asset or 
restore the site on which the asset is located, a provision is recognised cor-
responding to the present value of expected future costs.

Financial liabilities.   amounts owed to credit institutions, bonds etc. are 
recognised at the date of borrowing at fair value less transaction costs. In 
subsequent periods, the financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. accordingly, the difference between the 
fair value less transaction costs and the nominal value is recognised in the 
income statement under financial expenses over the term of the loan.

financial liabilities also include the capitalised residual obligation on finance 
leases, which is measured at amortised cost.

other liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Deposits on returnable packaging.   the refund obligation in respect of de-
posits on returnable packaging is stated on the basis of deposit price as well 
as an estimate of the number of bottles, kegs, cans and crates in circulation 
and expected return rate.  

Leases.   for accounting purposes lease obligations are divided into finance 
and operating leases.

leases are classified as finance leases if they transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incident to ownership to the lessee. all other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

the accounting treatment of assets held under finance leases and lease 
obligations is described under property, plant and equipment and financial 
liabilities respectively.

operating lease payments are recognised in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Deferred income.   deferred income comprises payments received concerning 
income in subsequent years and is measured at cost.

Assets held for sale.   assets held for sale comprise non-current assets and 
disposal groups held for sale. disposal groups are defined as a group of as-
sets to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, together as a group in a single 
transaction and those liabilities directly associated with the assets that will 
be transferred in the transaction. 

assets are classified as held for sale if management has decided to sell 
the asset or disposal group and taken the necessary steps to carry out the 
sale, such that the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale within 12 months in accordance with a formal plan rather than through 
continuing use.

assets or disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower of car-
rying amount or fair value less costs to sell. assets are not depreciated or 
amortised from the date when they are reclassified as held for sale. 

Impairment losses on initial recognition as held for sale and gains and losses 
on subsequent remeasurement at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell are recognised in the income statement in the items 
to which they relate. gains and losses are disclosed in the notes.

assets and liabilities are recognised separately in the statement of financial 
position and main items are specified in the notes. comparative figures are 
not restated. 

If a sale is not completed as expected, the asset or disposal group is reclassi-
fied to the items in the statement of financial position from which the asset 
or disposal group was originally separated. this reclassification is made at 
the carrying amount less any depreciation charges that would have been 
recognised if the asset had not been classified as held for sale.

Presentation of discontinued operations.  discontinued operations comprise 
activities and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished from the other 
business areas and have either been disposed of or are held for sale, and  
the sale is expected to be carried out within 12 months in accordance with  
a formal plan. discontinued operations also include entities which are classi-
fied as held for sale in connection with an acquisition.

discontinued operations are presented in a separate line in the income state-
ment and as assets and liabilities held for sale in the statement of financial 
position, and main items are specified in the notes. comparative figures are 
restated.

statement of cash flows

the statement of cash flows shows the cash flows from operating, investing 
and financing activities for the year, the year’s changes in cash and cash 
equivalents as well as cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end 
of the year.

cash flow from operating activities.   cash flows from operating activities are 
calculated using the indirect method as the operating profit before special 
items adjusted for non-cash operating items, changes in working capital, 
restructuring costs paid, interest received and paid, and income tax paid.

cash flow from investing activities.   cash flows from investing activities 
comprise payments in connection with acquisitions and disposals of entities 
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and activities, and of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and 
other non-current assets as well as acquisition and disposal of securities not 
recognised as cash and cash equivalents.

the cash flow effect of acquisitions and disposals of entities is shown 
separately in cash flows from investing activities. cash flows from acquisi-
tions of entities are recognised in the statement of cash flows from the 
acquisition date. cash flows from disposals of entities are recognised up 
until the disposal date.

acquisitions of assets by means of finance leases are treated as non-cash 
transactions.

cash flow from financing activities.   cash flows from financing activities 
comprise changes in the size or composition of the share capital and related 
costs as well as the acquisition and disposal of non-controlling interests, 
raising of loans, repayment of interest-bearing debt, acquisition and disposal 
of treasury shares and payment of dividends to shareholders.

cash flows from assets held under finance leases are recognised as payment 
of interest and repayment of debt.

cash and cash equivalents.   cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, less 
bank overdrafts, and short-term marketable securities with a term of three 
months or less at the acquisition date which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

cash flows in currencies other than the functional currency are translated 
using average exchange rates unless these deviate significantly from the 
exchange rate at the transaction date.

segment information

for segment reporting purposes, the chief operating decision maker is the 
executive committee. the executive committee manages and makes busi-
ness decisions based on geographical regional information. Segments are 
managed and decisions are made based on business performance measured 
as operating profit before special items. decisions on financing and tax plan-
ning are made based on information for the group as a whole and therefore 
not segmented. the non-beverage activities are managed separately and 
therefore also shown separately. the segmentation reflects the structure 
used for internal reporting and monitoring of the strategic and financial 
targets of the carlsberg group. In accordance with the group’s management 
structure, beverage activities are segmented according to the geographical 
regions where production takes place. the segment information is based on 
the group’s accounting policies. 

a segment’s operating profit/loss includes revenue, operating costs and 
share of profit/loss in associates to the extent that they can be allocated 
directly to the individual segment. Income and expenses related to group 
functions have not been allocated and, as is the case with eliminations and 
non-beverage activities, are not included in the operating profit/loss of the 
segments. 

total segment assets comprise non-current assets used directly in the 
ope r ating activities of the segment, including intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment, investments in associates and current segment 
assets to the extent that they can be allocated directly to the individual 
segment, inclu ding inventories, trade receivables, other receivables and 
prepayments.

Segment liabilities comprise liabilities resulting from the operating 
activities of the segment, including provisions, trade payables and other 
payables.

Financial ratios

earnings per share (epS) and diluted earnings per share (epS-d) are calcu-
lated in accordance with IaS 33.

other financial ratios are calculated in accordance with the danish Society of 
financial analysts’ guidelines on the calculation of financial ratios, “recom-
mendations and financial ratios 2005”, unless specifically stated.

the key figures and financial ratios stated in the consolidated financial 
statements have been calculated as follows:

cash flow per share (cfpS).   cash flow from operating activities divided 
by the number of shares outstanding, fully diluted for share options in the 
money in accordance with IaS 333.

debt/operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment. 
Net interest-bearing debt2 divided by operating profit before special items 
adjusted for depreciation, amortisation and impairment.

earnings per share (epS).   consolidated profit for the year, excluding non-
controlling interests, divided by the average number of shares outstanding.

earnings per share, diluted (epS-d).   consolidated profit for the year, 
excluding non-controlling interests, divided by the average number of shares 
outstanding, fully diluted for share options in the money and the bonus ele-
ment in a rights issue in accordance with IaS 333.

equity ratio.   equity at year-end as a percentage of total assets at year-end.

financial gearing.   Net interest-bearing debt2 at year-end divided by total 
equity at year-end.

free cash flow per share (fcfpS).   free cash flow4 divided by average 
number of shares outstanding, fully diluted for share options in the money 
in accordance with IaS 333.

Interest cover.   operating profit before special items divided by interest 
expenses, net.

Number of shares, average.   the number of issued shares, excluding 
treasury shares, as an average for the year (= average number of shares 
outstanding).

Number of shares, year-end.   total number of issued shares, excluding 
treasury shares, at year-end (= number of shares outstanding at year-end).

operating margin .   operating profit before special items as a percentage of 
revenue.

operating profit.   expression used for operating profit before special items in 
the management review.

organic development.   measure of growth excluding the impact of acquisi-
tions, divestments and foreign exchange from year-over-year comparisons. 
we believe this provides investors with a better understanding of underlying 
trends.

pay-out ratio.   dividend for the year as a percentage of consolidated profit, 
excluding non-controlling interests.

pro rata volumes.   the group’s total sale of beverages, including the pro 
rata share of sales through pro rata-consolidated and associated companies. 

return on average invested capital, including goodwill (roIc).   operating 
profit before special items as a percentage of average invested capital1.

volumes.   the group’s total sale of beverages, including the total sales 
through pro rata consolidated and associated companies.

1 the calculation of invested capital is specified in note 31.
2 the calculation of net interest-bearing debt is specified in note 32.
3 the dilutive effect is calculated as the difference between the number of 
shares that could be acquired at fair value for the proceeds from the exercise 
of the share options and the number of shares that could be issued assum-
ing that the options are exercised.
4 the calculation of free cash flow is specified in the statement of cash flows.
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versamatrix a/S, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  1,750 dkk  100.00 

ejendomsaktieselskabet tuborg Nord b, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  25,000 dkk  100.00 

ejendomsaktieselskabet tuborg Nord c, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  10,000 dkk  100.00 

ejendomsaktieselskabet tuborg Nord d, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  10,000 dkk  100.00 

ejendomsaktieselskabet af 4. marts 1982, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  9,500 dkk  100.00 

Investeringsselskabet af 17. januar 1991, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  14,500 dkk  100.00 

carlsberg ejendomme holding a/S, denmark                                     1 subsidiary £ 100%  500 dkk  100.00 

boliginteressentskabet tuborg Nord, copenhagen, denmark 4)  50%   -  dkk  100.00 

ejendomsinteressentskabet waterfront, copenhagen, denmark 4)  50%   -  dkk  100.00 

carlsberg breweries a/S, copenhagen, denmark £ 100%  501,000 dkk  100.00 

carlsberg danmark a/S, copenhagen, denmark                                3 subsidiaries £ 100%  100,000 dkk  100.00 
Investeringselskapet rh, oslo, Norway  7 subsidiaries £ 100% 49,900 Nok 89.42 

ringnes a.s., oslo, Norway  2 subsidiaries £ 100% 238,714 Nok 89.42 

oy Sinebrychoff ab, helsinki, finland £ 100% 96,707 eur 744.15 

Saku Ölletehase aS, estonia 1) £ 100% 80,000 eek 47.56 

pripps ringnes ab, Stockholm, Sweden                                              1 subsidiary £ 100% 287,457 Sek 72.28 

carlsberg Sverige ab, Stockholm, Sweden                                     4 subsidiaries £ 100% 70,000 Sek 72.28 

bbh – baltic beverages holding ab, Stockholm, Sweden £ 100% 12,000 eur 744.15 

a/S aldaris, latvia £ 89% 7,500 lvl 1,049.10 

Svyturys-utenos alus ab, lithuania £ 76% 118,000 ltl 215.52 

uab bbh baltics, lithuania £ 100% 10 ltl 215.52 

baltic beverages eesti, estonia £ 100% 400 eek 47.56 

baltika breweries, St. petersburg, russia                                      2 subsidiaries 1) £ 89% 164,364 rub 17.15 

baltika-baku brewery, baku, azerbaijan           £ 100% 26,849 aZN 646.50 

Slavutich brewery, ukraine £ 92% 853,692 uah 65.00 

lvivska brewery, ukraine £ 100% 72,741 uah 65.00 

derbes company ltd. liability partnership, kazakhstan £ 100% 4,820,426 kZt 3.50 

olivaria, belarus 3)  30% 61,444,801 byr 0.18 

carlsberg uzbekistan, uzbekistan 5) £ 100% 35,217,146 uZS 0.34 

baltic beverages Invest ab, Stockholm, Sweden £ 100% 11 eur 744.15 

baltic beverages holding oy, helsinki, finland £ 100% 4 eur 744.15 

carlsberg Italia S.p.a, lainate, Italy  13 subsidiaries £ 100% 82,400 eur 744.15 

unicer-bebidas de portugal, SgpS, S.a., porto, portugal                    7 subsidiaries 5)  44% 50,000 eur 744.15 

feldschlösschen getränke holding ag, rheinfelden, Switzerland  3 subsidiaries £ 100% 95,000 chf 500.17 

carlsberg deutschland gmbh, mönchengladbach, germany              6 subsidiaries £ 100% 26,897 eur 744.15 

Nordic getränke gmbh, germany n 50% 1,000 eur 744.15 

holsten-brauerei ag, hamburg, germany                                        5 subsidiaries £ 100% 41,250 eur 744.15 

tuborg deutschland gmbh, mönchengladbach, germany £ 100% 51 eur 744.15 

carlsberg gb limited, Northampton, uk £ 100% 692 gbp 823.17 

carlsberg uk holdings plc, Northampton, uk                                 2 subsidiaries £ 100% 90,004 gbp 823.17 

emeraude SaS, france                                                                     4 subsidiaries 5) £ 100% 405,037 eur 744.15 

brasseries kronenbourg SaS, france £ 100% 547,891 eur 744.15 

Sorex holding SaS, france £ 100% 14,600 eur 744.15 

mythos brewery S.a., greece £ 100% 39,405 eur 744.15 

carlsberg polska S. a., warsaw, poland                               3 subsidiaries £ 100% 28,721 plN 180.40 

carlsberg accounting centre Sp. z o.o., poznan, poland £ 100% 50 plN 180.40 

dyland bv, bussum, Netherlands                                                 1 subsidiary £ 100% 18,198 eur 744.15 

carlsberg croatia d.o.o., koprivnica, croatia £ 80% 239,932 hrk 101.99 

bottling and brewing group ltd., blantyre, malawi                    3 subsidiaries 2, 5) £ 44% 1,267,128 mwk 3.67 

Nuuk Imeq a/S, Nuuk, greenland n 32% 38,000 dkk 100.00 

International breweries (Netherlands) b.v., bussum, Netherlands  2 subsidiaries n 16% 2,523 uSd 519.01 

carlsberg bulgaria ad, mladost, bulgaria £ 80% 37,325 bgN 380.48 

b to b distribution eood, mladost, bulgaria £ 100% 10 bgN 380.48 
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carlsberg Serbia d.o.o., Serbia                                                 2 subsidiaries £ 80% 2,989,921 rSd 7.76 

carlsberg hungary Sales limited liability company, budaörs, hungary £ 100% 25,400 huf 2.74 

carlsberg International a/S, copenhagen, denmark £ 100% 1,000 dkk 100.00 

South-east asia brewery ltd., hanoi, vietnam £ 60% 212,705,000 vNd 0.03 

International beverages distributors ltd., hanoi, vietnam £ 60% 10,778,000 vNd 0.03 

hué brewery ltd., hué, vietnam  50% 216,788,000 vNd 0.03 

tibet lhasa brewery company limited, lhasa, tibet, china n 33% 380,000 cNy 76.04 

xinjiang wusu beer co. ltd., urumqi, xinjiang, china       3 subsidiaries  61% 105,480 cNy 76.04 

lanzhou huanghe jianjiang brewery company limited, china n 30% 210,000 cNy 76.04 

qinghai huanghe jianjiang brewery company ltd., xining, qinghai, china n 33% 85,000 cNy 76.04 

jiuquan west brewery company ltd., jiuquan, gansu, china n 30% 15,000 cNy 76.04 

gansu tianshui benma brewery company ltd., tianshui, gansu, china n 30% 16,620 cNy 76.04 

Ningxia xixia jianiang brewery ltd, china £ 70% 194,351 cNy 76.04 

carlsberg brewery malaysia berhad, Selangor darul ehsan, malaysia   1) £ 51% 154,039 myr 151.49 

carlsberg marketing Sdn bhd, Selangor darul ehsan, malaysia £ 100% 10,000 myr 151.49 

euro distributors Sdn bhd, Selangor darul ehsan, malaysia £ 100% 100 myr 151.49 

carlsberg Singapore pte. ltd., Singapore £ 100% 1,000 Sgd 369.49 

carlsberg marketing (Singapore) pte ltd., Singapore £ 100% 1,000 Sgd 369.49 

the lion brewery ceylon, biyagama, Sri lanka 1) n 25% 850,000 lkr - 

carlsberg distributors taiwan ltd, taiwan                   1 subsidiary n 50% 100,000 twd - 

carlsberg asia pte ltd., Singapore £ 100% 54,914 Sgd 369.49 

brewery Invest pte. ltd, Singapore £ 100% 3,200 Sgd 369.49 

carlsberg brewery hong kong ltd., hong kong, china      1 subsidiary £ 100% 260,000 hkd 66.93 

carlsberg brewery guangdong ltd., huizhou, china £ 100% 442,330 cNy 76.04 

tsingtao beer Shanghai Songjiang co. ltd., Shanghai, china n 25% 303,659 cNy 76.04 

kunming huashi brewery company ltd., kunming, china £ 100% 79,528 cNy 76.04 

lao brewery co. ltd., vientiane, laos  50% 14,400,000 lak 0.06 

gorkha brewery pvt. ltd., kathmandu, Nepal n 50% 466,325 Npr 7.06 

dali beer (group) limited company, dali, china £ 100% 97,799 cNy 76.04 

hanio vung tau joint Stock, vietnam 5)  45% 345,190,377 vNd 0.03 

hanio beer company, vietnam 5) n 16% 2,318,000,000 vNd 0.03 

chongqing brewery co. ltd, china 1, 5) n 18% 483,971 cNy 76.04 

caretech ltd, hong kong, china 5)  50% 10,000 hkd 66.93 

cambrew pte ltd, Singapore 5)  100% 21,720 Sgd 369.49 

cambrew ltd, phnom penh, cambodia                            1 subsidiary 5)  100% 125,000 uSd 519.01 

lao Soft drinks co. ltd, laos £ 65% 2,448,000 lak 0.06 

carlsberg Indochina, vietnam £ 100% 8,000 vNd 0.03 

South asian breweries pvt ltd, Singapore  45% 65,000 Sgd 369.49 

South asian breweries pvt ltd, India £ 100% 618,288 INr 11.19 

parag breweries ltd, India £ 52% 5,200 INr 11.19 

halong beer and beverage, vietnam  31% 9,000,000,000 vNd 0.03 

danish malting group a/S, vordingborg, denmark £ 100% 100,000 dkk 100.00 

danish malting group polska Sp. z o.o., Sierpc, poland £ 100% 20,000 plN 180.40 

carlsberg finans a/S, copenhagen, denmark £ 100% 25,000 dkk 100.00 

carlsberg Invest a/S, copenhagen, denmark                 1 subsidiary £ 100% 31,000 dkk 100.00 

ctdd beer Imports ltd., quebec, canada £ 100% - cad 494.81 

carlsberg canada Inc., mississauga, ontario, canada £ 100% 5,000 cad 494.81 

carlsberg It a/S, copenhagen, denmark £ 100% 50,000 dkk 100.00 

carlsberg Insurance a/S, copenhagen, denmark £ 100% 25,000 dkk 100.00 

£ Subsidiary   proportionally consolidated entity  n associate
1) listed company 2) carlsberg is responsible for management 3) carlsberg can exercise control due to call options  
4) a separate annual report is not prepared 5) company not audited by kpmg
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dkk million Note 2009 2008

administrative expenses -50 -44
other operating income 3 130 322
other operating expenses 3 -170 -151

operating profit -90 127

financial income 4 154 1,332
financial expenses 4 -177 -342

profit before tax -113 1,117

corporation tax 5 27 -62

profit for the year -86 1,055

attributable to:
dividend to shareholders 534 534
reserves -620 521

profit for the year -86 1,055

dkk

earnings per share: 6
earnings per share -0.6 8.9
earnings per share, diluted -0.6 8.9

Income statement
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Statement of comprehensive income

fair value adjustments comprise changes in the fair value of hedging 
transactions that qualify for recognition as cash flow hedges and for which 
the hedged transaction has not yet been realised.

dkk million
Note 2009 2008

profit for the year -86 1,055

other comprehensive income:
value adjustments of hedging instruments 24 -6 -26
retirement benefit obligations 18 -2 -5
other -2 -
tax on changes in other comprehensive income 5 2 18

other comprehensive income -8 -13

total comprehensive income -94 1,042
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Statement of financial position

AsseTs

dkk million Note 31 dec. 2009 31 dec. 2008

Non-current assets:
property, plant and equipment 9 1,429 1,418
Investments in subsidiaries 10 45,642 45,630
Investments in associates and joint ventures 11 - -
Securities 12 9 7
deferred tax assets 19 116 88

total non-current assets 47,196 47,143

current assets:
receivables from subsidiaries 13 1,876 6,731
tax receivables 17 14
other receivables 13 100 99
cash and cash equivalents 14 33 124

total current assets 2,026 6,968

assets held for sale 15 308 10

total assets 49,530 54,121
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equiTy ANd liAbiliTies

dkk million Note 31 dec. 2009 31 dec. 2008

equity:
Share capital 16 3,051 3,051
reserves -23 -18
retained earnings 44,073 44,650

total equity 47,101 47,683

Non-current liabilities:
borrowings 17 760 2,389
retirement benefit obligations and similar obligations 18 25 27
provisions 20 22 38
other liabilities 21 175 175

total non-current liabilities 982 2,629

current liabilities:
borrowings 17 960 3,549
trade payables 31 110
provisions 20 12 -
other liabilities etc. 21 444 149

total current liabilities 1,447 3,808

liabilities associated with assets held for sale 15 - 1

total liabilities 2,429 6,438

total equity and liabilities 49,530 54,121
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Statement of changes in equity

2009
Shareholders in carlsberg a/S

dkk million Share capital
hedging  
reserves

retained 
earnings total equity

equity at 1 january 2009 3,051 -18 44,650 47,683

total comprehensive income for the year, cf. separate statement - -5 -89 -94
acquisition/disposal of treasury shares - - -6 -6
Share-based payment - - 6 6
Share-based payment to employees in subsidiaries - - 46 46
dividends paid to shareholders - - -534 -534

total changes in equity - -5 -577 -582

equity at 31 december 2009 3,051 -23 44,073 47,101

2008
Shareholders in carlsberg a/S

dkk million Share capital
hedging  
reserves

retained 
earnings total equity

equity at 1 january 2008 1,526 1 15,601 17,128

total comprehensive income for the year, cf. separate statement - -19 1,061 1,042
capital increase 1,525 - 28,413 29,938
acquisition/disposal of treasury shares - - 2 2
Share-based payment - - 3 3
Share-based payment to employees in subsidiaries - - 28 28
dividends paid to shareholders - - -458 -458

total changes in equity 1,525 -19 29,049 30,555

equity at 31 december 2008 3,051 -18 44,650 47,683

the proposed dividend of dkk 3.50 per share, in total dkk 534m (2008: 
dkk 3.50 per share, in total dkk 534m), is included in retained earnings at 
31 december 2009. dividends paid out in 2009 for 2008 amount to dkk 

534m (paid out in 2008 for 2007: dkk 458m), which is dkk 3.50 per share 
(2008: dkk 4.84 per share). dividends paid out to shareholders in carlsberg 
a/S do not impact taxable income in carlsberg a/S. 
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Statement of cash flows

dkk million Note 2009 2008

operating profit -90 127
adjustment for depreciation 15 13

operating profit before depreciation -75 140

adjustment for other non-cash items 22 -45 -244
change in working capital 22 406 -14
Interest etc. received 198 256
Interest etc. paid -257 -328
corporation tax paid -3 24

cash flow from operating activities 224 -166

capital injections in subsidiaries -1 -24,000
loans to subsidiaries (2009: repayment) 4,724 -6,545
loans to associates - 143
dividends from subsidiaries - 800
dividends from associates, joint ventures and securities 1 223

total financial investments 4,724 -29,379

other investments in property, plant and equipment -454 -963
disposal of other property, plant and equipment 181 863

total other activities1 -273 -100

cash flow from investing activities 4,451 -29,479

free cash flow 4,675 -29,645

Shareholders in carlsberg a/S 22 -540 29,482
external financing 22 -4,128 169

cash flow from financing activities -4,668 29,651

Net cash flow 7 6

cash and cash equivalents at 1 january2 -57 -63

cash and cash equivalents at 31 december2 14 -50 -57

1 other activities cover real estate and assets under construction, including 
costs of construction contracts. 
 

2 cash and cash equivalents less bank overdrafts.
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In preparing carlsberg a/S’ financial statements, management makes 
various accounting estimates and assumptions which form the basis of 
recognition and measurement of the company’s assets and liabilities. the 
most significant accounting estimates and judgements for the company are 
presented below. the most significant accounting estimates and judgements 
for the carlsberg group are presented in note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements. the company’s accounting policies are described in detail in 
note 28.

estimation uncertainty

determining the carrying amount of some assets and liabilities requires 
judgements, estimates and assumptions concerning future events.

the judgements, estimates and assumptions made are based on historical ex-
perience and other factors, including assessments from advisors and specialists, 
which management assesses to be reliable, but which by their very nature are 
associated with uncertainty and unpredictability. these assumptions may prove 
incomplete or incorrect, and unexpected events or circumstances may arise. 

the international economic downturn continued in 2009, causing fluctua-
tions in interest and currency exchange rates, which had a derived effect 
on the general economic situation and led to uncertainties about future 
economic development. the impact on the business development and 2009 
financials is described in the unaudited management review, especially the 
sections describing the segment developments. 

assumptions about the future and estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period are described in the notes when there is a significant risk of 
changes that could result in material adjustments to the carrying amount  
of assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.   management 
performs an annual test for indications of impairment of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. Impairment tests are conducted 
in the same way as for goodwill in the carlsberg group, cf. note 40 to the 
consolidated financial statements. It is management’s assessment that no  
indications of impairment existed at year-end 2009, and impairment tests 
have therefore not been made of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

deferred tax assets.   carlsberg a/S recognises deferred tax assets, including 
the tax base of tax loss carryforwards, if management assesses that these 
tax assets can be offset against positive taxable income in the foreseeable 
future. this judgement is made annually and based on budgets and busi-
ness plans for the coming years, including planned commercial initiatives.

a more detailed description of the company’s tax assets is presented in note 19.

assessment in applied accounting policies

In applying the group’s accounting policies, management makes judgements 
which may significantly influence the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

Such judgements include the recognition of income from real estate projects.

recognition of real estate projects.   when entering into contracts, manage-
ment makes judgements as to whether the individual real estate project is 
sufficiently modified for the percentage of completion method to apply. the 
majority of projects are accounted for using the sales method, under which 
gains on disposal of real estate are recognised when the real estate is trans-
ferred to the buyer. the selling price of real estate projects less production 
costs is recognised under other operating income.

NOTe 1   SIgNIfIcaNt accouNtINg eStImateS aNd judgemeNtS

Notes

NOTe 2   feeS to audItorS appoINted by the aNNual geNeral meetINg

dkk million 2009 2008

kpmg:
Statutory audit 1 1
assurance engagements - 9
tax advisory - -
other services - -

In 2008 assurance engagements mainly included fees for issuance of declaration  
and other services related to the capital increase in june 2008.  
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NOTe 4   fINaNcIal INcome aNd fINaNcIal expeNSeS

NOTe 3   other operatINg INcome aNd expeNSeS

financial items recognised in the income statement

dkk million 2009 2008

financial income:
Interest income 153 307
dividends from subsidiaries - 800
dividends from associates - 223
other financial income 1 2

total 154 1,332

Interest income relates to interest from cash and cash equivalents.

financial expenses:
Interest expenses -165 -335
Interest cost on obligations, defined benefit plans -1 -1
other financial expenses -11 -6

total -177 -342

Net financial items recognised in the income statement -23 990

Interest expenses primarily relate to interest on borrowings.

financial items recognised in other comprehensive income

dkk million 2009 2008

value adjustments of hedging instruments:
cash flow hedging instruments, effective portion of changes in fair value -6 -26

Net financial items recognised in other comprehensive income -6 -26

total net financial items recognised in comprehensive income -29 964

dkk million 2009 2008

other operating income:
gains on disposal of real estate 48 245
rental income, real estate 10 5
funding from the carlsberg foundation for the operation of the carlsberg laboratory 14 11
other, incl. grants received 58 61

total 130 322

other operating expenses:
real estate costs -51 -36
expenses relating to the carlsberg research center -103 -99
other -16 -16

total -170 -151

of which staff costs, cf. note 7 -73 -85

recognised gains on construction contracts comprise:
construction contract revenue for work performed during the year - 184
production costs - -107

total - 77

gains on construction contracts are recognised under “gains on disposal  
of real estate” and relate to a construction contract for owner-occupied  
property. the construction was delivered in 2008.   
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NOTe 5   corporatIoN tax

dkk million 2009 2008

tax for the year comprises:
change in deferred tax during the year -27 46
adjustments to tax for previous years -2 -2

total tax for the year -29 44

of which recognised in other comprehensive income:
deferred tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income 2 18

tax on profit for the year -27 62

reconciliation of the effective tax rate for the year:
tax rate in denmark -25.0% 25.0%
tax on partnerships 2.3% 5.0%
adjustments to tax for previous years -2.0% -0.2%
Non-deductible expenses 1.1% 0.1%
tax-free dividend 0.0% -22.9%
other -0.4% -1.5%

effective tax rate for the year -24.0% 5.5%

tax recognised in other comprehensive income:

2009 2008

dkk million

recognised 
item  

before tax

tax 
(expense) 

benefit
Net  

of tax

recognised 
item before 

tax

tax 
(expense) 

benefit
Net  

of tax

hedging instruments -6 1 -5 -26 16 -10
retirement benefit obligations -2 1 -1 -5 2 -3
other -2 - -2 - - -

total -10 2 -8 -31 18 -13

dkk million 2009 2008

the change in deferred tax recognised in the income statement can be broken down as follows:
tax losses -13 68
property, plant and equipment etc. -12 -4

deferred tax recognised in the income statement -25 64
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NOTe 7    Staff coStS aNd remuNeratIoN of the SupervISory board,
the executIve board aNd other executIve employeeS

dkk million 2009 2008

Salaries and other remuneration 80 91
retirement benefit costs – defined contribution plans 7 6
Share-based payment 6 3
other employee benefits - 2

total 93 102

Staff costs are included in the following items in the income statement:
administrative expenses 20 17
other operating expenses 73 85

total 93 102

the company had an average of 134 (2008: 141) full-time employees  
during the year.

following the acquisition of part of the activities in S&N the salary to the 
group executive board increased as of may 2008. the salary and other re-
muneration have not increased during 2009 and will not increase during 2010.

remuneration of the group executive board and executive employees is 
based on a fixed salary and cash bonus payments of up to 60% of the fixed 
salary and non-monetary benefits such as company car, telephone etc. fur-
thermore, share option programmes and incentive schemes are established 
for the group executive board and executive employees. these programmes 
and schemes cover a number of years. the renumeration is specified in note 
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

the remuneration of the executive board comprises the total remuneration 
of members of the executive board, some of which is paid by other entities 
in the carlsberg group.

employment contracts for members of the group executive board contain 
terms and conditions that are considered common to executive board 
members in danish listed companies, including terms of notice and non-
competition clauses. 

executive employees comprise non-group executive board members who, 
directly or indirectly, have influence over and responsibility for planning, 
implementing and controlling the group’s activities.

the Supervisory board of carlsberg a/S received remuneration of dkk 6m 
(2008: dkk 6m) for duties performed in the company and some subsidia-
ries. the remuneration is a fixed annual amount. the Supervisory board is 
not included in share option programmes, retirement benefit plans and other 
schemes. No agreements have been entered into concerning termination 
benefits and no such payments were made.

2009 2008

dkk million
group 

executive board
executive 

employees
group 

executive board
executive 

employees

remuneration of group executive board  
and executive employees:
Salaries and other remuneration 30 4 27 6
Share-based payment 6 - 3 -

total 36 4 30 6

NOTe 6   earNINgS per Share

dkk million 2009 2008

profit for the year -86 1,055

1,000 shares

average number of shares 152,550 118,785
average number of treasury shares -7 -7

average number of shares outstanding 152,543 118,778
average dilutive effect of outstanding share options 34 -

diluted average number of shares outstanding 152,577 118,778

dkk

earnings per share of dkk 20 (epS) -0.6  8.9 
diluted earnings per share of dkk 20 (epS-d) -0.6  8.9 

In 2008 the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share was adjusted 
in accordance with IaS 33 earnings per Share. the Standard requires that if 
the number of ordinary shares outstanding increases as a result of a bonus 
element in a rights issue to existing shareholders, the per share calcula-

tion for the current and any prior periods presented shall be based on the 
new number of shares. the assumptions underlying the calculation of the 
adjustment of earnings per share are described in note 11 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

diluted earnings per share exclude from the calculation 145,298 share op-
tions (2008: 327,031) that do not have a dilutive effect since the sum of the 

exercise price and the fair value of the options at the grant date was higher 
than the average market price of the carlsberg b share for the year.
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NOTe 8   Share-baSed paymeNt

In 2009 a total of 64,100 (2008: 92,649) share options were granted to 4 (2008: 
4) key employees. the grant date fair value of these options was a total of dkk 
6m (2008: dkk 8m). the total cost of share-based payment was dkk 6m 
(2008: dkk 3m), which is recognised in the income statement under staff costs. 
refunds etc. between carlsberg a/S and its subsidiaries are recognised directly in 
equity.

to ensure that holders of share options receive the same nominal yield on 
a given increase in the share price after the capital increase in carlsberg a/S 
in 2008, an adjustment was made to the share option programmes which 
existed at the time of the rights issue. the assumptions underlying the calcu-
lation of the adjustment of share options are described in notes 13 and 11 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Number
exercise 

price fair value 

grant 
year

exercise 
year

1 jan.
2009

granted/ 
grant 

adjusted
expired/
forfeited exercised transferred

31 dec.
2009

for exercise 
31 dec. fixed

dkk per 
option

31 dec.
2009

31 dec.
2008

executive board:
2001 2004-2009 9,105 - -9,105 - - - 312.02 -
2002 2005-2010 9,105 - - - - 9,105 9,105 261.39 122.60 1 -
2003 2006-2011 13,008 - - - - 13,008 13,008 173.12 211.27 3 1
2004 2007-2012 13,008 - - - - 13,008 13,008 216.65 180.37 2 1
2005 2008-2013 12,388 - - - - 12,388 12,388 232.71 179.06 2 -
2006 2009-2014 12,388 - - - - 12,388 12,388 306.89 139.55 2 -
2007 2010-2015 24,776 - - - - 24,776 472.11 111.82 3 -
2008 2011-2016 89,552 - - - - 89,552 490.55 136.10 12 3
2009 2012-2017 60,000 - - - 60,000 203.50 237.37 14

total 183,330 60,000 -9,105 - - 234,225 59,897 39 5

key management personnel:
2001 2004-2009 1,332 - -1,332 - - - 312.02 -
2002 2005-2010 3,902 - - - -3,902 - - 261.39 122.60 - -
2003 2006-2011 5,853 - - - -5,853 - - 173.12 211.27 - -
2004 2007-2012 1,951 - - - -1,951 - - 216.65 180.37 - -
2005 2008-2013 2,271 - - - -2,271 - - 232.71 179.06 - -
2006 2009-2014 2,684 - - - -2,684 - - 306.89 139.55 - -
2007 2010-2015 3,097 - - - -1,239 1,858 472.11 111.82 - -
2008 2011-2016 3,097 - - - -1,239 1,858 490.55 136.10 - -
2009 2012-2017 4,100 - - -1,600 2,500 203.50 237.37 1

total 24,187 4,100 -1,332 - -20,739 6,216 - 1 -

retired employees:
2001 2004-2009 9,105 - -9,105 - - - 312.02 -
2002 2005-2010 9,105 - - - 3,902 13,007 13,007 261.39 122.60 2 -
2003 2006-2011 13,008 - - - 5,853 18,861 18,861 173.12 211.27 4 -
2004 2007-2012 20,162 - - - 1,951 22,113 22,113 216.65 180.37 4 1
2005 2008-2013 18,582 - - - 2,271 20,853 20,853 232.71 179.06 4 -
2006 2009-2014 24,776 - - - 2,684 27,460 27,460 306.89 139.55 4 1
2007 2010-2015 24,776 - - - 1,239 26,015 472.11 111.82 3 -
2008 2011-2016 - - - - 1,239 1,239 490.55 136.10 - -
2009 2012-2017 - - 1,600 1,600 203.50 237.37 -

total 119,514 - -9,105 - 20,739 131,148 102,294 21 2

total 327,031 64,100 -19,542 - - 371,589 162,191 61 7
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NOTe 8   Share-baSed paymeNt

2009 2008

group
executive 

board
executive 

employees resigned total

average 
exercise 

price

group
executive 

board
executive 

employees resigned total

average 
exercise 

price

Share options outstanding at 1 january 183,330 24,187 119,514 327,031 352.48 93,778 21,090 119,514 234,382 297.91
granted 60,000 4,100 - 64,100 203.50 89,552 3,097 - 92,649 490.55
expired/forfeited -9,105 -1,332 -9,105 -19,542 312.02 - - - - -
transferred - -20,739 20,739 - 256.83 - - - - -

Share options outstanding at 31 december 234,225 6,216 131,148 371,589 328.91 183,330 24,187 119,514 327,031 352.48

exercisable at 31 december 59,897 - 102,294 162,191 239.66 44,226 13,039 51,380 108,645 230.74

No share options were exercised in 2008 or 2009.

at 31 december 2009 the exercise price for outstanding share options was in 
the range dkk 173.12 to dkk 490.55 (2008: dkk 173.12 to dkk 490.55). the 
average remaining contractual life was 4.6 years (2008: 4.8 years).

the assumptions underlying the calculation of the fair value of share options 
are described in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

depreciation is included in administrative expenses.

NOTe 9   property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt

2009

dkk million
land and 
buildings

plant and 
machinery

fixtures 
and fittings, 
other plant 

and equipment 
construction 

in progress total

cost:
cost at 1 january 2009 852 106 4 899 1,861
additions 63 - - 393 456
disposals -26 -7 1 -119 -151
transfers 721 3 1 -725 -
transfer to/from assets held for sale -307 - - - -307

cost at 31 december 2009 1,303 102 6 448 1,859

depreciation and impairment losses:
depreciation and impairment losses at 1 january 2009 343 98 3 - 444
disposals -21 -8 - - -29
depreciation 8 6 1 - 15

depreciation and impairment losses at 31 december 2009 330 96 4 - 430

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 973 6 2 448 1,429

carrying amount of assets pledged as security for loans 969 - - 448 1,385
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NOTe 10   INveStmeNtS IN SubSIdIarIeS

NOTe 11   INveStmeNtS IN aSSocIateS aNd joINt veNtureS

2008

dkk million
land and 
buildings

plant and 
machinery

fixtures 
and fittings, 
other plant 

and equipment 
construction 

in progress total

cost:
cost at 1 january 2008 603 103 7 489 1,202
additions 355 - - 608 963
disposals -92 - -2 -195 -289
transfers - 3 - -3 -
transfer to/from assets held for sale -14 - - - -14

cost at 31 december 2008 852 106 5 899 1,862

depreciation and impairment losses:
depreciation and impairment losses at 1 january 2008 371 92 6 - 469
disposals -31 - -3 - -34
depreciation 7 6 - - 13
transfer to/from assets held for sale -4 - - - -4

depreciation and impairment losses at 31 december 2008 343 98 3 - 444

carrying amount at 31 december 2008 509 8 2 899 1,418

carrying amount of assets pledged as security for loans 506 - - 899 1,405

the carrying amount includes goodwill of dkk 11,207m (2008:  
dkk 11,207m) on acquisition of subsidiaries.

Share-based payment to employees in subsidiaries comprises exercised as 
well as outstanding share options.

the dividends received from associates and joint ventures exceed the original 
investments.

dkk million 2009 2008

cost:
cost at 1 january 45,630 21,514
additions 1 24,000
Share-based payment to employees in subsidiaries 11 116

cost at 31 december 45,642 45,630

carrying amount at 31 december 45,642 45,630

dkk million 2009 2008

cost:
cost at 1 january - -
additions - -
disposals - -

cost at 31 december - -

carrying amount at 31 december - -

 

NOTe 9   property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt – coNtINued
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NOTe 12   SecurItIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

unlisted shares 9 7

Shares in unlisted entities comprise a number of small holdings. these  
assets are not recognised at fair value as the fair value cannot be calculated 
on an objective basis. Instead the assets are recognised at cost.

No shares in unlisted entities were disposed of during 2009 or 2008.

% 2009 2008

average effective interest rates:
loans to subsidiaries 5.4 5.4

loans to subsidiaries have decreased compared to 2008 due to repayment 
of loans from carlsberg breweries a/S.

the fair value of receivables in all material respects corresponds to the  
carrying amount.

NOTe 13   receIvableS

NOTe 14   caSh aNd caSh equIvaleNtS

dkk million 2009 2008

receivables by origin:
loans to subsidiaries 1,864 6,588
receivables from subsidiaries 12 143
other receivables 100 99

total 1,976 6,830

dkk million 2009 2008

cash at bank and in hand 33 124

total 33 124

In the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts are offset against cash 
and cash equivalents as follows:
cash and cash equivalents 33 124
bank overdrafts -83 -181

cash and cash equivalents, net -50 -57
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class a shares class b shares total share capital

Shares of 
dkk 20

Nominal 
value, 

dkk ’000
Shares of 

dkk 20

Nominal 
value, 

dkk ’000
Shares of 

dkk 20

Nominal 
value, 

dkk ’000

1 january 2008 33,699,252 673,985 42,579,151 851,583 76,278,403 1,525,568
Share capital increase 76,278,403 1,525,568 76,278,403 1,525,568

31 december 2008 33,699,252 673,985 118,857,554 2,377,151 152,556,806 3,051,136

No change in 2009 - - - - - -

31 december 2009 33,699,252 673,985 118,857,554 2,377,151 152,556,806 3,051,136

NOTe 16   Share capItal

at 31 december 2009 the fair value of treasury shares amounted to dkk 1m 
(2008: dkk 1m).

the annual general meeting has authorised the Supervisory board to 
acquire treasury shares of a total nominal amount of 10% of the company’s 
share capital in the period up to the next annual general meeting.

In the financial year the company acquired class b treasury shares of a 
nominal amount of dkk 1m (2008: dkk 1m) at an average price of dkk 

382 (2008: dkk 500), corresponding to a purchase price of dkk 19m (2008: 
dkk 20m). class b treasury shares are primarily acquired to facilitate settle-
ment of share option schemes. the company holds no class a shares. 

In the financial year the company disposed of class b treasury shares at a 
total price of dkk 13m (2008: dkk 20m). the disposal was made in con-
nection with settlement of share options.

a shares carry ten votes per dkk 10 share. b shares carry one vote per dkk 
10 share. a preferential right to an 8% non-cumulative dividend is attached 
to b shares. apart from dividends, all shares rank equally.

In june 2008 carlsberg a/S carried out a capital increase by issuing 
76,278,403 new class b shares with a nominal value of dkk 20 at a price  
of dkk 400. the nominal share capital increase amounted to dkk 1,525,568 
thousand and the total proceeds from the share capital increase less costs 
incurred were dkk 29,938m.

treasury shares

Shares of 
dkk 20

Nominal 
value, dkkm

percentage of 
share capital

1 january 2008 32,762 - 0.0%
acquisition of treasury shares 37,283 1 0.0%
used to settle share options -66,769 -1 0.0%

31 december 2008 3,276 - 0.0%

1 january 2009 3,276 - 0.0%
acquisition of treasury shares 49,000 1 0.0%
used to settle share options -48,804 -1 0.0%

31 december 2009 3,472 - 0.0%

at 31 december 2009, assets held for sale primarily comprise an office build-
ing from the real estate development of the former tuborg site in hellerup, 
denmark. Sales agreements have been entered into in relation to the asset 
and sale will take place in 2010.

NOTe 15   aSSetS held for Sale aNd aSSocIated lIabIlItIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

assets held for sale comprise the following individual assets:
property, plant and equipment 308 10

total 308 10

liabilities associated with assets held for sale:
deferred tax - 1

total - 1
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NOTe 17   borrowINgS

dkk million 2009 2008

Non-current borrowings:
mortgages 742 735
bank borrowings - 1,649
other non-current borrowings 18 5

total 760 2,389

current borrowings:
current portion of other non-current borrowings - 2,499
bank borrowings 83 181
borrowings from subsidiaries 877 869

total 960 3,549

total non-current and current borrowings 1,720 5,938

fair value 1,722 5,888

time to maturity for non-current borrowings

2009

dkk million 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years > 5 years total

Issued bonds - - - 5 13 18
mortgages - - - - 742 742
bank borrowings - - - - - -

total - - - 5 755 760

2008

dkk million 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years > 5 years total

Issued bonds - - - - 5 5
mortgages - - - - 735 735
bank borrowings - 1,649 - - - 1,649

total - 1,649 - - 740 2,389

Interest rate risk on non-current borrowings at 31 december 2009

2009

dkk million Interest rate

average
effective 

interest rate fixed for
carrying 
amount

Interest
rate risk

mortgages:
floating-rate floating 1.95% 0-1 year 370 cash flow
fixed-rate fixed 4.95% 2-10 years 372 fair value

total mortgage 3.45% 742

other non-current borrowings include employee bonds of dkk 18m (2008: 
dkk 5m).
 

borrowings are measured at amortised cost with the exception of two fixed-
rate mortgages swapped to floating rates which are measured at fair value. 
the carrying amount of these borrowings is dkk 362m (2007: dkk 356m).

the floating-rate mortgages comprise three mortgages with a maturity 
time of more than five years. two loans (total dkk 370m) were originally 
at fixed rates but were swapped to floating rates. the loans are adjusted to 
fair value through the income statement. the total fair value adjustment of 
borrowings and swaps is dkk -8m and dkk 8m respectively (2008: dkk 
-7m and dkk 7m respectively).

a floating-rate mortgage of dkk 372m is swapped to a fixed rate. time to 
maturity is more than 5 years.
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NOTe 17   borrowINgS – coNtINued

the floating-rate mortgages comprise three mortgages with a time to 
maturity of more than five years. the loans were originally at fixed rates 
but were swapped to floating rates. the loans were adjusted to fair value 
through the income statement. the total fair value adjustment of borrow-
ings and swaps was dkk 0m (dkk 7m and dkk -7m respectively).  
 

a floating-rate mortgage of dkk 373m is swapped to a fixed rate. time to 
maturity is more than 5 years.

financial risk comprises the interest rate risk on non-current borrowings 
at fixed rates. this risk relates primarily to issued bonds of dkk 2,500m 

maturing in june 2009. of the total non-current borrowings of dkk 2,390m, 
dkk 377m are at fixed rates. there is no foreign exchange risk.

Interest rate risk on non-current borrowings at 31 december 2008

2008

dkk million
Interest 

rate 

average 
effective 

interest rate fixed for
carrying 
amount

Interest 
rate risk

Issued bonds:
dkk 2,500m maturing 4 june 2009 fixed 4.88% 1-2 years 2,499 fair value

total issued bonds 4.88% 2,499

mortgages:
floating-rate floating 4.06% 0-1 year 362 cash flow
fixed-rate fixed 4.95% 2-10 years 373 fair value

total mortgages 4.38% 735

2008

currency profile of borrowings before and after derivative 
financial instruments Next repricing (of principal before currency swaps)

dkk million
original 
principal

effect 
of swap

after 
swap 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014-

5,938 - 5,938 5,561 - - - - 377

2009

currency profile of borrowings before and after derivative 
financial instruments Next repricing (of principal before currency swaps)

dkk million
original 
principal

effect 
of swap

after 
swap 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-

1,720 - 1,720 1,330 - - - 5 385
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NOTe 18   retIremeNt beNefIt oblIgatIoNS aNd SImIlar oblIgatIoNS

NOTe 19   deferred tax aSSetS aNd deferred tax lIabIlItIeS

dkk million 2009 2008

changes in obligations:
total obligations at 1 january 27 29
Interest cost 1 1
actuarial losses 2 5
benefits paid -5 -8

total obligations at 31 december 25 27

assumptions applied:
discount rate 2.0% 2.0%
future retirement benefit increases 3.5% 3.5%

recognised in the income statement:
Interest cost on obligations 1 1

total recognised in the income statement 1 1

recognised in other comprehensive income:
recognised at 1 january -29 -24
actuarial gains/losses -2 -5

recognised at 31 december -31 -29

dkk million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

five-year overview:
unfunded obligations 25 27 29 28 24
experience adjustments to obligations - - -1 -1 -1

dkk million 2009 2008

deferred tax at 1 january, net 88 168
joint taxation contribution - -37
adjustments to previous years - 2
recognised in other comprehensive income 2 18
recognised in the income statement 27 -64

117 87
of which transferred to liabilities associated with assets held for sale -1 1

deferred tax at 31 december, net 116 88

Specified as follows:
deferred tax liabilities - -
deferred tax assets 116 88

deferred tax at 31 december, net 116 88

retirement benefit obligations and similar obligations comprise payments
to retired directors that are not covered by an insurance company.
the plan is unfunded.
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NOTe 19   deferred tax aSSetS aNd deferred tax lIabIlItIeS – coNtINued

NOTe 20   provISIoNS

NOTe 21  other lIabIlItIeS etc.

Specification of deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 december

deferred tax assets deferred tax liabilities

dkk million 2009 2008 2009 2008

property, plant and equipment 46 1 4 1
provisions and retirement benefit obligations 17 24 - 2
tax losses etc. 58 65 - -

total before set-off 121 90 4 3
Set-off -4 -3 -4 -3

total after set-off 117 87 - -
transferred to assets held for sale -1 1 - -

deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 december 116 88 - -

expected to be used as follows:
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period 39 65 - -
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 77 23 - -

total 116 88 - -

of the total deferred tax assets recognised, dkk 52m (2008: dkk 65m) relates 
to tax loss carryforwards, the utilisation of which depends on future positive 
taxable income exceeding the realised deferred tax liabilities.

provisions primarily comprise warranty provisions regarding real estate 
disposed of and provisions for ongoing disputes and lawsuits etc.   

dkk million 2009 2008

provisions at 1 january 38 35
additional provisions recognised 8 3
used during the year -11 -
reversal of unused provisions -1 -

provisions at 31 december 34 38

of provisions dkk 12m is falling due within one year and dkk 0m after  
more than five years from the end of the reporting period.

dkk million 2009 2008

other liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position as follows:
Non-current liabilities 175 175
current liabilities 444 149

total 619 324

other liabilities by origin:
Staff costs payable 17 14
Interest payable - 82
fair value of hedging instruments 31 25
deferred income 347 5
other 224 198

total 619 324
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NOTe 22   caSh flowS

NOTe 23   SpecIfIcatIoN of Net INtereSt-bearINg debt

dkk million 2009 2008

adjustment for other non-cash items:
gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net -48 -246
other non-cash adjustments 3 2

total -45 -244

change in working capital:
receivables 120 22
trade payables and other liabilities 298 -31
retirement benefit obligations and other provisions -12 -5

total 406 -14

Shareholders in carlsberg a/S:
Increase of share capital - 29,938
dividends to shareholders -534 -458
acquisition of treasury shares -19 -20
disposal of treasury shares 13 22

total -540 29,482

external financing:   
proceeds from issue of bonds 13 5
debt institutions, long-term -4,150 1,649
Intercompany loans, short-term 9 -1,661
other financing liabilities - 176

total -4,128 169

dkk million 2009 2008

Net interest-bearing debt is calculated as follows:
Non-current borrowings 760 2,389
current borrowings 960 3,549

gross interest-bearing debt 1,720 5,938

cash and cash equivalents -33 -124
loans to subsidiaries -1,864 -6,588

Net interest-bearing debt -177 -774

changes in net interest-bearing debt:
Net interest-bearing debt at 1 january -774 5,473

cash flow from operating activities -224 166
cash flow from investing activities -4,451 29,573
dividends to shareholders 534 458
acquisition/disposal of treasury shares 6 -2
change in interest-bearing lending 4,724 -6,497
proceeds from capital increase, net - -29,938
other 8 -7

total change 597 -6,247

Net interest-bearing debt at 31 december -177 -774
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NOTe 24   fINaNcIal INStrumeNtS

the fair value of financial instruments is calculated on the basis of observable 
market data using generally accepted methods. both external valuation re-
ports and internally calculated fair values based on discounting of cash flows 
are used. where internally calculated fair values are applied, these are tested 
against external market valuations on a quarterly basis. 

Fair value hedge
 
changes in the fair value of financial instruments used as fair value hedges 
are recognised in the income statement. In carlsberg a/S interest rate swaps 
are used to swap fixed-rate mortgages to floating rate. foreign exchange ad-
justments of both financial instruments and underlying loans are recognised in 
the income statement. this had no net effect on the profit.

Cash flow hedge
 
a negative fair value of an interest rate swap is recognised in other compre-
hensive income in accordance with the hedge accounting rules for cash flow 
hedges. the swap was entered into in december 2007 and hedges against the 
floating rate on a mortgage. the swap matures in 2017. 
 

dkk million 2009 2008

recognised in the income statement:   
Interest rate instruments 7 7

total 7 7

dkk million 2009 2008

recognised in other comprehensive income:   
Interest rate instruments -6 -26

total -6 -26

2009 2008

dkk million positive Negative positive Negative 

fair value of financial instruments:
cash flow hedge Interest rate - -31 - -25
fair value hedge Interest rate 8 - 1 -

total 8 -31 1 -25
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NOTe 25   related party dIScloSureS

related parties exercising control.   the carlsberg foundation, h.c. ander-
sens boulevard 35, 1553 copenhagen v, denmark, holds 30.3% of the shares 
and 72.9% of the voting power in carlsberg a/S, excluding treasury shares. 
the foundation participated in the capital increase in june 2008. apart from 
this and dividends and grants, cf. note 3, no transactions were carried out 
with the carlsberg foundation during the year. 
 
 
 

related parties exercising significant influence.   during the year, the group 
was not involved in any transactions with major shareholders, members of 
the Supervisory board, members of the executive board, other executive 
employees, or companies outside the carlsberg group in which these parties 
have interests. 

No losses on loans to or receivables from associates were recognised or 
provided for in either 2009 or 2008.

associates.  dividends of dkk 0m (2008: dkk 223m) were received
from associates.  

dkk million 2009 2008

the income statement and statement of financial position include the following
transactions with associates:
Interest income - 12
receivables 12 12
trade payables - 1

Subsidiaries.  dividends of dkk 0m (2008: dkk 800m) were received 
from subsidiaries.  

dkk million 2009 2008

the income statement and statement of financial position include the following
transactions with subsidiaries:
other operating income 45 48
other operating costs 16 14
Interest income 19 251
Interest expenses 118 51
loans 1,876 6,588
receivables - 99
capital increase - 24,000
trade payables 21 23
borrowings 878 869
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carlsberg a/S has issued guarantees for loans etc. of dkk 804m (2008: 
dkk 551m) raised by subsidiaries.

carlsberg a/S is jointly registered for danish vat and excise duties with 
carlsberg breweries a/S, carlsberg danmark a/S and various other minor 
danish subsidiaries, and is jointly and severally liable for payment of vat 
and excise duties.

carlsberg a/S is party to certain lawsuits, disputes etc. of various sizes. 
In management’s opinion, apart from as recognised in the statement of 
financial position or disclosed in the annual report, the outcome of these 
lawsuits, disputes etc. will not have a material negative effect on the 
company’s financial position.

carlsberg a/S has entered into an operating lease relating to transport 
equipment. the lease contains no special purchase rights etc. future lease 
payments are less than dkk 1m (2008: dkk 1m). operating lease payments 

recognised in the income statement in 2009 are dkk 1m (2008: less than 
dkk 1m).

capital commitments

dkk million 2009 2008

capital commitments which at the end of the reporting period are agreed 
to be made at a later date and therefore not recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements:  
property, plant and equipment and construction contracts 32 -

total 32 -

NOTe 26   coNtINgeNt lIabIlItIeS aNd other commItmeNtS
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NOTe 27   eveNtS after the reportINg perIod

NOTe 28   accouNtINg polIcIeS

the 2009 financial statements of carlsberg a/S have been prepared in ac-
cordance with International financial reporting Standards (IfrS) as adopted 
by the eu and additional danish disclosure requirements for annual reports, 
cf. the statutory order pursuant to the danish financial Statements act. 

In addition, the financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
the International financial reporting Standards (IfrS) issued by the IaSb.

the financial statements are presented in danish kroner (dkk million), 
which is the functional currency.

the accounting policies for the parent company are the same as for the 
carlsberg group, cf. note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, with 
the exception of the items below.

Income statement

dividends on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.    
dividends on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are 
recognised as income in the income statement of the parent company in the 
financial year in which the dividend is declared. 

financial income and financial expenses.   foreign exchange adjustments 
of balances with foreign entities which are considered part of the total net 
investment in the entity are recognised in the income statement of the  
parent company. 

tax on profit/loss for the year.   tax on profit/loss for the year comprises 
profit/loss from real estate partnerships (associates), as these are not 
individually taxed but included in taxable income of the partners. In addition, 
tax on profit/loss and deferred tax is calculated and recognised as described 
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

statement of financial position

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.   Investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are measured at the lower of cost 
or recoverable amount. 

Share-based payment to employees in subsidiaries.   the value of granted 
equity-settled share options to employees in the parent company’s 
subsidiaries is recognised in investments in subsidiaries as the services 
rendered in exchange for the options are received in the subsidiaries, with a 
set-off directly against equity. 

the difference between the purchase price and the sales price for the exer-
cise of equity-settled share options by employees in subsidiaries is settled 
between carlsberg a/S and the individual subsidiary, with a set-off directly 
against investments in subsidiaries.

the difference at the end of the reporting period between the fair value of 
the parent company’s equity instruments and the exercise price of outstand-
ing equity-settled share options is recognised as a receivable in carlsberg 
a/S, with a set-off directly against investments in subsidiaries.

equity-settled share options granted to the parent company’s own employ-
ees are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies 
used by the carlsberg group, cf. note 40 to the consolidated financial state-
ments for a description of accounting policies.

apart from the events recognised or disclosed in the financial statements, 
no events have occurred after the reporting period of importance to the 
financial statements.







The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board have today discussed and approved the Annual Report of the 
Carlsberg Group and the parent company for 2009.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted  
by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of listed companies.

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements and the parent company’s financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the Carlsberg Group’s and the parent company’s assets, liabilities and financial position at 31 December 
2009 and of the results of the Carlsberg Group’s and the parent company’s operations and cash flows for the financial 
year 2009.

Further, in our opinion the Management’s review includes a fair review of the development in the Carlsberg Group’s 
and the parent company’s operations and financial matters, the result for the year and of the Carlsberg Group and the 
parent company’s financial position as well as describes the significant risks and uncertainties affecting the Carlsberg 
Group and the parent company. 

We recommend that the Annual General Meeting approve the Annual Report.

Copenhagen, 23 February 2010

executive Board of carlsberg a/s

Jørn P. JensenJørgen Buhl Rasmussen

supervisory Board of carlsberg a/s
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Henrik Kronborg Iversen
State Authorised Public Accountant

The independent auditors’ report

Jesper Koefoed
State Authorised Public Accountant

to the shareholders of carlsberg a/s
We have audited the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements of Carlsberg A/S for 
the financial year 2009, pp. 58-151. The consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements 
comprise the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of chang-
es in equity, statement of cash flows and notes for the Carlsberg Group as well as for the parent company. The consolidat-
ed financial statements and the parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies.

In addition to our audit, we have read the Management’s review prepared in accordance with Danish disclosure  
requirements for listed companies and issued a statement in this regard.

Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the 
parent company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements 
and parent company financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances. Further, it is the responsibility of Management to prepare a Management’s review that gives a fair 
review in accordance with Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies.

auditors’ responsibility and basis of opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Danish Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent company financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and 
the parent company financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the audit-
ors consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the parent company financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the parent company financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Our audit did not result in any qualification.

opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the Carlsberg Group’s and the parent company’s financial position at 31 December 2009 and of the results of 
the Carlsberg Group’s and the parent company’s operations and cash flows for the financial year 2009 in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies.

statement on the Management’s review
Pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act, we have read the Management’s review. We have not performed any 
other procedures in addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 
statements. On this basis, it is our opinion that the information given in the Management’s review is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements.

Copenhagen, 23 February 2010

KpMg
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab
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Povl Krogsgaard-Larsen 

chairman   Professor, D.Pharm. Born 1941. Elected 1993, 2009. 
Chairman of the Executive Board of the Carlsberg Founda-
tion. Member of the Supervisory Boards of Auriga A/S and  
Bioneer A/S. 

Mr Krogsgaard-Larsen is affiliated to the Faculty of Pharma-
ceutical Sciences at the University of Copenhagen. With his 
background as a researcher and educator, he has particular 
expertise in the analysis of issues within the pharmaceutical 
sector and the presentation of plans and results. As former 
rector of what was then the Royal Danish School of Pharmacy, 
he also has experience of the management of large knowledge-
based organisations such as PharmaBiotec, NeuroScience 
PharmaBiotec and Drug Research Academy. He also has 
experience from directorships at other international companies.

Jess Søderberg

deputy chairman   Managing Director. Born 1944. Elected 
2008. Former CEO of the A.P. Møller - Mærsk Group (1993-
2007) and before that CFO in the same company from 1981. 
Member of the Supervisory Boards of The Chubb Corporation 
and member of Danske Bank’s Advisory Board. 

Mr Søderberg has acquired broad international experience 
of management and finance as a result of many years in the 
senior management of A.P. Møller - Mærsk.

Supervisory Board

Carlsberg’s Supervisory Board has 12 members; 
five members are attached to the Carlsberg  
Foundation, the Company’s principal shareholder, 
three members have an international business 
background and four members are elected by  
the employees.

The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board together constitute the Chairmanship.
Years given denote first and (when more than one) most recent election to the Board.
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Richard Burrows

Flemming Besenbacher

Born 1946. Elected 2009. Richard Burrows has spent most of 
his career in the drinks business. He was joint CEO of Pernod 
Ricard from 2000 to 2005. He is Chairman of British American 
Tobacco (from 2009) and is a non-executive director of Rentokil 
Initial plc. 

Mr Burrows has extensive experience of the branded consumer 
goods sector and wide international business experience 
gained through his career with Irish Distillers Group plc and, 
more recently, Pernod Ricard.

Professor, D.Sc. Born 1952. Elected 2005, 2008. Member of 
the Executive Board of the Carlsberg Foundation and of the 
Supervisory Boards of property companies affiliated to the 
Carlsberg Foundation. Mr Besenbacher is chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of the Carlsberg Laboratory, member of 
the Board of Med Tech Innovation Center and member of the 
Scientific Advisory Board for SCF Technologies A/S.

Mr Besenbacher is head of iNANO, the Interdisciplinary 
Nanoscience Center, Aarhus University, with expertise in 
physics, chemistry, molecular biology and biology. With this 
background he has experience of managing large knowledge-
based organisations and of the interaction between academic 
research and a number of hi-tech companies, as well as 
experience from a large number of international councils and 
committees.

Kees van der Graaf

Axel Michelsen

Born 1950. Elected 2009. Until May 2008, Mr van der Graaf 
held the position of President Europe on the Board of Unilever. 
He is now a member of the Supervisory Boards of the Dutch 
automobile club ANWB, Ben&Jerry’s, 3M Holdings Benelux, 
and Mylaps. Mr van der Graaf joined IMD, the Lausanne-
based Business School, as an Executive-in-Residence in 
the autumn of 2008 and is also a partner of Team Heiner 
Management Programmes.

Kees van der Graaf has acquired extensive international 
management experience through his many years in 
management positions in Unilever.

Professor, D.Phil. Born 1940. Elected 1986, 2008. Member of 
the Executive Board of the Carlsberg Foundation and of the 
Supervisory Board of the Carlsberg Laboratory (1986-2009). 

Mr Michelsen is affiliated to the Department of Biology at 
the University of Southern Denmark in Odense, where he has 
served as Head of Department and Head of the Centre for 
Sound Communication under the Danish National Research 
Foundation. With his background as a researcher, he has 
particular expertise in the analysis of complex issues, primarily 
within biophysics. He has also acquired a detailed insight into 
Carlsberg’s business during his many years on the Supervisory 
Board.
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E) Elected by employees.

Erik Dedenroth Olsen E)

Hanne Buch-Larsen E)

Per Øhrgaard

Head of Section, Carlsberg Danmark A/S. Born 1949.  
Elected 1998, 2006.

Head of Section, Carlsberg A/S. Born 1952. Elected 2006.

Professor, D.Phil. Born 1944. Elected 1993, 2008. Member 
of the Executive Board of the Carlsberg Foundation and the 
Supervisory Boards of property companies affiliated to the 
Carlsberg Foundation. 

Per Øhrgaard is affiliated to the Copenhagen Business School, 
where he specialises in German. Given his background as a 
researcher and lecturer, he has particular expertise in the 
analysis of complex issues and the presentation of plans and 
results. He also has experience from directorships at other 
companies.

Bent Ole Petersen E)

Hans S. Andersen E)

Niels Kærgård

Head of Section, Carlsberg Research Center. Born 1954. 
Elected 2002, 2006.

Brewery Worker, Carlsberg Danmark A/S. Born 1955.  
Elected 1998, 2006.

Professor, D.Econ. Born 1942. Elected 2003, 2009. Member 
of the Executive Board of the Carlsberg Foundation and 
Chairman of the Supervisory Boards of property companies 
affiliated to the Carlsberg Foundation. 

Niels Kærgård has particular expertise in economics and 
international affairs, and headed the Chairmanship of 
the Danish Economic Council from 1995 to 2001. With his 
background as a researcher and educator, he has particular 
expertise in the analysis of economic and organisational issues 
and the presentation of plans and results.
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